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an agency of the 
Department of Arts and Culture



Iziko is an isiXhosa word, meaning ‘hearth’, 

traditionally and symbolically the social  

centre of the home; a place associated with warmth, kinship 

and ancestral spirits. Here food is prepared and shared, 

stories are told and knowledge passed from one generation  

to the next. Similarly, the museums that make up Iziko are 

spaces for cultural interaction. We are proud to ignite 

connections between our shared history, our heritage,  

and each other. 
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Poet, Bulelwa Basse performs poetry during the Heritage Week 2012 public programme at the Iziko Slave Lodge.

1.  GENERAL 
  INFORMATION
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1.1  Strategic Overview 
1.1.1  Foundation 
Iziko Museums of South Africa (Iziko) is a public entity and non-profit organisation, 

subsidised by the national Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), bringing 

together 11 national museums of the Western Cape under a single governance and 

leadership structure. 

In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), five national 

museums in the Western Cape – the South African Cultural History Museum, South 

African Museum, South African National Gallery, the William Fehr Collection and the 

Michaelis Collection – were amalgamated as the Southern Flagship Institution (SFI). 

Iziko comprises of the following museums, each with its own history and character: 

South African Museum and Planetarium • South African National Gallery • 

Maritime Centre, including the museum ship, SAS Somerset • Slave Lodge Museum 

• William Fehr Collection • Michaelis Collection • Rust en Vreugd Museum • Bertram 

House Museum • Koopmans-de Wet House Museum • Groot Constantia Museum • 

Bo-Kaap Museum

In addition, the Social History Centre on Church Square provides a state-of-the-

art facility to accommodate our Social History collections and library. The Natural 

History Library is located at the South African Museum, and the Art Library in 

the Annexe adjacent to the South African National Gallery. Iziko has successfully 

operated a Mobile Museum outreach programme for more than a decade.

In July 2001, the SFI was officially renamed Iziko Museums of Cape Town and 

recently in September 2012, renamed Iziko Museums of South Africa. The name 

Iziko, an isiXhosa word, meaning ‘hearth’, is intended to embody the spirit of a 

transformed institution and our vision of ‘African Museums of Excellence’. 

The hearth is traditionally and symbolically the social centre of the home; 

a place associated with warmth, kinship and the spirits of ancestors. Iziko was thus 

envisaged as a space for all South Africans to gather, nourish body and soul, and 

share stories and knowledge passed from one generation to the next. Iziko seeks 

to celebrate our heritage whilst generating new cultural legacies in all spheres 

for future generations and a society that has moved beyond the shackles of the 

past. The three ‘flames’ in our hearth logo represent the three collections brought 

together in our museums: Social History (ochre); Art (red); and Natural History 

(green). These collections are made accessible to learners and the public through 

Education and Public Programmes.

1.  GENERAL 
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1.1.2 Vision
Iziko museums are African museums of excellence that empower and inspire all people to celebrate and respect our 

diverse heritage. 

1.1.3  Mission
To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination of South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and services for the 

benefit of present and future generations.

1.1.4 Values
Teamwork 

• Work together to achieve unity in pursuit of our common goals

Staff Development and Training

• Provide an environment for all to develop to our full potential through appropriate training for the benefit of both  

 the individual and the institution

Communication and Information Sharing

• Ongoing, open and honest communication and sharing of information

Mutual Trust, Respect and Fairness 

• Treat everyone fairly and uphold human dignity

Innovation and Creativity

• Create an environment that encourages innovation and creativity

Social Responsiveness

• Develop and maintain an awareness of expectations and needs of the communities we serve

Performance, Recognition and Reward

• Fair and equitable recognition and reward is applied, based on team and individual effort, contribution and  

 performance

Public-driven Service Excellence

• Empower and inspire our visitors through dedication to service excellence

Iziko values honesty and integrity and has a zero tolerance for dishonesty.

Members of the public enjoy free access and live entertainment presented 
at our museums during Heritage Day 2012, Iziko South African Museum.
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1.1.5 Strategic Outcome Orientated Goals 

STRATEgIC OUTCOME ORIENTED gOAL 1 Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience 
development

gOAL STATEMENT To increase access to the collections and programmes in the 
fields of art, natural history and social history through diverse 
and engaging offerings that inspire and inform.

STRATEgIC OUTCOME ORIENTED gOAL 2 Collections and research: Development and preservation of 
collections as a lasting national resource reflecting our African 
heritage

gOAL STATEMENT To manage the collections to the highest standards, to enable 
growth and research that generates new knowledge and insights 
about art, natural history and social history. 

STRATEgIC OUTCOME ORIENTED gOAL 3 Corporate advancement

gOAL STATEMENT To implement a comprehensive strategy to ensure continuous 
growth and sustainability.

STRATEgIC OUTCOME ORIENTED gOAL 4 Sound governance and effective and efficient corporate services

gOAL STATEMENT To strategically develop and improve corporate services to ensure 
an enabling environment to deliver on our heritage mandate.

1.2 Legislative and Other Mandates 
This report is submitted in compliance with the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 

1996); the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999); Treasury 

Regulations, 2001; Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), and other applicable Acts and Regulations. 

Constitutional Mandates
The following sections of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) are 

relevant to Iziko:

SECTION OF CONSTITUTION RESPONSIBILITy OF IzIkO

Section 31: Rights of persons belonging to a 
cultural, religious or linguistic community

Iziko must ensure that its programmes and projects respect the 
cultural diversity of South Africa. 

Legislative Mandates

NATIONAL LEgISLATION RESPONSIBILITy OF IzIkO

Cultural Institutions Act (Act No. 119 of 1998) Iziko is governed by a Council appointed by the Department of 
Arts and Culture with duties prescribed in this Act. 

Policy Mandates

POLICy RESPONSIBILITy OF IzIkO

National White Paper on Arts, Culture and 
Heritage, 1996

Iziko develops its policies based on the principles set out in the 
policy paper.



1.3 Organisational Structure 
1.3.1 Governance 
Iziko is governed by a Council, appointed for a three-

year term by the Minister of Arts and Culture. Members 

of the fourth Council of Iziko are: Adv. M. Brenda 

Madumise (Chairman), Dr Somadoda Fikeni (resigned 

before the end of term), Mr Ayanda P. Wakaba, Prof. 

Mpilenhle P. Sithole, Prof. Ciraj Rassool, Ms Marilyn 

Martin, Mr Omar Badsha, Ms Rooksana Omar (Ex 

Officio). In November 2012, Adv. M. Brenda Madumise 

(Chairman), resigned from this Council and Prof. Ciraj 

Rassool assumed the role of Chair.

The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural 

Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), are to: 

• formulate policy; 

• hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and   

 immovable property of whatever kind, placed in   

 the care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared   

 institution concerned; 

• receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens,   

 collections or other movable property placed under its 

 care and management under section 10(1) [of the Act]; 

• raise funds for the institution; manage and control   

 the moneys received by the declared institution   

 and to utilise those moneys for defraying expenses in  

 connection with the performance of its functions; 

• keep a proper record of the property of the declared  

 institution; submit to the Director-General any returns  

 required by him or her in regard thereto, and to cause  

 proper books of account to be kept; 

• determine, subject to this Act and with the approval  

 of the Minister, the objects of the declared    

 institution; and, 

• generally, carry out the objects of the declared   

 institution. 

In addition, the Council: 

• appoints, in consultation with the Minister, the Chief  

 Executive Officer (CEO); and, 

• may determine the hours during which, and the   

 conditions and restrictions subject to which, the   

 public may visit the declared institution concerned, or  

 portion thereof, and the admission charges to be paid.

1.3.2 Management
1.3.2.1 Executive Management Committee 

The Executive Management Committee (Exco) consists 

of the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive Director 

Core Functions, and the Executive Director Operations, 

with the Chief Financial Officer and the Director of 

Institutional Advancement in the Office of the CEO 

playing supporting roles. 

CLOCkWISE, LEFT TO RIgHT: Rooksana Omar, Chief Executive Officer; Denise Crous, 
Executive Director Operations; Faeza Allie, Chief Financial Officer; Susan Glanville-Zini, 
Director Institutional Advancement; Bongani Ndhlovu, Executive Director Core Functions.

LEFT TO RIgHT: Council Chairman, Prof. Ciraj Rassool; 
Minister Paul Mashatile MP; Ms Rooksana Omar, and Deputy 
Minister DAC, Dr Joseph Phaahla, Castle of Good Hope.
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1.3.2.2 Senior Management Team 

Iziko has three business units, namely Core Functions, 

Operations, and the Office of the CEO, comprising the 

departments of Institutional Advancement (IA) and 

Finance & Administration. 

The Core Functions unit includes the departments of 

Natural History Collections, Social History Collections, 

Art Collections, and Education & Public Programmes. 

The Operations unit includes the departments of 

Customer Services Management and Human Resources, 

as well as the Programmes Management function. 

The heads of these departments – along with the 

Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Institutional 

Advancement and the members of the Executive 

Management Committee – constitute the Senior 

Management Team of Iziko, under the leadership 

of the CEO.

CLOCkWISE, LEFT TO RIgHT: Riason Naidoo, Director Art Collections; Michelle van der Merwe, Director Customer Services Management; 
Julian-Paul Matthews, Director Human Resources; Dr Hamish Robertson, Director Natural History Collections; Dr Wayne Alexander, Director 
Education & Public Programmes; Lalou Meltzer, Director Social History Collections.

Chief Executive Officer
R Omar

Director Art
Collections
R Naidoo

Director Natural
History Collections

H Robertson

Director Human 
Resources

J-P Matthews

LEFT TO RIgHT: Council Chairman, Prof. Ciraj Rassool; 
Minister Paul Mashatile MP; Ms Rooksana Omar, and Deputy 
Minister DAC, Dr Joseph Phaahla, Castle of Good Hope.

 Executive Director 
Core Functions

B Ndhlovu

Executive Director 
Operations

D Crous

 Chief Financial 
Officer
F Allie

Director Education &
Public Programmes

W Alexander

Director Social
History Collections

L Meltzer

Director Customer 
Services Management

M Van der Merwe

 Director Institutional 
Advancement 
S Glanville-Zini



1.4 Foreword by the Chairman

This submission marks 

the end of the three-

year term of the current 

Council, which was 

constituted in mid-2010. 

It not only celebrates 

Iziko’s key achievements 

in the past year, but also 

a number of significant 

milestones in our 

Southern Flagship’s 

ongoing journey from 

amalgamation to 

transformation. 

The merger of previously separate heritage institutions 

via the Cultural Institutions Act in 1998 was intended to 

be a catalyst to drive change; undo entrenched, divisive 

and discriminatory policies; and bring together these 

museums and diverse collections of art, social and 

natural history (comprising about 2,26 million items) 

to form a powerful flagship able to serve the South 

African nation and our new democracy. Integrating this 

cluster of museums has been a challenging, complex 

and lengthy process. In the past decade, the Council, 

management and staff (past and present) have worked 

passionately at transforming mindsets and practices 

entrenched in previously separate institutional histories 

and collections.

During Heritage Month in 2012, Iziko Museums was 

renamed as Iziko Museums of South Africa by the 

Minister of Arts and Culture, Paul Mashatile, MP. This 

announcement, made at a time when we celebrate 

the value of our diverse heritage and the vital role of 

culture, creativity and innovation, marks a turning point 

that affirms Iziko’s national standing and importance. 

This renaming acknowledges and reinforces the fact 

that our museums – like the anthem, the flag, national 

icons and insignia – are an integral part of who South 

Africans are as a nation. It clearly charts the way 

forward and defines the role our museums must play in 

the shaping of our democracy.

Museums in South Africa (and the world) are undergoing 

rapid change, having to assess their role, functions, 

mission and vision on a national level and in a 

globalised world. Our history of colonialism, apartheid 

and democracy demands new ways of thinking about 

heritage and culture and repositioning the institutions 

within the sector. Iziko is proactively adapting to the 

demands of the 21st century and the developmental 

context in which we operate. The changes implemented 

during the term of the current Council have, however, not 

been in name alone, although the renaming has indeed 

provided the platform for a significant epistemological 

shift. Key strategic initiatives of Council, inspired by this 

paradigm shift and critical to the ongoing transformation 

process, are now nearing completion, and will provide 

essential foundations to support the evolution of Iziko 

for a new Council to build on.

The first and most significant initiative is the development 

of a coherent and detailed thematic plan and framework 

for the redevelopment of our various museums. While 

there have been substantial and exciting changes to 

our offering since political transformation began in 

the 1990s, much of the work of re-conceptualising 

our permanent exhibitions must still be undertaken. 

This plan will inform both permanent and temporary 

exhibition programmes, research and planning, as 

well as fundraising over the next decade. This is a 

project that will ensure Iziko will meet the demands 

and interests of our changing society and world, and is 

critical to Iziko’s long-term institutional success.

The second initiative is indicative of Iziko’s commitment 

to the redress of our past, not only through looking 

at the inequities within our collections and the way 

that they are presented, but also by addressing 

glaring contradictions in modes and paradigms of 

collecting that are made even more offensive in light 

of our new Constitution. The most glaring example of 

this is the inclusion of human remains of indigenous 

South Africans in our collections, many of whom were 

unethically collected. This challenge is not unique to 

Iziko and extends to collections not only nationally, but 

globally. Iziko has, however, taken the lead in recent 

years in proactively seeking ways to return not only the 

Professor Ciraj Rassool 
Chairman of Council
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physical remains of people collected over the last 120 

years, but also to restore their humanity as well as the 

dignity of their descendants. The reburial of Mr and Mrs 

Klaas and Trooi Pienaar at Kuruman, Northern Cape 

Province on 12 August 2012 was a key achievement 

in this ongoing process. At the reburial ceremony, 

President Jacob Zuma made the following statement: 

“Our museums must be transformed to become centres 

of heritage and expertise which respect all peoples 

and cultures. No museum must have a collection or 

material that depicts any section of the South African 

population as colonial objects, more so the indigenous 

people (...) It is encouraging that Iziko Museums in Cape 

Town, one of South Africa’s national flagship museums, 

has already investigated the ethics of its collection.“

The third strategic initiative has been the decision to 

revise Iziko’s structure. The purpose of restructuring is 

to integrate previously separate and even segregated 

collection-based departments into an organisation that 

is driven more purposefully and programmatically, and 

not worn down by genre-based ‘silos’ tainted by colonial 

collecting histories. The new structure will unlock the 

strength that lies in the variety of our museum sites and 

the vitality of our collections that have the potential 

to weave a new and uniquely South African narrative 

that embraces our interconnectedness and that of our 

collections. 

Lastly, this Council initiated a financial review (GAP 

analysis) which proactively identified long-standing and 

ongoing challenges to sustainability. This was necessary 

in light of a situation whereby personnel costs alone 

constituted 92,6% of the Department of Arts and 

Culture (DAC) subsidy allocation this year, while the 

budget for programmes central to our mandate became 

increasingly limited. The fact that there has been no 

review of the subsidies of flagship institutions since 2002 

is an increasingly serious threat to the sustainability of 

this organisation and realisation of its potential going 

forward. The increase in the annual rate of inflation has 

failed to take into account: the inclusion of additional 

infrastructure such as the Social History Centre on 

Church Square; the resources required to ensure ongoing 

compliance with the essential but increasingly strenuous 

and costly auditing and reporting requirements of 

government (most significantly  GRAP 103); nor the real 

cost of reinventing these museums and collections to 

meet the intentions of amalgamation and provide our 

public – now and in the future – with appropriate cultural 

amenities. Although Iziko currently out-performs many 

other heritage institutions in generating its own income, 

which averages around a quarter of the annual budget, 

this is certainly not sufficient for our programmes. 

A ’turn around‘ strategy is thus being further developed, 

to advise DAC and other government departments 

about the significance of the national heritage tasks of 

LEFT TO RIGHT: Mr Ayanda Wakaba, Ms Marilyn Martin, Ms Rooksana Omar (Ex Officio), 
Prof. Mpilenhle Pearl Sithole, Mr Omar Badsha and Prof. Ciraj Rassool (Chairman).



Iziko, and ensure the development and implementation 

of a new business model with arguments for the diverse 

revenue streams necessary for Iziko’s sustainability 

and growth. 

The achievements of the last year have been significant. 

However, they must be understood against the backdrop 

of considerable challenges as a result of limited financial 

resources to effectively staff this large institution and 

to implement core functions of research, education 

and conservation of collections; and to meet multiple 

expectations of government and our public. Presenting 

and proclaiming our institution as ‘Iziko Museums 

of South Africa’ should counteract any undeserved 

perceptions of a Cape Town or Western Cape bias. This 

will also ensure that we are recognised as an esteemed 

national museum of South Africa that has set new 

benchmarks for heritage institutions in the country and 

on the continent, and thus assist in attracting the support 

and funding our current performance levels merit.

Iziko strives to support government’s social cohesion 

implementation framework and new national growth 

path. We are proud to be part of the conversation 

and dialogue between our stakeholders, partners 

and funders in creating the numerous initiatives 

that showcase the stories of South African people, 

some never told before, and others very difficult

and traumatic to narrate. We acknowledge our 

partnerships and collaborations that collectively have 

enabled this organisation to achieve its mandate. Our 

accomplishments are not ours alone. Moreover, the 

dedication and professionalism of Iziko’s CEO, Senior 

Management and staff, and their indomitable spirit and 

determination to sustain delivery against tough odds, 

is to be commended. 

I would like to express my thanks to the members 

of Council, most specifically the previous Chairman, 

Advocate Brenda Madumise, and the Deputy Chair,  

Dr Somadoda Fikeni for their diligence in executing 

their duties, and for their commitment, professionalism 

and expertise. This Council has played a vital role in 

setting a bold strategic direction during the past three 

years, which, I believe, will secure the ongoing delivery 

and development of this prestigious institution. 

Finally, our gratitude must go to the Ministry and 

Department of Arts and Culture for their ongoing 

support for, and investment in, the development and 

reconfiguration of the cultural and heritage sector.

Professor Ciraj Rassool 

Chairman of Council 

LEFT TO RIGHT: Mr Zwelibanzi Ndlovu, Chief Director Stakeholder Manager; 
Mduduzi Mbada, Special Advisor to the Minister; Minister Paul Mashatile MP; 
Ms Rooksana Omar; and Mr Riason Naidoo, Iziko South African National Gallery.

The reburial ceremony of Klaas and Trooi Pienaar in Kuruman in the Northern Cape 
on 11 August 2012. Presided over by President Jacob Zuma. Photograph courtesy of 
Government Communication & Information System.
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1.5 Chief Executive Officer’s Overview 

It is an honour to 

present the 2012/13 

annual report for Iziko 

Museums of South 

Africa. Our Southern 

Flagship Museum is one 

of the nation’s largest 

organisations dedicated 

to the production, 

dissemination and 

diffusion of knowledge, 

to all South Africans 

regardless of their age, 

demographic profile, 

social status or political affiliation. We therefore take 

pride in having played a meaningful role in creating an 

empowered and inclusive citizenship. Our achievements 

in the past year clearly show that Iziko is a critical 

component of empowerment, development and 

democracy in South Africa.

The vision of the International Council of Museums 

(ICOM) is a world where the significance of natural and 

cultural heritage is universally valued. 

“Today more than ever, museums are at the heart of 

cultural, social and economic issues in contemporary 

societies. We must face unique challenges related to our 

social, political and ecological environment. Museums 

play a key role in development through education and 

democratisation, while also serving as witnesses of the 

past and guardians of humanity’s treasures for future 

generations.” (ICOM vision statement, http://icom.

museum/the-vision/)

Our new name, Iziko Museums of South Africa, presents 

an opportunity for the “re-imagining” of a South 

African museum institution that embraces everyone in 

our commonality and diversity, in which all people can 

see themselves. 

As a national museum, our mandate is: to conserve, 

preserve and interpret the cultural, natural and artistic 

heritage that is part of the national estate; to make our 

knowledge and collections accessible; and to showcase 

our tangible and intangible heritage for all South 

Africans and future generations. The preservation 

of our cultural heritage is a dynamic activity. Our 

museums are not static, monolithic entities seated 

on the periphery of society. Our programmes and 

activities, as reflected in this Annual Report, testify to 

how we are proactively connecting with our visitors 

through all available channels and platforms. Iziko is a 

pioneer within the heritage sector, and over the past 

decade we have developed a reputation, through our 

groundbreaking programmes, as a leading heritage 

institution on the continent. 

As ‘African Museums of Excellence’, we have 

distinguished ourselves by embracing innovative and 

sometimes radical approaches to museum work, as well 

as new directions in public engagement and education. 

Our museums engender national pride and give us a 

sense of identity and belonging, but they should also 

make us reflect and develop the capacities of social 

criticism and cultural analysis. It is this that makes a 

national museum also a space of critical citizenship. 

These are the legacies that must be preserved for 

future generations.

Under the leadership of our Council, the Iziko Strategic 

Plan 2012/13–2016/17 and the Annual Performance 

Plan have been further refined and provide a road 

map for transformation, excellence, sustainability and 

governance. 

The strategy is articulated across four areas: 

• Enhancing the museum experience: Access and   

 audience development; 

• Collections and Research; 

• Corporate Advancement; and 

 Governance.

Ms Rooksana Omar, CEO of 
Iziko Museums of South Africa



Iziko Strategic Programme One: 
Enhancing the museum experience: 
Access and audience development

Development and execution of a thematic

 plan for permanent and temporary exhibitions 

at 11 Iziko museums responding to the needs 

of our diverse collections.

The Iziko museums have a central role to play in 

making connections between people. Our collections 

hold heritage assets of the South African nation 

that both record our rich history and tell our stories. 

We aim, through the display of our permanent 

collection and temporary exhibition programme, to 

create spaces to reflect, appreciate and learn from 

the challenges and achievements of the past and 

from each other. Embracing our interconnectedness 

and that of our collections mediates and permeates 

every aspect of what we do. Iziko works proactively 

with communities, our partners (local, national, 

continental and international) and colleagues towards 

enriching the understanding of our African heritage by 

connecting and creating dialogue on science, natural 

and social history, art and education to bring a deeper 

and richer understanding of our South “Africaness” 

and “humanness”. By doing so, we are proud to 

have proactively contributed to outcome 12B of the 

National Growth Plan: an empowered, fair and inclusive 

citizenship as required of us as a national flagship.

In 2012/2013, Iziko hosted a total of 23 special 

exhibitions that reflected on the diverse history of our 

country and also gave voice to intertwined art, social 

and natural history narratives. In this regard, Iziko was 

particularly proud to work in close collaboration with 

the French Consulate to host exhibitions linked to the 

France-South Africa Seasons 2012–2013, an outcome 

of a bilateral agreement between the two countries. 

These include Rendez-Vous 12, a contemporary art 

exhibition by 20 young artists from 10 different 

countries showcasing new forms of practice that create 

a dialogue across geographical, cultural and theoretical 

boundaries, hosted by the Iziko South African National 

Gallery; and The King’s Map: François Le Vaillant in 

Southern Africa: 1781–1784, a groundbreaking exhibition 

held at the Iziko South African Museum.

The King’s Map installation was based on research 

conducted by Ian Glenn, Professor of Media Studies and 

Director of the Centre for Film and Media Studies at the 

University of Cape Town, over more than 20 years, and 

a team of Iziko’s highly experienced and knowledgeable 

curators and educators. This exhibition uses a large 

(2,3 x 2,8 metre) map of southern Africa commissioned 

by Louis XVI in 1790 as a centre-piece for an 

interdisciplinary exhibition of art, natural and social 

history, exposing this map to the public for the first 

time in 222 years. Le Vaillant’s story is linked to one 

of Iziko’s sites, Rust en Vreugd, where he was hosted 

as guest of Fiscal Willem Cornelis Boers for a number 

of years whilst embarked on his many expeditions into 

southern Africa. A remarkable traveller, ornithologist 

and free thinker, he emerges as an unusual figure who 

embodies the spirit of democracy, and whose views 

stand in stark contrast to those of the colonialists. 

These two exhibitions were made possible via the 

collaboration of wide ranging and diverse internal and 

external stakeholders. It engendered, in all aspects, 

the spirit of collaboration and intergenerational, 

interdisciplinary practice that links histories, art and 

nature, and encompassing past, present and future vistas 

that Iziko Museums of South Africa seeks to embrace.

Other 2012/13 highlights included: 

• Oliver Reginald Tambo: The modest revolutionary   

 at the Iziko Slave Lodge. This exhibition about the   

 African National Congress leader, freedom fighter   

 and politician, Oliver Tambo, depicts Tambo’s career  

 and the key role he played while in exile, mobilising   

 opposition to apartheid on the international stage for  

 more than three decades.

• The isishweshwe story: material women? This   

 exhibition showcases a collection of isishweshwe   

 items collected by Dr Juliette Leeb-du Toit over   

 many years, generously donated to Iziko in 2012.   

 The exhibition traces the origins of isishweshwe cloth  

 from its roots as a trade item in Asia and Europe, to   
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 its establishment as a much-loved southern African   

 material icon. Through the medium of this installation,  

 Iziko reveals the interconnections and exchange of   

 traditions between various social groups. 

• Candice Breitz: Extra!, presented at the Iziko South   

 African National Gallery (ISANG), provided a playful   

 and challenging overview of work by this local artist  

 who has achieved international renown, reflecting   

 on various aspects of the structure of identity and   

 psychological identification.

• MTN New Contemporaries Award 2012 – a biennale   

 art competition to promote the work of young South  

 African artists, presented by the MTN Foundation, in  

 partnership with Iziko, in the evocative B Block area   

 of the Castle of Good Hope. This exhibition, curated   

 by Portia Malatjie, was unique in that all nominees   

 were collectives, as opposed to individual practitioners,  

 and a perfect example of Iziko’s commitment to work  

 with like-minded partners in recognising and giving   

 young South Africans a space to express and   

 showcase their skills and talents.

• The annual world-class photographic exhibition   

 Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2012, presented   

 in partnership with NHU Africa and Natural History   

 Museum UK, offered an extraordinary insight into the  

 beauty, drama and diversity of the natural world.

Iziko’s expertise in curatorship and exhibition design 

was recognised this year, when the South African 

ceramics exhibition Fired: An exhibition of South 

African ceramics, a new permanent exhibition in the 

Granary at the Castle of Good Hope won the Best New 

Museum Project 2012–2013 award from the Western 

Cape Provincial Government in February 2013. Fired 

tells the story of the development of ceramics in our 

country and includes some of the oldest pieces held 

in Iziko’s Social History collections, namely one of the 

iconic Lydenburg heads, and a selection of indigenous 

Khoekhoen pots. These were drawn from our recently 

united and integrated collections base, in earlier years 

divided between the South African Museum and the 

former South African Cultural History Museum.

In keeping with the imperative to transform our 

institutions, Iziko has taken up the challenge of 

rethinking the thematic framework and developing a 

plan for the development of all our museums, with the 

overt aim of informing both permanent and temporary 

exhibitions going forward. Once complete, this blueprint 

will provide impetus and focus over the next decade 

and ensure that our vision of transformed, relevant, 21st 

century, African museums is realised.

Enriching and enabling education 

and public programmes 

Our extensive education programmes primarily 

target youth, and include effective outreach using 

our Mobile Museum. They are specifically geared to 

creating awareness of the role of museums in society, 

improving general knowledge, and nurturing an 

appreciation of our heritage.

In 2012/2013, our schools programme benefited more 

than 57,211 learners from diverse backgrounds, and the 

Iziko Mobile Museum travelled to various schools, malls 

and communities, reaching and sharing stories with 

23,898 people across South Africa. The Planetarium 

shared the wonderful world of astronomy with 41,150 

visitors and 36,681 learners. In keeping with our 

special needs initiatives, we conducted sessions in 

collaboration with the Meaningful Access Project, 

and 637 persons with special needs participated.    

Iziko hosted public programmes that were both fun and 

educational on many of the key commemorative days, 

attracting more than 28,860 participants. Celebrating 

and commemorating our heritage and history is one 

way of building collective memory and consciousness. 

Some of the activities included Human Rights Day, 

Youth Day, Mandela Day, Marine Week, and Slave 

Emancipation Day, which involved intergenerational 

dialogues. International Museum Day focused on the 

theme ‘Museums in a Changing World’, while Mandela 

Day was marked with a book drive in conjunction with 

the Blikkiesdorp, Delft community using the Mobile 

Museum. Our programmes involved many partners.

Iziko celebrates the entire month of September as 

Heritage Month every year, exploring a thought-

provoking programme of exhibitions and discussions 



linked to the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) 

theme, which this year was ‘Celebrating Heroes and 

Heroines of the Liberation Struggle in South Africa’. 

More than 17,288 visitors, young and old were attracted 

to our museums during this year’s programme between 

23–29 September 2012.

The annual Iziko Summer School 2013 invited a 

diverse audience of 526 attendees to be “inspired, 

connected and engaged”, in a multi-faceted programme 

comprising of a series of talks, workshops and 

excursions. The topics, aimed at all interest groups, 

spanned art, science and history, with a special focus 

on the centennial of the 1913 Natives Land Act. 

As part of our educational and skills development 

programme, exhibitions were displayed in the Annexe, 

while teacher enrichment sessions were presented and 

resources developed to enhance classroom practice.  

Iziko Strategic Programme Two: Collections 
and Research: Development and preservation 
of collections as lasting national resources 
reflecting our African heritage.

Collection management and conservation

The preservation of Iziko’s extensive collections is a 

crucial and ongoing operational requirement to ensure 

our collections are maintained, and to avoid damage 

or loss of irreplaceable artefacts and artworks. In 

addition, increased access to collections not on display 

is essential to creating a ’living’ museum. Iziko faces 

many challenges to adequately conserve and store our 

vast collections and facilitate access. However, with the 

assistance of the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) 

we continue to make progress towards addressing 

these. Improved facilities via capital works projects 

such as the renovation of the Social History Centre 

which opened in 2011, and the implementation of the 

‘Courtyard‘ construction project at the Iziko South 

African Museum, will ultimately radically improve 

both storage and access to our social and natural 

history collections.

Manage and grow collections in line with 

strategic priorities and address unethical 

collection practices

Iziko’s collections must grow to reflect diversity, 

address imbalances in the presentation of South 

African history, and present untold stories. This 

not only secures a meaningful legacy for future 

generations, but also ensures that the nation retains 

key heritage assets which may otherwise be acquired 

by private collectors, corporates and international 

institutions.

Demolition in the Iziko South 
African Museum courtyard at the 
start of the Courtyard Project.

LEFT TO RIGHT: Mr Bongani Ndhlovu, Minister of Rural Development and Land 
Reform, Mr Gugile Nkwinti MP, and Dr Wayne Alexander at the Centennial of the 
Land Act of 1913 public discussion, Iziko Summer School 2013.
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Iziko thus strives to grow collections that can reflect a 

fully representative national history, working creatively 

with limited acquisition resources, specifically to 

acquire collections that broadly reflect the rich 

heritage of those who were deliberately marginalised 

by colonialism and apartheid.  

Iziko has conducted a careful analysis of our collections 

and has a policy and strategy for acquisitions, but 

currently cannot implement this due to dwindling 

acquisition budgets. If we are to contribute 

meaningfully to nation building and social cohesion in 

the future, national museums must be empowered to 

proactively collect these works and play a defining role 

in the memorialisation of South Africa’s heritage. In so 

doing, we will continue to ensure increased acquisition 

funding from both public and private sector, and to 

attract presentations and donations.

During the past year, we have been fortunate to receive 

a number of notable presentations that will enhance 

and add to our collections and other acquisitions made 

over the 2012/13 period. These included the donation 

of a substantial collection of mainly mounted mammal 

specimens from Mr Peter Hamilton Flack, collected by 

him over a period of about 30 years; a large research 

collection of shark specimens donated by Dr Leonard 

Compagno; a unique collection of isishweshwe cloth and 

items made from this material, donated by Dr Juliette 

Leeb-du Toit; and five artworks – one by Andrew Putter, 

(Native Lives, 2010) and four by Nandipha Mntambo 

(Green Hump, 2012), (Red Hump, 2012), (Study I & II, 

2012) donated by Mark Coetzee. Refer to appendix 6.6. 

for a full list of acquisitions and presentations.

Repatriation and reburial of unethically collected 

human remains in line with museum policies

Appropriate management of collections requires 

careful consideration of ethical questions, and ongoing 

interrogation and evolution of museums practises. 

Iziko has South Africa’s largest collection of human 

remains (approximately 1,400 persons), many of whom 

were taken illegally and unethically from their graves 

for ’scientific‘ research. This history is a source of 

imperial and colonial shame. The reburial of Klaas and 

Trooi Pienaar – who were repatriated from Austria – 

is yet another step in a long process of righting the 

wrongs of the past; following in the footsteps of the 

reburial of Sarah Baartmann in 2002, and people from 

Mapungubwe in 2008.

Learning from this painful past, museums like Iziko 

are innovatively seeking ways to return not only the 

physical remains of people illegally collected in the 

last century, but also to restore the humanity of these 

people and the dignity of their descendants.

Some of the Iziko Natural History Collections team 
who oversaw the unpacking of the Flack Collection 
at the Iziko South African Museum.

Visitors to the The isishweshwe story: material women? 
exhibition, at the Iziko Slave Lodge.



Iziko is the first South African museum to have a 

formal policy on the dignified care and return of human 

remains. This policy governs, among other things, 

the acquisition, documentation, storage, research 

and return of human remains in its collection. Iziko 

Council Member, Professor Ciraj Rassool, and Iziko 

staff, including the CEO, the Director of Social History 

Collections, and the Curator of Archaeology, Dr Sven 

Ouzman, have been advising the Department of Arts 

and Culture (DAC) on the process of repatriation of 

human remains in the absence of a national policy. Iziko 

will be one of the stakeholders involved in assisting 

DAC to draft this important policy.

Digitisation of collections

The world is changing faster, now more than ever. In a 

digital era, we live in an increasingly global society as 

global citizens. New technologies of the 21st century 

world generate new ideas, behaviour and cultural 

forms, changing the way we communicate, understand 

and identify. Museums are fundamentally affected 

by the pace and intensity with which technology is 

developing, and South African museums must reflect 

upon and adapt our methods of working to find ways 

of integrating technology effectively, informed not 

only by international museums best practice, but 

also the realities and needs of our own local context. 

The digitisation of our collections through both 

documentation of the collections using state-of-the-art 

digital photographic media, and scanning and digitally 

archiving metadata, is thus an ongoing and challenging 

process to which Iziko has committed itself. Our 

outputs reflect our steady progress in this regard.

Iziko also increasingly makes use of digital and 

online media to ensure the impact of our collections 

extend beyond the local, to national and international 

audiences. Significantly, in late 2012, the second phase 

of the development of the Iziko website as a knowledge 

resource was launched and a service provider 

appointed via the required tender process to run this 

major three-year project.

Improve research capacity, 
productivity and relevance in Iziko 

Research is an essential aspect of our practice, and 

provides the foundation for all our work. In this 

regard, our partnership with the National Research 

Foundation (NRF) and other organisations such as the 

South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI); 

Palaeontological Scientific Trust (PAST); National 

Heritage Council (NHC), and Department of Agriculture, 

Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) enables Iziko to continue 

to be one of the leading research institutions that 

actively generates new knowledge on natural and 

cultural heritage. 

Esther Esmyol (far right) introduces visitors to our ceramic 
collections, part of the Fired: an exhibition of South African 
ceramics exhibition, on Heritage Day 2012.

Curator of Karoo Palaeontology, Dr Roger Smith 
(left) excavates a reptile fossil, Zambia 2012.
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The fact that Iziko recently secured a three-year 

funding grant of R555,500 annually from the NRF 

for the project ‘Archaeologies of Antarctica: 

An investigation into human physical and psychological 

responses to extreme environmental conditions via an 

archaeological investigation of an early 20th century 

shipwrecked sealer and associated survivors’ camp 

at Ship’s Cove, Marion Island’ is indicative of the 

importance of these relationships. The voyage and 

fieldwork on Marion Island by a team that includes  

Dr Sven Ouzman, Jaco Boshoff, John Cooper 

(University of Stellenbosch) and Tara van Niekerk 

(SAHRA) will take place during April and May 2013. 

Ongoing research in art, social and natural history, 

informed by our collections, assists with development 

and production of Iziko’s exhibitions, as well as 

academic and popular publications. The many years 

of research by Curator, Esther Esmyol on southern 

African ceramics made the award winning exhibition 

Fired possible. Likewise, research by Director Social 

History Collections, Lalou Meltzer and Curator, Wieke 

van Delen around textile and costume history in South 

Africa informed the exhibition, The isishweshwe story: 

material women? Curator, Pam Warne, worked with 

David Goldblatt, Paul Weinberg and Bongi Dhlomo-

Mautloa to research the exhibition entitled Umhlaba to 

coincide with the centenary of the Native Land Act of 

1913; and research by Director Art Collections, Riason 

Naidoo, on Peter Clarke for the Dak’art 2012 biennale 

in Senegal, Wind Blowing on the Cape Flats, expanded 

upon the retrospective on the artist for the Dak’art 

2012 biennale in Senegal in May 2012 and culminated 

in a larger international retrospective entitled Wind 

Blowing on the Cape Flats, shown at the Institute of 

International Visual Arts (INIVA) in London from 

16 January to 19 March 2013.

Natural history research receives considerable 

financial support from the NRF and is currently 

focused on the fields of entomology, marine biology 

and palaeontology. Outputs from this research have 

relevance to conservation, agriculture, fisheries, 

invasive organism risk assessment, climate 

change, palaeotourism and at the most basic 

level expands our understanding of the world and its 

environmental history. Iziko’s scientists, particularly 

Marine Biologists, thus play an ongoing and interactive 

role in terms of conservation and public awareness. 

Fieldwork is particularly important for this research 

and for the growth of Natural History collections. 

Notably during 2012/13, Dr Roger Smith undertook 

fieldtrips to the Karoo (palaeoecology of Western 

Gondwana project); southern Zambia and southeastern 

Tanzania (searching for middle-Permian therapsids 

and Mid-Triassic archosaurs); Patagonia in southern 

Argentina (studying 200-million-year-old dinosaur 

breeding grounds); and northeastern Brazil (looking 

for fossils of the earliest land-living tetrapods in 

Gondwana). Eugene Bergh participated in the Pliomax 

project, a global project assessing sea levels in the 

Pliocene at a time when CO
2
 levels were similar to 

where they are getting today; and Dr Simon van Noort 

continued his insect surveys of poorly collected areas 

in the Western Cape, this material feeding into his 

research on parasitic wasps. 

Iziko also plays a critical role in facilitating and 

providing a context for academic research by post-

graduate students. During 2012/13 the Natural History 

Collections department supervised two MSc students, 

two PhD students and five post-doctoral fellows. 

Natural history research is bolstered by the work of 13 

Honorary Associates. The Art Collections department 

hosted a post-graduate student from the Institut 

National du Patrimoine (Paris) and a researcher from 

Columbia University.

During the past year, Iziko’s research stature continued 

to be recognised. Iziko was invited to collaborate 

in the establishment of the newly set up Centre of 

Excellence in the Palaeosciences at the University of 

the Witwatersrand.



Iziko Strategic Programme Three: 
Corporate Advancement

Financial sustainability: Improve financial 

sustainability and income generation

Museums globally are confronted with substantial 

funding challenges and implementing new strategies 

to ensure survival. What has become clear is that a 

different approach to sustainability in the context 

of the heritage sector, both locally and globally, is 

required. 

Iziko is currently confronted with serious and 

escalating financial constraints. Our subsidy from DAC 

is insufficient to meet annual operating expenses and 

we are reliant on own income to fund the shortfall and 

implement core programmes. Iziko is further burdened 

by the annual increase in the liability related to post-

retirement employee benefits, which escalated from 

R20,272,107 in 2006, to R42,228,872 during 2012/2013. 

As a public entity, Iziko may not have a deficit budget. 

The impact of this liability is that reserves must be ring-

fenced, resulting in an escalating cash-flow challenge.

Despite the fact that Iziko has successfully raised 

an additional R10,214,635 via self-generated and 

R7,000,906 donor income during 2012/13, equal to 

22% of our total budget, we were unable to sustain 

funding of our programmes. As a result, we have seen 

a drop in spending on core function activities such 

as conservation, exhibitions, education and public 

programmes of more than 75% over the past two years.

A bid document for increased subsidy via the Medium-

term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) to address this 

challenge was prepared and submitted during 2012, 

but this submission has to-date provided no conclusive 

solution. 

Iziko has been proactive in seeking solutions, and 

a detailed situational analysis has resulted in a 

turnaround strategy for sustainability that will 

inform the revision of our business model and value 

proposition.

Partnerships 

Given our current funding constraints, special 

exhibitions, educational programmes, conservation, 

acquisitions and research are often only possible via 

strategic partnerships. 

During 2012/13, various existing and ongoing 

partnerships continued to contribute in diverse ways to 

the successful delivery of our strategic objectives. The 

ongoing relationships with the Department of Public 

Works (DPW), the French Consulate, National Heritage 

Council (NHC), the National Research Foundation 

(NRF), the University of Cape Town (UCT), the 

University of the Western Cape (UWC), the University of 

Stellenbosch, and the Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality 

and Sport Sector Education and Training Authority 

(CATHSSETA) have been particularly important to our 

delivery over the past year.

The valuable contribution and longstanding 

commitment of our three existing Friends organisations: 

the Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery; 

Friends of the Iziko Michaelis Collection; and Friends of 

the Iziko South African Museum; and their contribution 

to the growth of collections, conservation and public 

programmes of the museums they support, merits 

thanks and acknowledgement.

In addition to these ongoing partnerships, a number of 

key partnerships were forged by Iziko in 2012/2013 to 

specifically support strategic delivery of some of the 

year’s key achievements. More than 42 partnerships, 

plus a further 32 relationships specifically linked to 

education and public programmes, were realised. Over 

and above the donor income actually banked, the Rand 

value equivalent of these partnerships is estimated to 

exceed R9,086,748. 
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In this regard, I would particularly like to acknowledge 

the French Consulate; French-South Africa Seasons 

sponsors: Institut Français Afrique du Sud (IFAS); 

National Arts Council; Department of Arts and Culture; 

Department of Public Works; Bibliotheque Nationale, 

Paris, France; University of Cape Town; Centre for 

Film and Media Studies – which made the exhibition, 

The King’s Map: François Le Vaillant possible; MTN 

South Africa Foundation for MTN New Contemporaries 

Award 2012; the University of the Western Cape for the 

Community Art Project exhibition; and the Apartheid 

Museum, Tambo Foundation and National Heritage 

Council for their support in realising the exhibition, 

Oliver Reginald Tambo: The modest revolutionary. 

The Cape Town Fashion Council (CTFC) not only 

provided financial support for the exhibition, The 

isishweshwe story: material women?, but forged an 

ongoing partnership with Iziko to ensure linkages with 

local fashion designers. Through this partnership, 

interpretations of this cloth and the role of heritage 

in inspiring local innovation continues to be explored. 

Refer to appendix 6.2. and 6.3 for further details on 

donors and partners.

Increased diverse audiences

A key strategic objective is to ensure an increased and 

diverse audience, specifically from communities who 

previously lacked access to heritage resources. Our aim is 

to grow a new generation of museum goers and entrench 

an appreciation of the importance of culture as the 

lifeblood of our nation and essential part of our humanity 

among youth. Iziko seeks to position our museums 

as South African museums for all, and to change the 

perception of exclusivity that is a legacy of apartheid.  

Iziko implements a diversified pricing strategy 

that allows free access, at certain times, to ensure 

that those who can least afford entrance fees are 

still able to visit our museums. In 2012/13, 28,860 

visitors benefited from our free commemorative day 

concessions; and 55,509 youths visited our museums 

at no charge.

Iziko received a total of 528,008 visitors during 

2012/13. This represents a 1,91% decrease in visitor 

numbers compared to 538,308 visitors in 2011/12. 

Visitor numbers have, however, increased steadily 

from 473,982 in 2009/10. This slight decrease can be 

ascribed to a number of factors: fewer high profile 

temporary exhibitions due to financial constraints; drop 

in tourist numbers (tourists at some sites make up to 

48% of the total visitors); and reduced marketing and 

communication budgets and a zero advertising budget. 

However, Iziko’s online footprint has grown 

substantially during the past year: visitors to Iziko’s 

corporate website increased by 20,8% to 136,867, 

whilst our content-based websites (Biodiversity 

Explorer, Waspweb and Figweb) attracted an additional 

684,115 visitors; Iziko’s Facebook followers have 

increased from 1,115 to 2,240; and on Twitter the 

number of Iziko followers rose from 441 to 1,588.

Iziko Strategic Programme Four: 
Sound governance and efficient corporate 
services

Human resource management

Iziko annually invests in the education, training and 

development of staff members. In 2012/13, 395 training 

opportunities were offered to 178 staff members. Iziko 

also funded tertiary education for staff members from 

designated groups.

Black staff members are developed in terms of a Career 

Pathing Plan. It is the strategy of Iziko to increase 

the number of Black staff members, particularly in 

management positions, in line with its Employment 

Equity (EE) targets. 

Since the amalgamation of Iziko, the staff turnover has 

been low and the opportunity to diversify the workforce 

speedily has not been possible. Iziko salaries are not 

competitive, which means that prospective candidates 

with scarce skills, especially scientists and specialist 

curators, do not readily consider employment at Iziko. 

We have put measures in place to recruit and train a 

diverse staff and interns at the Iziko museums.



Iziko recognises that the profile of Senior Managers 

must also change, so all new appointments over the 

past six years have been in terms of its EE targets, 

especially suitably qualified persons.

Iziko ran a total of 30 internships of varying durations 

over the past year, providing hands-on learning 

opportunities that assist to facilitate the transition from 

academia to the workplace, empowering youths and 

enhancing their chances of seeking viable employment 

and launching their careers. A recent internship 

programme resulted in interns being appointed at 

well-respected institutions, based on the valuable 

experience that they gained. 

Iziko also provides opportunities for Doctorate and 

Post-doctorate scientists to be developed at Iziko.

Financial management 
Iziko has sustained its record of unqualified audit 

over more than a decade, and received a clean audit 

in 2011/12.

We have proactively addressed the challenge of 

implementing the Accounting Standards Board‘s 

Standard of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

(GRAP) 103 on Heritage Assets1, to ensure ongoing 

compliance with all audit requirements. Iziko’s three 

collections have a combined total of approximately 

2,26 million artefacts, many of which must be valued 

by 31 March 2016. Currently, no guidelines exist on 

how to practically implement GRAP 103 in relation to 

heritage assets in South Africa. Iziko has committed to 

taking the lead as a flagship institution to implement 

standards and procedures to assist the sector with the 

roll out of GRAP 103.

Information and communication technology

During the year under review, Iziko implemented 

VMware virtualisation of its IT infrastructure with 

an online centralised storage and backup system. 

Moving the workload from the 13 physical servers to 

a virtualised environment that consists of two virtual 

servers, assists with driving down costs, increases IT 

efficiencies, and improves application availability.

This move to virtualisation was carefully planned and 

the smooth transition was successfully implemented, 

with no complications or data loss, and minimal service 

downtime to the organisation.

Facilities management 

The exhibition, The King’s Map: François Le Vaillant in 

Southern Africa 1781–1784, required the installation 

of a state-of-the-art climate controlled space to meet 

the terms of the loan agreement with the Bibliotheque 

Nationale regarding display of this incredible artefact. 

An area in the Iziko South African Museum that had 

been used for storage for many years, but which was 

in fact the original site of the South African National 

Gallery (prior to the construction of the purpose-

built gallery in 1930) was therefore upgraded. Both 

the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) and the 

Department of Public Works (DPW) made the upgrade 

of this space possible, creating what is now one of the 

very few climate controlled spaces in South Africa that 

comply with international standards, another being the 

Iziko South African National Gallery (ISANG). 

The Courtyard Project construction, which has been 

many years in planning, finally got underway in early 

2013. This major capital project, funded by DAC and 

implemented by DPW, involves renovation of the 

research block at ISAM by closing in the courtyard 

area and the renovation and upgrade of office and 

laboratory facilities; the addition of two extra floors 

to provide conference facilities and executive offices; 

alterations to the administration and education block; 

and the creation of a new atrium off the Whale Well 

that will provide partial access for the public to view 

research and collections facilities – thus making the real 

work of the museum tangible. The aim of the project is 

1 gRAP 103 requires the recognition, measurement and disclosure of all assets that meet the definition of a heritage asset.
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three-fold: to increase the storage space for growing 

collections; provide much-needed research and office 

facilities; and most importantly, improve visitor access 

and provide an interactive museum experience, aligned 

with international trends. The project is scheduled to be 

completed in two to three years.

Theft of artworks and museum artefacts internationally 

is on the increase. Iziko has been proactive in efforts to 

upgrade security in recent years, and DAC has assisted 

Iziko by funding the installation of CCTV cameras and 

a fibre optic network within the Cape Town area to link 

the cameras to a central control room at the ISAM. 

The last phase of the implementation of an integrated 

security system was rolled out to the five remaining 

sites (IR&V, IBH, IKdW, IBKM and the ISANG Annexe) 

during the past year.

Major repair and renovation (R&R) projects are 

funded by DPW. However, the last time that funding 

was received from DPW was for a major R&R project 

at ISAM in 2005. As a result, many of the historic 

buildings in the care of Iziko have been neglected. Where, 

for example, windows could have been repaired, these 

now have to be replaced at a substantially higher 

cost. A request was therefore submitted to DAC to 

fund the development of a five-year Maintenance and 

Conservation Plan for all Iziko sites. Although DAC is 

not responsible for major R&R projects, R9,51 million 

was allocated to appoint an Architect Consultant 

familiar with historic buildings in the Western Cape, 

as well as a Project Manager to implement the 

Maintenance and Conservation Plan. This is a major 

contribution towards conserving our precious heritage 

buildings for future generations.

Risk management

A comparison between the Risk Registers of 2011/12 

and 2012/13 indicated that the Control Effectiveness 

and Residual Risk ratings reduced by 1,85% and 5,17% 

respectively. The comparison further indicated that 

risks were mitigated effectively, as the number of risks 

were reduced by 25,93%.

Iziko is one of the few heritage institutions that is 

implementing a Disaster Management Plan. Evacuation 

chairs and disaster bins have now been implemented 

at sites, along with procedures for the use of these. 

A procedure to manage groups of learners during a 

disaster was also developed in the reporting period. 

To date, 40 Disaster Management Procedures have 

been developed.

In conclusion, I would like to thank the Ministry of Arts 

and Culture, our Executive Authority, the Department 

of Arts and Culture, the Council of Iziko, the Senior 

Management and staff, and our many partners, for 

their continued commitment and support in realising 

Iziko’s strategic vision.

Our museum is the perpetual ‘open university’, 

which combines pleasure and learning like no other 

institution in the 21st century. Iziko embraces the 

challenges of ongoing innovation required to ensure 

that our Museum remains one of the greatest merits 

of a democratic society and that we continue to grow 

as sustainable and viable heritage institutions in the 

future. The best thing about museums is perhaps this: 

they are constantly transforming themselves – and so is 

Iziko Museums of South Africa.

Rooksana Omar

Chief Executive Officer, 

Iziko Museums of South Africa



Young visitors to the Iziko South African Museum enjoy the Heritage Day 2012 celebrations.
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2.1 Statement of Responsibility for   
 Performance Information for the   
 year ending 31 March 2013
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the 

preparation of the public entity’s performance 

information and for the judgements made in this 

information.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 

establishing, and implementing a system of internal 

control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to 

the integrity and reliability of performance information.

In my opinion, the performance information fairly 

reflects the actual achievements against planned 

objectives, indicators and targets as per the strategic 

and annual performance plan of the public entity for 

the financial year ending 31 March 2013.

Iziko Museums of South Africa’s performance 

information for the year ending 31 March 2013 has been 

examined by the external auditors, and their report is 

presented on page 70. 

The performance information of the entity set out on 

page 27 to page 39 was approved by the Council.

 

      

Rooksana Omar

Chief Executive Officer,

Iziko Museums of South Africa

31 July 2013 

Date

2.2 Overview of the 
 Public Entity’s Performance
2.2.1  Service Delivery Environment
The biggest challenge facing South African museums, 

including Iziko, is that museums are sometimes 

regarded as being ‘foreign places, outside the 

experience of the general public, and as such tend to be 

seen as being on the margins of economic, political and 

social debates. However, our practice and programmes 

have shown that our reality is different in the 21st 

century context. As a national museum, our mandate is 

not only to conserve and preserve the cultural, natural 

and art heritage of the nation, but also to make our 

knowledge and collections accessible through various 

museum-related activities. We therefore seek, in all our 

activities, to change this perception of museums, to 

ensure museums are accessible, and to connect with as 

many people as possible in South Africa so that their 

lives can be enriched and they can benefit from our 

rich heritage and knowledge resources. 

The cornerstone of the Strategic Plan for Iziko is 

based on the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) 

Strategic Plan 2011–2016. Together with the Executive 

Authority, DAC, Iziko seeks to support government’s 

implementation framework and the new national 

growth development, and to promote social cohesion 

and social justice through all our offerings. 

In order to support the programme “Nation Building 

and National Identity”, Iziko has focused its strategic 

objectives on audience development to enable 

inclusive and participatory programmes for all its 

museum visitors. The way we develop exhibitions and 

implement education programmes takes cognisance 

of the environment, its audience and potential 

new audiences. Iziko seeks to reposition itself and 

shift public perception of museums through the 

implementation of a targeted and integrated marketing 

and communication strategy which promotes access 

to Iziko on all commemorative public holidays. Offering 

free access to our public programmes and planetarium 

shows broadens audiences and encourages inter-

generational dialogue. Education resources are 

developed to add value to classroom practice, taking 
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into account curriculum changes. Iziko also gives 

specific attention to its outreach programmes and uses 

our Mobile Museum to reach a wider audience that 

does not necessarily have access to museums in their 

communities. We are also intensifying our programmes 

to support an enriched educational environment in 

South Africa and to expand on our work with learners, 

the youth, women and people with disabilities. 

The White Paper on Arts and Culture clearly defines 

how it views the role of museums within the South 

African context. As stated in the White Paper, the 

“Department funds Declared Institutions and in so 

doing recognizes museums…have the potential to play 

a vital role in the development of arts, culture, heritage 

and science in South Africa. Provide opportunity for 

lifelong learning…” Through Iziko’s public programmes, 

outreach programmes, exhibitions, research, collections 

and numerous innovative activities, this policy mandate 

of the Department of Arts and Culture has been 

carried out over the years and continues to fulfil the 

principles outlined in the White Paper. This results in 

the promotion of learning, and improved access to 

collections and learning resources. 

Partnerships in the tourism industry are equally 

important for the wellbeing of Iziko, and our institution 

supports further strategic partnerships with role 

players in this sphere, as outlined in our Strategic Plan. 

Our museums contribute to the tourism product of 

South Africa and play a vital role in contributing to the 

economic value of the tourism sector. It is within this 

context that Iziko also sees the opportunity to further 

the aims of Mzanzi’s Golden Economy, which supports 

the strategic development of creative industries as 

economic drivers through its programmes and access 

to information.     

Twelve years on, Iziko has emerged as a leading 

player in the heritage sector and is acknowledged as a 

benchmark for South African museums. Iziko continues 

to connect our audiences with the past, present and 

future through its rich collections, exhibitions and 

research work, which are highly regarded nationally, 

on the continent and internationally. Iziko continues to 

act as a powerful platform for regeneration, and it is 

for this reason that visitors continue to visit this set of 

museums. The museums add value to the public realm 

of our country, as well as our tangible and intangible 

heritage. Our citizenship has a vested interest in 

them, as they illustrate the vast and rich heritage 

our country holds. They are a source of pride and 

showcase our heritage in relation to the global context. 

These collections represent a record of our struggles, 

illustrate our place in the world and unfold our vast 

array of experiences and diversity. 

 

Strategic planning exercises and budgeting processes 

reflect the challenges to transform old practices 

and assumptions. The pull between centralisation in 

the amalgamated institution and specialised focus 

across Iziko’s departments continues to require care 

and attention, and with each new planning exercise 

there is a definite move away from old organisational 

practices towards a more dynamic and responsive 

museum. The need to digitise the collections and to 

provide an interactive website are among the various 

projects that require focused funding to respond 

to the implementation of the Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practice (GRAP) 103.

Iziko has successfully utilised National Lotteries 

Development Trust Fund grants, and transformation 

funding made available by DAC to create insightful 

exhibition projects at museums such as the Iziko 

Slave Lodge, Iziko South African Museum and Iziko 

Groot Constantia. Funding was also utilised to 

transform approaches and build new traditions of 

scholarship, such as the Human Remains Project and 

the Meermin Slave Wreck Project. It is a fact that 

the Nation is faced with severe challenges related to 

basic health, welfare and education. For maintaining 

and renewing these important cultural resources, 

museums deserve public support and funding. In order 

to continue the momentum of transformation initiated 

by government, there is a need to continue to fund 

long-term programmes of change at our different 

museums. This will enhance our ability to create spaces 

for the generation of new knowledge, contribute to 

regeneration programmes, add value to the cultural 



economy, while reinforcing the educational value of 

these resources that were created and supported for 

public benefit. 

Through commitment to its Employment Equity 

priorities, Iziko is now far more representative of the 

diverse audiences it serves than it was at amalgamation. 

It is our aim to create a more inclusive Museum that 

values and reflects the diversity of our citizenry. It is 

also our intention to ensure that we encourage our 

staff to experience different arenas of museum work 

and open up their choices of career. The internship 

programme offered by DAC has been successful, as 

two interns were subsequently employed by Iziko, and 

others found employment in their field of study. Key 

to creating a diverse and experienced workforce is the 

opportunity for learners, students and new graduates to 

be given the opportunity to do internships. 

Iziko plans to increase storage spaces by using 

innovative ways of opening up some of these closed 

spaces. Through the Courtyard Project at the Iziko 

South African Museum, the public will be able to 

view the collections in storage, as well as Specimen 

Preparators at work. It is also our vision to build a 

contemporary art museum. In the long-term, there 

is a need for Iziko to develop a world-class Maritime 

Museum to ensure that the rich maritime history of 

South Africa is showcased.

2.2.2  Organisational Environment 
When the five museums merged to form the Southern 

Flagship Institution (SFI), now known as Iziko 

Museums of South Africa, all staff members had to be 

accommodated, so resources could not be rationalised. 

For example, when the five Finance & Administration 

departments merged, not all staff members could be 

accommodated in the SFI Finance & Administration 

department. However, all staff members had to be 

accommodated, so the supernumerary staff had to be 

redeployed and reskilled. The redeployment of staff 

members has not always been successful. Positions 

that become vacant are critically reviewed and, if 

necessary, re-contextualised, combined with other 

positions or abolished. The organisational structure is 

also being reviewed to ensure the optimum utilisation 

of human resources as there is a serious shortage of 

staff required to manage collections, 12 sites and the 

vast art, social history and natural history collections. 

Appointing more staff members is not an option 

as the grant received from DAC barely covers the 

salary budget.

It is has been a challenge to attract curatorial staff to 

Iziko because our salaries do not compare favourably 

with the salaries of the private and public sectors, 

as well as some heritage institutions’. This tends to 

affect morale and has a negative impact on the  

organisational culture.

A Climate and Culture Survey was done to understand 

the organisational culture at Iziko. Funds permitting, 

another survey will be repeated to establish whether 

a strategy to positively influence the organisational 

culture has been successful. 
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2.3 Performance Information by Programme 
2.3.1 Programme 1 
Enhancing the museum experience: Access and audience development

Purpose
• Promote appreciation of, and respect for, cultural diversity through vibrant museum programmes.

• Attract people from diverse communities.

• Connect people, encourage public participation and promote inter-generational dialogue. 

• Enrich and educate citizens to foster a museum-going culture.

• Increase access to collections and programmes.

Description
This program incorporates strategies and plans related to exhibitions, and education and public programmes.

Sub-programme: Exhibitions

Strategic objective: Development and execution of a Thematic Plan for permanent and temporary exhibitions at 

the 11 Iziko museums responding to the needs of our diverse audiences

Sub-programme: Education and public programmes

Strategic objectives: 

• Enriching and enabling education and public programmes

• Teacher enrichment 

• Outreach: Museum without walls

• Special needs initiatives

• Trainee and intern programmes



PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

 2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

PROgRAMME 1: ENHANCINg THE MUSEUM EXPERIENCE: ACCESS AND AUDIENCE DEVELOPMENT

SUB-PROgRAMME: EXHIBITIONS

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Development and execution of a Thematic Plan for permanent and temporary exhibitions at the 11 
Iziko museums responding to the needs of our diverse audiences

Number of new 
exhibitions

Quarterly AC: 8; 
SH: 4; 
NH: 3

23 exhibitions delivered – 
AC: Annual target of 8 exhibitions met for the year. 
SH: 10. Annual target of 4 met and exceeded by 6. The extra 
exhibitions were the result of shared resources and requests 
for the use of Iziko’s exhibition spaces by our partners with 
input from our curators. 
NH: 4. Additional 2 were collaborations with other 
departments. 
Inter-departmental: 1. 
The total of 23 excludes 7 EPP exhibitions hosted as per EPP 
outreach and education programmes. 
Refer to appendix 6.4.

Thematic Plan/ ‘Big 
Picture’

Annually Report 
submitted 
to Council

Global report was tabled to Council, and the management 
report, with recommendations, will be submitted to Council 
early next financial year, following SMT visits to all Iziko sites 
and museums.

Number of tours 
of exhibitions and 
collections by curators, 
collections managers and 
conservators

Quarterly AC: 30; 
SH: 20

112 tours delivered – 
AC: 39. Annual target exceeded by 9 tours due to more 
requests for exhibition tours. 
SH: 50. Annual target exceeded by 30 tours as a result of 
interest in current exhibition Fired and accelerated interest 
in the work of archaeology. 
NH: 23. No target was set for NH. However, tours were given 
in response to demand. 

Number of workshops/ 
conferences/ panel 
discussions linked to 
exhibitions/ collections

Annually AC: 8; 
SH: 4

67 delivered – 
AC: 11. Annual target exceeded by 3 due to additional 
invitations for staff to present and participate in workshops, 
conferences, discussions and events in addition to those 
initiated by Iziko. 
SH: 13. Annual target exceeded by 9 due to unscheduled but 
interesting invitations to curators. 
NH: 23. No target was set for NH, but the department 
responded positively to invitations. 
EPP: 20. No target was set for EPP, but staff presented 
papers and participated in discussions as part of knowledge 
dissemination and public engagement. 
Refer to appendix 6.5.
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PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

 2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

SUB-PROgRAMME: EDUCATION AND PUBLIC PROgRAMMES

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Enriching and enabling education and public programmes

Number of learners 
visiting sites

Quarterly 50,000 Target met and exceeded. 57,211 learners from diverse 
backgrounds visited the Iziko museums.  

Number of new/ updated 
worksheets/ brochures 
developed

Quarterly 25 124 worksheets and brochures were developed. Target was 
exceeded due to changes in the school curriculum. 
Refer to appendix 6.9.

Percentage of lessons 
aligned to DoE

Quarterly 100% Achieved. All lessons offered by Iziko are aligned to the DoE 
curriculum.

Number of people at 
Summer School events

Annual 600 526 people participated. The target was not met, as fewer 
Summer School activities were presented due to limited 
budget available for the project in the period under review.

Number of participants 
in commemorative day 
programmes

Quarterly 600 28,860 people attended commemorative days, presented 
in collaboration with Iziko’s partners. Partners played a 
meaningful role in attracting more persons to Iziko events, 
especially our partnership with Cape Town Festival.

Number of public 
planetarium shows 
presented

Quarterly 750 864 public shows were presented.

Number of learners 
attending planetarium

Quarterly 30,000 36,681 learners attended planetarium shows. The target 
was exceeded by 6,681 due to interest in the shows and free 
entrance to the Planetarium during International Museum 
Day and Heritage Day. 

Number of planetarium 
school shows

Quarterly 400 525 planetarium school shows were presented to learners. 
The additional 125 were screened due to interest shown in 
our shows.  

Number of general public 
attending planetarium

Quarterly 35,000 41,150 members of the general public attended public 
planetarium shows. The additional 6,150 was as a result of 
interest shown by members of the public in Iziko’s shows.



PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

 2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Teacher enrichment

Number of teacher/ 
students enrichment 
sessions/ workshops

Quarterly 9 29 sessions presented. 20 more were given due to interest 
shown in certain exhibitions; and working closer with 
curators, tertiary institutions, outside organisations and the 
education department.

Number of teachers/ 
students attending

Quarterly 300 540 people attended sessions. The positive variance of 240 
was due to more sessions being conducted, and relationships 
with tertiary organisations.

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Outreach: Museum without walls

Number of outreach 
programmes 
implemented

Quarterly 35 32 outreach activities took place, 3 less than the target. 
The outstanding final tranche of NLDTF funding was not 
received and as a result 3 outreach activities could not be 
implemented, as planned.

Number of people 
reached

Quarterly 12,000 23,898 people were reached despite fewer outreach 
activities implemented. The positive variance of 11,898 was 
due to an increase in requests by organisations to have 
the Iziko Mobile Museum at schools, malls, festivals and 
community libraries.

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Special needs initiatives

Number of special needs 
programmes

Quarterly 12 22 special needs programmes were delivered. The positive 
variance of 10 was due to our working relationship with the 
organisation, Meaningful Access Project (MAP).

Number of special needs 
attendees

Quarterly 300 637 people attended these sessions. The positive variance 
of 337 was due to more activities being presented in 
conjunction with MAP. 

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Trainee and intern programmes

Number of interns/ WILS 
mentored

Annually 6 52 interns were mentored and supervised by professional 
core functions staff at Iziko. The positive variance of 46 was 
due to the broadening of attempts to include other Iziko 
departments, and a positive working relationship with the 
City of Cape Town and CATHSSETA.

Number of volunteers 
engaged

Annually 16 33 volunteers were engaged at Iziko. The positive variance 
of 17 was due to EPP encouraging young people to become 
volunteers and gain basic lifeskills through our Museum 
Youth Programme and job-shadowing programme, and their 
response was very positive. 
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2.3.2 Programme 2: Collections and research 
Development and preservation of collections as a lasting national resource reflecting our African 

heritage

Purpose
• Knowledge generation through research to contribute to an educated and informed society.

• Growth of collections through research, donations and purchases to present a representative heritage. 

• Conservation and management of Iziko’s extensive natural history, social history and art collections, for present  

 and future generations.

• Deaccessioning of unethically collected human remains.

• Creating access to collections for visitors, and enabling virtual visits through digitisation.

Description
This programme covers all aspects related to research and collections. The collections have been acquired over 

years and serve as an important comment on people and their environment in South Africa. Research contributes 

to an understanding of the scientific, artistic and historic development of South Africa. 

Sub-programme: Collections management

Strategic objective: Improve conditions for the collections and access to them

Sub-programme: Acquisitions

Strategic objective: Manage and grow the collections in line with strategic priorities and address unethical 

collection practices

Sub-programme: Digitisation

Strategic objective: Digitisation of collections

Sub-programme: Research 

Strategic objective: Improve research capacity, productivity and relevance in Iziko



PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

PROgRAMME 2: COLLECTIONS AND RESEARCH: DEVELOPMENT AND PRESERVATION OF COLLECTIONS AS A 
LASTINg NATIONAL RESOURCE REFLECTINg OUR AFRICAN HERITAgE

SUB-PROgRAMME: COLLECTIONS MANAgEMENT

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Improve conditions for the collections and access to them

Total number of SH 
collections storerooms 
meeting criteria for good 
preservation

Annual SH: 19 SH: 19 stores were regularly monitored for climate and pest 
control. Remedial action was taken.

Number of artworks 
restored

Quarterly AC: 6 AC: 5 paintings restored for the year. Target lower than 
annual target by one. The Conservator was only employed on 
contract for 6 months of the year.

Large conservation 
project for the furniture

Quarterly SH: 1 Target achieved and a report written on findings and 
methodology.

SUB-PROgRAMME: ACQUISITIONS 

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Manage and grow the collections in line with strategic priorities and address unethical 
collection practices

Collections Development 
Strategy

Annual 1 workshop Core Functions workshop held, attended by Finance. An 
interdepartmental task team will be established in the new 
financial year to take the resolutions forward.

% acquisitions budget 
spent at end of financial 
year and motivated in 
light of collections gaps 
and thematic content of 
the museums

Annual AC & SH: 
100%

No acquisition budget was allocated during the reporting 
period.  
All acquisitions reported were made possible via donations 
or external funding. 
AC: 7 new donations.  
SH: A total of 247 items were acquired by SHC. Some 
purchases were also made with insurance monies and 
professional fees income.  
NH: Received donation of collections from Leonard 
Compagno and Peter Flack. The two donations are estimated 
to have about 4,000 specimens. NH acquisitions are 
primarily through research field trips and 3,318 items were 
catalogued during the period under review.  
Refer to appendix 6.6.

No. of applications to 
DAC for de-accessioning 
of unethically collected 
human remains report 
only in 2012/13

Annual Progress 
report

A report on progress regarding listing and identification of 
unethically collected human remains was submitted.
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PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

SUB-PROgRAMME: DIgITISATION

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Digitisation of collections

Number of new records 
entered on collections 
databases

Annual AC: 15; 
SH: 1,000; 
NH: 4,000

23,899 records were entered – 
AC: No new entries due to staff shortages. The department 
had no dedicated Registrar for the year under review. 
SH: 1,153. The positive variance of 153 was due to assistance 
provided to the Registrar by other staff members within SH. 
NH: 22,746. The positive variance of 18,746 was due to 
additional funding from SA Biodiversity Information Facility 
(SABIF). This funding enabled NH to get additional contract 
staff for the project.

Cumulative % of Natural 
History records converted 
to new Specify system

Quarterly NH: 80% The target met and exceeded by 6%.

SUB-PROgRAMME: RESEARCH 

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Improve research capacity, productivity and relevance in Iziko

Number of peer-reviewed 
research publications

Annual AC: 2; 
SH: 2;
NH: 12

17 publications delivered – 
AC: 1. Annual target not achieved due to fewer publication 
opportunities this financial year. 
SH: 3. Target exceeded by one. 
NH: 13. Target exceeded by 1. The positive variance recorded 
by SH and NH was due to more opportunities availed to staff 
of the two departments to submit additional articles for 
publication. 
Refer to appendix 6.7.

Number of other research 
publications, including 
guides

Annually AC: 4; 
SH: 4; 
NH: 1

13 publications produced – 
AC: 8. Annual target exceeded by 4 due to a number of 
popular publications and guides produced by Iziko staff 
linked to exhibitions held in collaboration with Iziko’s 
partners. 
SH: 5. Target reached and exceeded by one. 
NH: 0. NH focused on production of web pages for 
Biodiversity Explorer, Waspweb and Figweb websites. 
Refer to appendix 6.8. 
Excludes 124 resources by EPP (including the Planetarium). 
Refer to appendix 6.9.

Number of externally 
funded research projects

Annual SH: 1; 
NH: 4

20 projects delivered. 
SH: 2. Target met and exceeded by 1 due to a new slavery 
research project linked to an existing slavery project funded 
by the NHC during the year.  
NH: 18. Target met and exceeded by 14 due to the success 
of funding applications and of partnerships with other 
institutions.



2.3.3 Programme 3: Corporate Advancement
Purpose
To ensure continuous growth and improved sustainability through corporate advancement. Strengthen internal 

policies and processes to ensure organisational efficiency and good governance.

Description
This programme incorporates strategies and plans related to: (1) Financial Sustainability and (2) Communication 

(External and Internal).

Sub-programme: Financial sustainability

Strategic objective: To implement strategies and interventions that will improve the financial sustainability in order 

for Iziko to continue to effectively deliver on our heritage mandate and to be able to fast track transformation 

initiatives

Sub-programme: Integrated marketing and communication

Strategic objective: To implement a comprehensive plan to attract an increased and diverse audience, specifically 

from communities who previously have lacked access to heritage resources  

PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

 2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

PROgRAMME 3: CORPORATE ADVANCEMENT

SUB-PROgRAMME: FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITy

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To implement strategies and interventions that will improve the financial sustainability in order 
for Iziko to continue to effectively deliver on our heritage mandate and to be able to fast track transformation initiatives

Improvement in income 
generated

Annual Establish 
a baseline 
and 
implement 
a plan to 
increase 
income 
generation

An analysis of revenue streams (baseline) from 
2006/7–2011/12 was compiled. A discussion document 
on sustainability was presented to the SMT at a one-day 
workshop, 26 February 2013. Recommendations were 
accepted, and provide the business plan framework to be 
implemented during 2013/14. 
 
Self-generated income for 2012/13 totalled R10,214,635, up 
from R9,216,179 (restated) in 2011/12. 
 
Donor income for 2012/13 totalled R7,000,906, down from 
R7,750,951 (restated) in 2011/12. 
 
Revenue from venue hire increased by 50% to R577,708. 
 
A 2-year project to measure the value of in-kind partnerships 
has shown that the equivalent Rand value of these 
partnerships between 2011/12 and 2012/13 exceeded R12 
million. The value of partnerships for 2012/13 alone totalled 
R9,086,748.
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PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL 
TARgET 

 2012/2013
ACHIEVEMENTS

SUB-PROgRAMME: INTEgRATED MARkETINg AND COMMUNICATION

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To implement a comprehensive plan to attract an increased and diverse audience, specifically 
from communities who previously have lacked access to heritage resources 

Increase the number of 
visitors to our museums

Annual Implement 
a plan to 
increase 
the number 
of visitors 
at ISAM, 
ISANG and 
ISL

Iziko received a total of 528,008 visitors during the year 
2012/13. This represents a 1,91% decrease in visitor numbers 
compared to 538,305 visitors in 2011/12. Despite this drop, 
visitor numbers have in general, increased steadily from 
473,982 in 2009/10. The decrease in the past year can 
be ascribed to a number of factors: Fewer high profile 
temporary exhibitions due to financial constraints; drop in 
tourist numbers (tourists at some sites make up to 48% of 
the total visitors); reduced marketing and communication 
budgets; and a zero advertising budget. 
 
A plan to increase foot-traffic at ISAM, ISANG and ISL was 
implemented. There was growth of 2,74% recorded for ISAM 
and 4,84% for ISL, however a significant decrease occurred 
at ISANG of 29,53%. This was primarily due to the fact 
that budgetary constraints did not allow for crowd pulling 
exhibitions such as Tretchikoff and 1910-2010, which were 
responsible for significant increases at this site over the past 
two years.  
 
Iziko’s online footprint has grown substantially during the 
past year: Website visitors have increased by 20,8% to 
136,867; Iziko Facebook followers have increased from 1,115 
to 2,240; and on Twitter the number of Iziko followers rose 
from 441 to 1,588.

Increase in diversity of 
audience

Annual Baseline 
to be 
established 
by 31 March 
2013

A baseline to measure audience diversity was not 
established by 31 March 2013. This was due to a lack of 
financial resources to conduct a formal survey into diversity. 
Research from 2006/7 to 2011/12 was analysed, but provided 
inconclusive data. 
 
In all marketing and communication activities, Iziko 
prioritised reaching diverse local audiences and communities 
via platforms such as transport hubs, local libraries, shopping 
centres and social media. Partnerships were established to 
extend the reach of our communication to diverse new local 
audiences and communities. 
 
We have proactively addressed the lack of resources to 
conduct formal market research. A partnership with Cape 
Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT) to assist with this 
in the medium-term is in the process, and a survey using 180 
CPUT students is planned for 2013. 
 
Online surveys will be conducted with visitors to generate 
data on diversity in 2013. 



2.3.4  Programme 4: Sound governance and effective and efficient corporate services
Purpose
To ensure that Iziko is governed and managed efficiently and effectively to provide an enabling environment for our 

core functions departments to successfully manage, develop, showcase and transform our collections in terms of 

our heritage mandate and our long-term vision.

Description
This programme incorporates strategies and plans related to: (1) Human Resource Management; (2) Financial 

Management; (3) Information Communication Technology; (4) Customer Relationship Management (External and 

Internal); (5) Facilities Management and (6) Risk Management.

Sub-programme: Human resource management

Strategic objective: To implement strategies to continuously develop a positive, efficient and diverse workforce that 

provides an excellent service to all

Sub-programme: Financial management

Strategic objective: To provide strategic financial management and administrative support that enables all 

departments to effectively manage their financial responsibility within the regulatory framework

Sub-programme: Information and communication technology

Strategic objective: To develop and maintain an Information Technology infrastructure that would support 

electronic communications systems such as the Iziko website, social network sites and the intranet

Sub-programme: Customer relationship management

Strategic objective: To implement strategies to improve and maintain customer relationships in keeping with Iziko 

being African museums of excellence

Sub-programme: Facilities management 

Strategic objective: To implement strategies to improve and maintain Iziko facilities to ensure that collections are 

housed in African museums of excellence

Sub-programme: Risk management 

Strategic objective: Implement and review plans, policies and procedures that will ensure Iziko’s preparedness for 

disasters, mitigate risks identified in the Risk Register, and monitor the effectiveness of risk mitigation
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PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL TARgET 
 2012/2013

ACHIEVEMENTS

PROgRAMME 4: SOUND gOVERNANCE AND EFFECTIVE AND EFFICIENT CORPORATE SERVICES

SUB-PROgRAMME: HUMAN RESOURCE MANAgEMENT

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To implement strategies to continuously develop a positive, efficient and diverse workforce that 
provides an excellent service to all

Develop a Learning and 
Development Programme 
that responds to and 
facilitates organisational 
change

Annual Develop and 
implement a 
Learning and 
Development 
Programme for 
2012/2013 that 
responds to and 
facilitates the 
organisational 
changes 
anticipated

The Learning and Development Programme continued. 
A total of 178 training opportunities were offered to staff 
in the 4th quarter. In 2012/13, a total of 395 training 
opportunities were offered to staff and 7 requests to 
fund tertiary education were approved. The Programme 
facilitated change by offering training in diversity 
management and disability awareness. It also responded 
to the need to train staff to implement GRAP 103 by ring-
fencing funding to train additional staff.

Improve the 
organisational culture 

Annual Implement the 
strategy to 
improve the 
organisational 
culture in terms of 
timelines set in the 
strategy

The Director Human Resources finalised the strategy to 
improve the organisational culture. There will be further 
workshops with staff prior to submission to Exco and 
Council for approval during 2013/14.

Increase in service 
delivery

Annual Annual Customer 
Care Survey must 
show an increase 
of 5% in terms of 
positive feedback

A customer care survey was not conducted in March 
2013, as a new service provider was appointed. CSM staff 
members who had not yet been trained in customer care 
received training in the 4th quarter.

SUB-PROgRAMME: FINANCIAL MANAgEMENT

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To provide strategic financial management and administrative support that enables all 
departments to effectively manage their financial responsibility within the regulatory framework

Financial Manual 
developed

Annual Phase 1 of 
Financial Manual 
developed

Certain financial procedures were reviewed and 
documented. Further comments from the Finance team 
are still to be incorporated. Due to reprioritisation of 
projects such as the assessment of Iziko’s readiness to 
implement GRAP 103; emergency tenders related to the 
Courtyard Project that had to be implemented at short 
notice; IT infrastructure upgrades; and the additional 
requirements of the Supply Chain Management 
legislation; the development of Phase 1 of the Financial 
Manual was slower than anticipated. The project will be 
fast tracked after the annual audit in 2013.

Number of financial 
policies and procedures 
revised

Annual 1 revised policy 
and 1 revised 
procedure

1 policy and 1 procedure were revised. Supply Chain 
Management Policy and procedures were revised to 
incorporate the changes in the Preferential, Procurement 
Policy Framework Act (PPPFA). The IT Password Policy 
and IT Change Management Policy were approved and 
implemented.



PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL TARgET 
 2012/2013

ACHIEVEMENTS

SUB-PROgRAMME: INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOgy

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To develop and maintain an Information Technology infrastructure that would support electronic 
communications systems such as the Iziko website, social network sites and the intranet

Increased capacity/ 
efficiency in terms of IT 
and technology

Annual Infrastructure is 
improved in terms 
of targets set in 
strategy

The Server Consolidation Project was completed. 
This virtualisation of the IT environment simplifies IT 
Management, and improves business responsiveness 
and operational improvement through more efficient 
support and management, and increased business 
continuity. The 13 servers located at the various sites that 
became redundant and costly to maintain was reduced 
to 2 physical servers – a more cost-effective virtualised 
central data storage system with built-in redundancy that 
can be managed and maintained centrally. The server 
consolidation also included the consolidation of all data 
storage into a central device that will allow for improved 
disaster recovery and business continuity services 
with no interruption. The backup of data from tapes to 
online backup storage has an increased reliability, as 
well as faster data recovery. The Internet bandwidth 
was increased from 100 MB to 1 GIG – 10 times the speed 
previously experienced.

SUB-PROgRAMME: CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAgEMENT (CRM)

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To implement strategies to improve and maintain customer relationships in keeping with Iziko 
being African museums of excellence

Increase in positive 
feedback from Iziko 
visitors

Annual Develop a strategy 
informed by 
market research 
surveys to 
improve customer 
satisfaction 
and customer 
relationship 
management 

An analysis of market research from 2006/7–2011/12 was 
provided to the SMT to inform strategy. A CRM strategy 
is in place, but Iziko lacks the funding to implement it at 
this time.
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PROgRAMME 
PERFORMANCE 

INDICATOR

REPORTINg  
PERIOD

ANNUAL TARgET 
 2012/2013

ACHIEVEMENTS

SUB-PROgRAMME: FACILITIES MANAgEMENT 

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: To implement strategies to improve and maintain Iziko facilities to ensure that collections are 
housed in African museums of excellence

Implement a 
comprehensive 
maintenance programme 
for Iziko sites

Annual Implementation 
of the internal 
maintenance 
programme 
in terms of 
timeframes set in 
strategy/ plan

A comprehensive internal maintenance programme for 
Iziko sites was implemented. A tool to track the internal 
maintenance programme was also implemented, and a 
manual for users of the tracking tool was developed by 
the Programmes Manager.

SUB-PROgRAMME: RISk MANAgEMENT 

STRATEgIC OBJECTIVE: Implement and review plans, policies and procedures that will ensure Iziko’s preparedness for 
disasters, mitigate risks identified in the Risk Register, and monitor the effectiveness of risk mitigation

Revise Risk Register to 
ensure improvement 
in the effectiveness 
rating of controls in Risk 
Register

Annual A 2% increase 
in effectiveness 
ratings of controls 
in Risk Register 
in the reporting 
period

The Risk Register was analysed and the following 
improvements were found:  
1. Control effectiveness increased by 1,85%                      
2. Residual Risk Rating increased by 5,17% 
 
The number of risks was also reduced by 25,93%.

Disaster management 
and emergency 
procedures developed 
and reviewed 

Annual Disaster 
management 
procedures for 
all departments 
developed

In 2012/13, the Disaster Management Plan was further 
implemented when evacuation chairs and disaster bins 
were installed. Procedures for the use of disaster bins 
were developed by CSM. EPP also developed a procedure 
to manage school groups during a disaster.



3. GOVERNANCE
Unknown artist. Watercolour painting depicting Cape Town from the area of Oranjezicht overlooking the Bay, c. 1794 (detail). Iziko Social History Collections.
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3.1  Introduction 
The Council and management of Iziko Museums of South Africa have committed over the past three years to 

responding to government’s requirement to improve and refine all governance procedures. This has resulted in 

a more professional, compliant and ethical operating environment, aligned with all of our executive authorities’ 

requirements, and which supports excellent corporate governance and optimal delivery of strategic outputs.

Minister of Arts and Culture, Mr SP Mashatile MP, wrote to the Iziko Council in March 2013. He noted that in the 

first and second quarter, the institution had met 90% of its performance targets and encouraged Council and 

management to maintain this excellent performance throughout this reporting period. The Minister also re-affirmed 

that the research abilities demonstrated and the outputs delivered by Iziko in various projects, including among 

others, dealing with unethically collected human remains, and leading the implementation of GRAP 103 for South 

Africa’s heritage assets. Moreover, he acknowledged the efforts made by Iziko to obtain additional funding through 

the National Job Fund. This correspondence served to confirm that the governance and performance of Iziko is 

closely monitored by the institution and Council, and reaffirms that Iziko is serious about achieving its targets and 

ensuring excellence in all areas of its operations.

3.2 Risk Management 
Risks are managed in terms of the Iziko Risk Management Policy, Disaster Management Policy, Disaster 

Management Plan and Disaster Management Procedures.

The effectiveness of risk management is monitored in terms of the Risk Register and Risk Dashboard, which 

highlight some high risks in the Risk Register that should be closely monitored. Risks are identified and analysed 

in terms of the nature of the risk, the risk consequence, the impact of the risk (critical, major, moderate, minor or 

insignificant) as well as the likelihood and frequency rating (common, likely, moderate, unlikely or rare). Existing 

risk controls are then assessed and, depending on the inherent risk rating, a risk control and reduction plan is 

implemented in terms of a time schedule. 

A comparison between the Risk Registers of 2011/12 and 2012/13 indicated that the Control Effectiveness and 

Residual Risk ratings reduced by 1,85% and 5,17% respectively. The comparison further indicated that risks were 

mitigated effectively, as the number of risks were reduced by 25,93%.

Disaster Management 
Every effort is made to avoid a disaster, but in the event of a disaster, the containment of the disaster will be 

managed through the Preparedness Strategy, which is communicated in the Disaster Management Plan and 40 

Disaster Management Procedures. Measures such as the installation of evacuation chairs for staircases and disaster 

bins have been implemented, and procedures for the use of the evacuation chairs and disaster bins have been 

developed and implemented. Other procedures, such as a procedure to manage groups of learners during a disaster, 

have also been developed.

3.3  Compliance with Laws and Regulations
There is a culture of compliance within Iziko in terms of the Constitution, legislation, regulations, as well as internal 

policies and procedures. The four main categories of legislation that apply to Iziko are related to heritage, finance, 

employment and risk management.
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Heritage
Flagship institutions were established in terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998). Iziko 

complies with this Act, as well as all other heritage-related legislation. Stipulations in legislation are communicated 

through the development of policies related to Iziko’s areas of responsibility, such as collections management, 

exhibitions, acquisitions, human remains and education. 

Finance
Policies and Procedures reflect finance-related legislation and regulations. Where Generally Recognised Accounting 

Practices (GRAP), such as GRAP 103 relating to heritage assets are implemented, a strategy is developed to ensure 

compliance.

Employment
Iziko Human Resources policies are compliant with employment-related legislation. Where amendments to relevant 

legislation become effective, the policies and procedures are amended accordingly. Iziko also adheres to deadlines 

for returns and payments related to, for example, tax, pension and medical aid, as stipulated in legislation.

Risk Management
The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999) requires Iziko 

to ensure it has and maintains effective, efficient and transparent systems of risk management.  As such, a 

Risk Register has been developed and is revised annually. Since Iziko is serious about mitigating risks in terms 

of the health and safety of staff and visitors to our museums, amendments to health and safety legislation are 

implemented promptly. For example, in March 2012 the Health and Safety Policy was revised to include 

amendments that came into effect in the same month.

3.4  Minimising Conflict of Interest
Procurement 
Supply Chain Management Officers, to the extent required by their position, should declare any business, 

commercial and financial interest or activities undertaken for financial gain that may raise a possible conflict 

of interest.

Supply Chain Management Officers should not place themselves under any financial or other obligations to outside 

individuals or organisations that may seek to influence them in the performance of their official duties. A Code of 

Conduct and Terms of Reference for Supply Chain Officials are in place and signed accordingly.

In terms of National Treasury Regulation, the mandatory document SBD 4 “Declaration of Interest” must be 

completed by each service provider that submits a price quotation and tender proposal.

In terms of Supply Chain Management procedures, panel members of the Tender Evaluation and Bid Adjudication 

committees are required to complete a Declaration of Interest form, indicating whether they are affiliated in any 

way to the bidder or service provider, and specifically if they have any business interest with the bidder or service 

provider. Where a panel member declares such a connection or business interest, the panel member must recuse 

him-/her- self from the process.



Recruitment 
Staff members are informed in their letter of appointment/ fixed-term contract that they may not directly or 

indirectly engage in business activity, undertaking or part-time employment other than that of Iziko, unless the 

specific consent of the CEO has been obtained before embarking on such activity/ interest. Staff members are also 

cautioned that the contravention of this policy could lead to dismissal.

When Iziko becomes aware of a conflict of interest which was not previously declared, an investigation is conducted 

in terms of Iziko labour relations policies and procedures. Iziko has a zero tolerance for dishonesty. A staff member 

has been dismissed in terms of dishonesty related to a conflict of interest.

3.5  Code of Conduct
When the Iziko Code of Conduct was developed, staff members were consulted. The following also informed the 

contents of the Code of Conduct:

• The Iziko commitment to being African museums of excellence that empower and inspire all people to   

celebrate and respect our diverse heritage.

• The booklet Iziko Core Values and Best Practices was developed by staff when Iziko amalgamated in 2001.  

 This document is based on the following principles:

 open and honest in all dealings and disclosures;

 non-sectarian and apolitical;

 socially and environmentally responsible;

 aspiring to excellence in the quality of our products and services;

 committed to our standing regarding integrity and credibility;

 consistent in honouring our legal and moral obligations; and

 aware of the need to foster loyalty and long enduring relationships.

• Common law principles related to the following duties of employees were also incorporated in the Code of Conduct:

 tender full performance;

 follow reasonable instructions;

 act with confidentiality and in good faith in terms of the employer’s business;

 deal honestly with the property of the employer; and

 accept that the employer has the right to exercise some measure of control over the manner in which the  

 employee’s work is performed.

Any code of conduct breach is dealt with in terms of the workplace relations policies.

3.6  Health, Safety and Environmental Issues
Iziko has a dedicated Health, Safety and Security Officer who has an international qualification in health and safety 

and who continuously receives training to stay abreast of new research and methodologies.

Training in first aid and fire fighting is prioritised as Priority 1 in the Learning and Development Programme. 

Iziko annually provides training in first aid and fire fighting, as these courses remain valid for only 3 and 2 years, 

respectively.



PAGE 45

Museum Attendants are trained at Security Grade E and D levels. Once qualified, Museum Attendants must be 

registered at the Private Security Industry Regulatory Authority (PSIRA).

Iziko also provides training at Security Grade E and D levels to Cleaners. Although this is not a required qualification 

for a Cleaner, this competency investment ensures that Cleaners are more vigilant when cleaning public spaces, 

and it also provides them with an advantage should they apply for a Museum Attendant position.

Iziko also ensures that buildings are maintained in a safe condition. All sites controlled by Iziko (except Iziko 

Bertram House) have been upgraded to accommodate persons with disabilities. In addition, staff members received 

training on disability awareness in the reporting period.

3.7  Social Responsibility 
3.7.1  Entrance Fee Concessions 
A key strategic objective for Iziko is to ensure an increased and diverse audience, specifically from communities 

who previously lacked access to heritage resources. Our aim is to grow a new generation of museum goers and 

entrench an appreciation of the importance of culture as the lifeblood of our nation and essential part of our 

humanity among youth. 

Iziko has developed a comprehensive strategy to reposition our museums as South African museums for all, 

and to change the perception of exclusivity that is a legacy of apartheid. Promoting access and proactive audience 

development with a focus on youth is prioritised via the implementation in recent years of a policy of free entry to 

youth (18 years and under) to our museums (with the exception of the Castle of Good Hope and Planetarium); and 

free days (aligned with a commemorative day calendar) throughout the year.

During the reporting period, the number and value of these concessions has been substantial. Like many local 

museums, Iziko is increasingly faced with financial constraints, and thus must balance the need for access with the 

need to ensure sustainability. Iziko has strategically reviewed its pricing strategy and a decision was made not to 

retain Iziko’s ‘free to 18 and under’ policy going forward, but rather to implement a refined and more diversified 

‘integrity’ pricing strategy. This strategy will not only continue to offer free entry for all on commemorative days, 

but also incentivise visitors with discounted rates via: family tickets; annual memberships; half-price entries during 

school holidays; and free entry for children 5 and under (excluding the Planetarium). 

A total of 28,860 visitors benefited from free commemorative day concessions in 2012/13. The Rand value 

equivalent of these concessions based on our normal rates is R317,460.

In addition, 55,509 youths benefited from our ‘free to 18 years and under’ policy, and a further 17,677 children  

benefited from concessions at the Castle of Good Hope. The Rand value equivalent of these concessions, based on 

our normal rates, is R610,599.

The value of entrance fee concessions for the reporting period totals R928,059.



3.7.2  Educational Concessions
The Education & Public Programmes department (EPP) of Iziko offers support to institutions and organisations that 

request assistance regarding transport to our sites, reduction in entry fees, or free entry to our museums. 

• Sponsored transportation for learners for museum visits and educational tours: For the reporting period, we  

 offered eight institutions free transport for a total of 463 learners, with an equivalent Rand value of R14,160.  

 This cost was covered by Iziko. In addition, we received funding totalling R70,000 from the HCI Foundation and  

 Peninsula Beverage, enabling us to transport an additional 3,053 learners and visitors to our museums.

• Free and discounted school visits: Iziko allowed free and discounted entry to 12 organisations, which included  

 schools and organisations from historically underprivileged communities, special needs institutions and welfare  

 organisations. These concessions benefited 546 learners, with an equivalent Rand value of R2,212.

• Use of venues for educational purposes: Many organisations make use of our venues for educational purposes,  

 and in some cases we offer them reduced costs for the use of our facilities. For the period, we allowed four  

 organisations to make use of our venues at a reduced cost of R7,000 as opposed to the actual cost of R12,000.  

 In total, 170 people attended over a period of nine days. 

• Youth skills development: As part of Iziko’s contribution to skills development, we conducted a Museum Youth  

 Programme in partnership with the City of Cape Town, and introduced 31 young people to the field of museology.  

 The programme was facilitated by EPP, and assisted by the curatorial and collection professional staff who shared  

 their expertise and skills with the young people.

Ten young people from Cyan Development were exposed to exhibition-making skills and used their skills developed 

to assist with the installation of the Spoken–Unspoken, HIV/Aids exhibition at the Iziko South African Museum. 

The value of educational concessions for the reporting period totals R91,372.

CATHSSETA intern, Mzikayise Christopher Cele, helps clear 
the Social History Collections textile store. 

Education Outreach Officer, Sthembele Harmans, 
gets kids hands-on for Mandela Day 2012.
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Participants in a writing workshop, part of the 
Iziko Summer School 2013 programme.

Young people discover their museums during 
the Iziko Heritage Day 2012 programme.

3.7.3  Internships
Wherever possible, Iziko facilitates internships across various departments and areas of expertise. Many of these 

diverse intern programmes are part of ongoing institutional relationships with academic institutions. During the 

reporting period, Iziko supported a total of 30 internships of varying durations. A further 22 Work integrated 

Learning Students (WILS) were also accommodated. 

Iziko thus provided work experience opportunities to a total of 52 individuals during the reporting period.

As a result of the internships provided, a number of incumbents secured permanent employment.



Interns 2012/2013

DEPARTMENT NO. OF INTERNS DETAIL OF INTERNSHIP 

Institutional Advancement 3 An ongoing and mutually beneficial workplace learning 
programme with Cape Peninsula University of Technology 
(CPUT), providing a nine-month internship for 3 final year 
students studying for a National Diploma in Public Relations 
Management, has been run annually via the Department of 
Institutional Advancement since 2009.

The interns complete various tasks linked to marketing and 
communications activities, and also operate as a public 
relations team. These interns have all achieved excellent 
academic results. 

Education and Public 
Programmes 

13 10 graduates were part of an internship programme presented 
by our Education & Public Programmes department in 
collaboration with the Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and 
Sport Sector Education and Training Authority (CATHSSETA) 
this year. The graduates were mentored and supervised by 
our professional Core Functions staff in art, natural history, 
and social history collections, and education. Through the 
experience gained at Iziko, some of these graduates have 
since been employed in the field of museums and heritage. 

In addition, 3 interns from the University Kael in Germany 
were hosted, allowing mutually beneficial exchange of skills 
and cultural interactions. 

Natural History Collections 2 The Natural History department hosted interns from the 
Department of Science and Technology (DST) and the 
University of Poiters, France this year.

Art Collections 4 The Collections Manager mentored a number of interns and 
volunteers during this period including: 2 paper conservation 
interns from Michigan University and North Umbria University, 
2 art history students from the University of Cape Town. 

In addition, 5 informal mentorships by various curators and 
staff from the Art Collections department advanced the 
careers of local art students.

Social History Collections 8 The National Heritage Council (NHC); CATHSSETA; DST; and 
the University of Michigan funded a total of 8 internships that 
focused on collections management, conservation, exhibition-
making and pre-colonial archaeology in the Social History 
Collections department.

1 CATHSSETA and 1 NHC intern were subsequently offered 
positions in museums in KwaZulu-Natal and the Western Cape 
respectively. In addition, 2 students from the University of 
the Western Cape’s (UWC) Robben Island African Programme 
in Museum and Heritage Studies were trained in an unpaid 
internship for 6 weeks, from 28 May to 6 July 2012.

The MTN Foundation funded short internships during the 
exhibition at the Castle, the MTN New Contemporaries Award 
Exhibition 2012 in December 2012 and January 2013.
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The Whale Well at the Iziko South African Museum proved to be the perfect setting for 
guests of the Department of Science & Technology during Palaeontology Week, 2012.

3.7.4  Venue Hire Waivers
Iziko Museums of South Africa offers its diverse range of versatile venues for corporate events, cocktail functions, 

conferences and weddings, large and small, for hire to public and private sector role players. Revenue from the hire 

of Iziko’s unique venues is a key source of additional revenue and serves to bring new audiences into our museums, 

thus promoting these national heritage sites often to high-level guests and decision-makers.

Iziko also seeks to balance these commercial hires by extending the benefits of our facilities to civil society, not-for-

profits, cultural institutions and governmental partners, where appropriate, via waiver of venue hire fees for events, 

lectures and performances. 

During the reporting period, approved partners benefited, including: the Department of Arts and Culture; Parliament; 

the Castle Control Board; Western Cape Heritage Council; Theatre in the Park; the French Embassy; Business Art 

South Africa; the Cape Town Festival; the Gordon institute for Performing and Creative Arts (GIPCA). 

The value of venue hire waivers based on normal rates totalled R126,095.



4. HUMAN RESOURCE
 MANAGEMENT
One of two tin metal cut-outs of hands, made by Outa Lappies c. 1990s, donated to Iziko by Iain Campbell.
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4.1 Introduction
4.1.1 The Value of Human Resources
Iziko Museums of South Africa is a leading player in the heritage sector. As museums of excellence, we take pride 

in what we offer to South Africans and foreign visitors in respect of our programmes. The success of the Museum 

is directly linked to staff input at all levels of the institution.

4.1.2 Human Resource Priorities for the Year Under Review      
 and the Impact of these Priorities 
Our human resource priorities are linked to Iziko’s Strategic Plan, which filters through to our Annual Performance 

Plan. Learning and development, improved customer services and the improvement of organisational climate and 

culture remain key priorities. 

4.1.3 Workforce Planning Framework and Key Strategies to Attract and Recruit   
 a Skilled and Capable Workforce
There was a continued focus on the review of the organisational structure, with a view of ensuring optimal 

utilisation of skills. It was specifically communicated to staff that the current restructuring process would not result 

in retrenchments.

The revised structure will be informed by our purpose as an institution and our current Strategic and Annual 

Performance Plans. 

In addition, consideration will be given to long-term projects and legislative compliance, such as the Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 103, which will require specific collections management skills to 

ensure compliance.

Vacant positions are advertised in newspapers with a high Black readership, placed on the Iziko website, and 

distributed to interest groups and networks. 

Employee retention, and especially the retention of staff from designated groups, remains an important focus. 

A succession development programme for employees from designated groups was therefore implemented in the 

reporting period. 

4.1.4  Employee Performance Management Framework
Employee performance is assessed every six months by way of a formal performance appraisal system. The 

assessments reflect the levels of performance of staff, and further provide valuable information on development 

needs and possible career advancement.

Employees are also rewarded by way of a performance bonus for excellent and above average performance in their 

respective groups and in line with the performance reward system.
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4.2 Human Resource Oversight Statistics 
On 31 March 2013, there were 246 staff members in the employ of Iziko, comprising 195 staff members appointed 

indefinitely, 13 on long-term contracts with benefits, and 38 appointed on fixed-term contracts without benefits. 

Of the 38 staff members appointed on short fixed-term contracts, the salaries of 16 were funded externally, 

including four post-graduates funded by the National Research Foundation, and five staff members funded by the 

Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) to assist with the Courtyard Project.

4.3 Expenditure

TABLE 1. PERSONNEL COSTS FOR 2012/13

TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE

TRAININg 
EXPENDITURE

CONSULTANCy 
SERVICES

PERSONNEL 
COSTS AS 

% OF TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE

AVERAgE 
PERSONNEL 

COST PER 
EMPLOyEE

R71,941,890 R52,375,161 R366,402 R557,885 72,80% R227,718

4.3.1  Average Personnel Cost Per Employee
The cost per employee increased compared to the previous financial year, primarily due to the annual salary 

increase of 6,96% awarded in August 2012. Performance awards were awarded to 54 staff and 3 senior managers, 

in line with the Iziko Performance Management reward system, recognising above average and excellent 

performance.

4.3.2  Training Expenditure
Annually, Iziko allocates 1% of the annual salary budget towards learning and development. The percentage of the 

salary budget is calculated in terms of the Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 9 of 1999), and not on the 

total personnel expenditure. Training expenditure is therefore less than 1% of the total personnel expenditure.

TABLE 2. DETAILS OF THE 2012/13 SALARY EXPENDITURE

SALARIES OVERTIME HOUSINg SUBSIDy

Amount Salaries as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount Overtime as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount Housing Subsidy 
as a % of 
personnel cost

R34,127,010 65,16% R1,233,607 2,36% R479,278 0,92%

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 
(STAFF)

MEDICAL AID CONTRIBUTIONS 
(PENSIONERS)

PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

Amount Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Staff) as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Pensioners) as 
a % of personnel 
cost

Amount Pension 
Contributions as 
a % of personnel 
cost

R2,704,129 5,16% R1,608,838 3,07% R6,164,366 11,77%



FIXED ALLOWANCES OTHER ALLOWANCES LECTURE FEES

Amount Fixed Allowances 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Other 
Allowances  as a 
% of personnel 
cost

Amount Lecture Fees as 
a % of personnel 
cost

R1,004,040 1,92% R152,373 0,29% R22,000 0,04%

ANNUAL BONUSES
ONCE-OFF PERFORMANCE 

BONUSES
*SUBSISTENCE & TRAVEL

Amount Annual Bonuses 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Once-off 
Performance 
Bonuses as a % 
of personnel cost

Amount Subsistence & 
Travel as a % of 
personnel cost

R2,871,057 5,48% R825,860 1,58% R30,131 0,06%

STATUTORy LEVIES (UIF & WCA)
LEAVE gRATUITIES ON 

TERMINATION
TOTAL PERSONNEL 

EXPENDITURE

Amount Statutory 
Levies as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Leave Gratuities 
as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount Percentage

R346,478 0,66% R805,995 1,54% R52,375,161 100%

*The amount R30,131 includes subsistence of R26,895.57 and travel costs of R3,235.90 included in personnel costs herein, but allocated to 
operational expenses in the financial statements.

4.3.3  Salaries
Salary expenditure increased from R32,391,907 to R34,127,010 mainly due to salary improvements and the 

appointment of staff members in vacant positions. Council approved a salary increase of 6,96% for staff. 

This increase is equal to the annual increase in the grant received from DAC.

4.3.4  Overtime
Iziko sites remain open to the public on weekends and public holidays. Our front of house staff would be required to 

work overtime over these periods.

Income is generated from venue hire, which at times requires security duties to be performed after normal work 

hours. The cost of overtime associated with venue hire events is reflected in the overtime expenditure, and 

accounts for R63,690 of the total.

The overtime expenditure increased from R1,181,339 to R1,233,607 since the last reporting period. 

Overtime cost calculated as a percentage of personnel cost reduced from 2,44% to 2,36% compared to the 

previous period. The percentage spent on overtime (other than staff working overtime to keep museums open on 

public holidays or weekends, and staff doing duties at venue hire events) remains small. Staff are only used when 

required or due to unforeseen circumstances.

4.3.5  Housing Subsidies
Staff members appointed prior to 1 October 2004 and who qualify to participate in the housing subsidy scheme 

receive a housing subsidy of R1,000 per month. Staff members who were appointed on or after 1 October 2004 and 

who qualify to participate in the housing scheme receive R500 per month.
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The amount spent on housing subsidies increased from R444,952 to R479,278. This increase is as a result of 

additional staff members taking up the benefit.

4.3.6  Medical Aid Contributions (Staff)
Medical aid contributions increased from R2,608,827 to R2,704,129, largely due to the increase in medical aid fees 

and additional staff members having joined the medical aid scheme.

4.3.7  Medical Aid Contributions (Pensioners)
Medical aid contributions for pensioners increased from R1,398,505 to R1,608,838 due to the increase in medical 

aid fees and five staff members having retired and becoming eligible for post-retirement medical aid benefits. One 

member passed away in the reporting period. 

Employees appointed after 1 October 2004 do not qualify for the post-retirement medical aid benefits.

4.3.8  Pension Contributions
Pension contributions in terms of a Rand value increased from R5,833,846 to R6,164,366. Pension contributions 

are based on pensionable salary, so when salaries increase, the pension contributions also increase. In addition, 

30 new staff members received pension benefits, whereas the services of 21 staff members were terminated during 

the period.

When considered as a percentage of personnel cost, pension contributions have decreased from 12,05% to 11,77%. 

This reflects a change in staff pension benefits that occurs when staff who qualified for the higher percentage 

employer contribution leave the organisation and are replaced by staff who qualify for the lower rate of employer 

contribution.

4.3.9  Fixed Allowances
The amount spent on fixed allowances increased from R901,287 to R1,004,040, an increase of 11,4%. This is due, in 

part, to the annual increase in fixed allowances and the inclusion of cellphone allowances for four staff members.

4.3.10  Other Allowances for Additional Work
Once-off allowances were paid to staff members who took on additional duties or where more senior positions 

were vacant and filled by the secondment of a more junior staff member. This expenditure increased from R110,430 

to R152,373. Two staff members who have taken on additional work associated with the Courtyard Project also 

received allowances.

4.3.11  Lecture Fees
Planetarium lecture fees decreased from R22,620 to R22,000.

4.3.12  Annual Bonus
This expenditure increased from R2,502,230 to R2,871,057. The bonus expenditure is linked to salaries, so when 

salaries increase, bonuses also increase.



4.3.13  Once-off Performance Bonuses
Staff members received a once-off performance bonus if they performed in the excellent category (in the top 10% 

of their group) and above average category (in the next 20% of their group).

In the reporting period, a once-off performance bonus equal to 75% (for excellent ratings) or 50% (for above-average 

ratings) of one month’s salary was awarded. The number of staff members who received a once-off performance bonus 

was 57, inclusive of three senior managers. The amount awarded for performance bonuses in the reporting period was 

R825,860, which includes an amount for bonuses still to be paid to senior managers in the next reporting period.

4.3.14  Subsistence and Travel
The expenditure in these categories decreased from R58,489 to R30,131. The figure for the reporting period 

excludes subsistence and travel expenses paid to staff who travelled on fieldwork and to conferences associated 

with research or other activities if their claims were funded from external sources. Those expenses are allocated to 

those particular accounts and do not accrue to personnel costs.

4.3.15  Statutory Levies
UIF and WCA levies are directly related to salaries, as these levies are calculated as a percentage of salary. In 

addition, the threshold for UIF earning increased from October 2012, resulting in higher UIF contributions for a 

number of staff. These factors account for the increase from R322,836 to R346,478 during this reporting period.

4.3.16  Leave Gratuities
The value of leave is based on the salary package of the staff member. Leave gratuities paid to staff whose services 

terminated increased from R78,109 to R234,344 in the current period. The additional amount of R571,652 is 

attributable to the increase in the leave liability as at the end of the reporting period.

4.4  Employment and Vacancies
4.4.1  Appointments and Vacancies
In June 2012, an advertisement was placed for 10 positions, one contract and nine indefinite (permanent) positions. 

An advertisement was placed internally on 2 April 2012 to appoint 13 cleaning staff. This occurred as a result of Iziko 

moving away from the use of labour brokers and instead appointing these persons as indefinite staff members. An 

advertisement was also placed for Museum Attendants (pool staff) in December 2012.

Three positions were advertised internally as secondment opportunities when vacancies arose in key positions. 

This not only allowed the positions to be temporarily filled, but also created development opportunities for staff 

members at lower levels. A further two staff members with specialised skills were seconded to positions at a higher 

level. This resulted in five staff members being seconded into more senior positions.

Thirty staff members were appointed indefinitely or on long-term fixed-term contracts with benefits during the 

reporting period.

4.4.2 Terminations
In the current reporting period, the services of a total of 55 staff members were terminated. Of these, 21 were 

indefinite and long-term contract staff and 34 were short-term contract staff. The reasons for their leaving are 

provided in Table 3.



PAGE 57

TABLE 3. REASONS WHY STAFF MEMBERS ARE LEAVING THE INSTITUTION

INDEFINITE 
STAFF

CONTRACT 
STAFF 

TOTAL 
TERMINATIONS

% OF 
TOTAL

Death 1 0 1 0,4%

Resignations 7 4 11 4,5%

Expiry of contract 2 28 30 12,2%

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0 0 0,0%

Dismissal – misconduct 5 2 7 2,8%

Discharge due to ill health 0 0 0 0,0%

Retirement 6 0 6 2,4%

Other (Abscondment) 0 0 0 0,0%

Total 21 34 55  

Total number of employees who left as a % 
of the total employment at 31 March 2013    22,4%

Iziko staff at the opening of the The isishweshwe story: material women? 
exhibition, at the Iziko Slave Lodge, 22 February 2013.

Conservators clean furniture contained in the 
Iziko Social History Collections stores.



4.5 Job Evaluation
No grading of positions was performed during the reporting period.

4.6 Employment Changes

TABLE 4. ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE BY SALARY LEVELS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

OCCUPATIONAL 
LEVELS

NO. OF 
EMPLOyEES 

ON 
31 MARCH 

2012

NO. OF 
EMPLOyEES 
ON 1 APRIL 

2012

APPOINTMENTS 
& TRANSFERS 

INTO THE 
INSTITUTION

TERMINATIONS 
& TRANSFERS 
OUT OF THE 
INSTITUTION

TURN-
OVER 
RATE

TRANSFERS 
INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS 
FROM 
LEVEL

NO. OF 
EMPLOyEES 

ON 
31 MARCH 

2013

NO. OF 
EMPLOyEES 
ON 1 APRIL 

2013

Senior 
Management 3 3 0 0 0,00% 0 0 3 3

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists 
and mid-
management 8 8 0 0 0,00% 0 0 8 7

Skilled 
technical and 
academically 
qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents 113 113 3 10 8,85% 0 0 106 105

Semi-
skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-
making 70 69 14 8 11,43% 0 0 75 75

Unskilled 
and defined 
decision-
making 4 4 13 1 25,00% 0 0 16 16

TOTAL 
INDEFINITE 
STAFF 198 197 30 19 9,60% 0 0 208 206

CONTRACT 
STAFF 43 34 35 31 72,09% 0 0 38 35

TOTAL STAFF 241 231 65 50 20,75% 0 0 246 241
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4.7  Promotions
There were three promotions of indefinite staff members in the reporting period:

TABLE 5. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS PROMOTED 1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

NO. GROUP GENDER FORMER POSITION NEW POSITION

1 White Female Remuneration & Benefits Coordinator Human Resources Manager

2 White Female Assistant Curator Curator*

3 African Male Museum Attendant (contract) Collections Assistant

*Person with a disability.

4.8  Employment Equity

TABLE 6. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS 
ON 31 MARCH 2013

POST LEVEL
MALE FEMALE

FOREIGN 
NATIONALS

TOTAL

A C I W A C I W M F

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 3

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and mid-
management 0 2 1 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 8

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents 6 25 0 12 12 34 4 19 1 3 116

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making 21 27 0 3 18 30 0 2 2 0 103

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making 4 2 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 16

TOTAL INDEFINITE 
STAFF 23 48 1 15 33 57 4 23 3 1 208

CONTRACT STAFF 9 8 0 1 2 13 1 2 0 2 38

TOTAL STAFF 32 56 1 16 35 70 5 25 3 3 246



Iziko employs the Employment Equity strategy which determines that if a suitable Black applicant cannot be found 

and a White applicant is found to be the most suitable applicant for a position that is in an occupational level 

where White males or females are over-represented, then the most suitable applicant may be appointed, but only 

on a fixed-term contract (with benefits) for a period of no more than three years, on condition that the appointee 

transfers skills to a Black employee.

Of the 30 appointments made to indefinite and long-term fixed-term positions, all were from previously 

disadvantaged groups.

Since 2003/04, Iziko has made steady progress in addressing the imbalances in its workforce profile using 

opportunities offered by the 189 indefinite terminations in the period 2003–04 to 2012–13. In 2006/07, certain 

reporting criteria for Employment Equity changed, and therefore the table below reflects the progress made 

towards ensuring representivity in the Iziko Workforce Profile since the 2006/07 reporting period, as the 2012/13 

figures are not comparable with the 2003/04 figures.

TABLE 7. COMPARISON OF THE WORKFORCE PROFILES OF 2006–07 AND 2012–13

 MALE FEMALE 
FOREIGN 

NATIONALS 
TOTAL

 A C I W A C I W MALE FEMALE  

March 
2007

22 54 0 22 34 52 0 36 5 3 228

Percentage 9,65% 23,68% 0,00% 9,65% 14,91% 22,81% 0,00% 15,79% 2,19% 1,32%  

March 2013 32 56 1 16 35 70 5 25 3 3 246

Percentage 13,01% 22,76% 0,41% 6,50% 14,22% 28,46% 2,03% 10,16% 1,22% 1,22%  

Difference 10 1 1 -6 1 18 5 -11 -2 0  

Percentage 
change

3,36% -0,92% 0,41% -3,15% -0,69% 5,65% 2,03% -5,63% -0,97% -0,10%  

The percentages of White males and females have decreased significantly. The number of African males and 

Coloured females has shown correspondingly significant increases.

4.9  Foreign Workers
The number of foreign workers has remained the same as in the previous reporting period. Three of the six foreign 

workers are African nationals.

4.10  Leave Utilisation for the Period 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013
4.10.1  Annual Leave
The annual leave liability is R2,206,921 and is reflected in trade and other payables.
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4.10.2  Sick Leave

TABLE 8. SUMMARY OF SICK LEAVE 1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

STATUS
NUMBER OF STAFF 

MEMBERS
TOTAL DAYS TAKEN 

PER YEAR

AVERAGE DAYS 
TAKEN PER 

PERSON PER YEAR

COST OF SICK 
LEAVE TAKEN THIS 

YEAR

Indefinite 227 1,552 6,84  R863,755.15 

Contract 69 140 2,03  R54,510.21 

Total 296 1,692 5,72  R918,265.35 

The number of staff members includes staff members whose services were terminated during the reporting period. 

The average number of sick leave days taken in the previous reporting period was 6,29 and this number has 

decreased to 5,72 in this reporting period.

4.10.3  Special Leave
During the reporting period, leave was granted for maternity, family responsibility, compassionate, religious and 

study purposes.

4.11 Health Promotion Programmes
Staff members who are members of Bestmed were invited to a health day where testing was done for HIV, 

glucose levels, rapid cholesterol, rapid PSA, and hypertension. Following from these tests, the staff members were 

individually informed of their test results and risk factors. Staff identified as being at risk were advised to seek 

further medical advice.

In addition, arrangements were made for regular visits by a Bestmed consultant to meet with staff to educate them 

on benefit options and to assist with queries.

4.12 Labour Relations

TABLE 9.  DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN FROM 1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

MALE FEMALE
OUTCOME

A C I W A C I W

2 1 0 0 2 1 0 1 Dismissal

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Final Written Warning

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Written Warning

Seven staff members were dismissed during the reporting period. Of these dismissals, three were for dishonesty 

and four for unauthorised absence from work. Only two dismissals were referred to the CCMA in the period. 

All CCMA awards have been in favour of Iziko, which is an indication that Iziko employs fair labour practices and 

compliance with employment legislation.



4.13  Skills Development
4.13.1  Learning and Development
Emphasis was placed on training initiatives in line with Iziko’s strategic priorities and risk management that would 

support the organisation in achieving its objectives. During the reporting period, there was continued training in 

fields such as security, first-aid and fire-fighting training.

4.13.2  Training Opportunities
Table 10 reflects the number of staff members who received training in the reporting period. In some instances, 

staff members attended more than one training course. These training opportunities are reflected in Table 11.

TABLE 10. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OCCUPATIONAL LEVEL WHO RECEIVED TRAINING 
DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

POST LEVEL
MALE FEMALE

TOTAL
A C I W A C I W

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3

Professionally qualified 
and experienced specialists 
and mid-management 0 2 1 1 0 1 0 3 8

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 4 16 0 10 10 26 4 13 83

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision-
making 8 11 0

                                              
1 16 17 0 2 55

Unskilled and defined 
decision-making 3 3 0 0 5 4 0 0 15

TOTAL INDEFINITE STAFF 16 32 1 12 31 48 5 19 164

CONTRACT STAFF 1 1 0 1 1 9 0 1 14

TOTAL STAFF 17 33 1 13 32 57 5 20 178

TABLE 11.  TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED OVER THE PERIOD  
1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

MALE FEMALE TOTAL

A C I W A C I W

28 63 2 27 69 139 10 57 395
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TABLE 12. TOTAL NUMBER OF TERTIARY TRAINING COURSES SUPPORTED BY IZIKO OVER 
THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2012 TO 31 MARCH 2013

MALE FEMALE
TOTAL

A C I W A C I W

0 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 3

During the period, 395 training opportunities were offered to staff, and a total of 178 staff members benefited from 

the training offered. In addition, Iziko approved study assistance in terms of the Iziko Learning and Development 

Policy for 7 staff members, of which 3 staff members were able to proceed with their studies in the financial year. 

Two of the three staff members who benefited from financial assistance to study further were from designated 

groups.

4.14 Injury on Duty
In the reporting period, 13 incidents of injuries on duty were reported. Most were of a relatively minor nature. 

However, one incident involved a serious hand injury. When the staff member returned to work, he was temporarily 

deployed to other duties to accommodate his recovery. An investigation followed the incident, and measures were 

implemented to mitigate future risk.

4.15 Utilisation of Consultants
An amount of R557,885 was spent on consultants, compared to R708,261, showing a significant reduction in the 

use of consultants.

Consultants were appointed to manage capital works for Iziko, as well as for conservation of artworks, database 

installations, planetarium lectures and assistance with fundraising.

Some of our friendly front of house staff at the 
Iziko South African Museum.

Packing beadwork collections, 
Iziko Social History Collections.



Siemon Allen’s “Labels”, an installation of record covers, disc and other images that 
reflect South African music and musicians, Iziko Slave Lodge.

5. FINANCIAL 
 INFORMATION
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITy 
The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Council to ensure that 

Iziko Museums of South Africa (Iziko) keeps full and proper records of its financial affairs. The annual financial 

statements should fairly present the state of affairs of Iziko, its financial results, its performance against 

predetermined objectives, and its financial position at the end of the year in terms of the prescribed Standards 

of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility of the Council. The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA) 

is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the financial statements. The AGSA has audited Iziko’s 

financial statements, and the Auditor-General’s report appears on page 70.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised 

Accounting Practices, including any interpretation of such statements issued by the Accounting Standards Board. 

These annual financial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgements and estimates.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2013. On the basis of 

the review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko will be 

a going concern in the year ahead, and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial 

statements.

The Council sets standards to enable management to meet the above responsibilities by implementing systems of 

internal control and risk management, where possible, that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute 

assurance against material misstatements and losses. The entity maintains internal financial controls to provide 

assurance regarding:

• The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition; and

• The maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial information used within Iziko or  

 for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are 

identified. Even an effective system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, 

including the possibility of circumvention or the overriding of controls. An effective system of internal control, 

therefore, aims to provide reasonable assurance with respect to the reliability of financial information and the 

presentation of financial statements. However, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal 

financial controls may vary over time.
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The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal control and risk management for the period from 1 April 2012 

to 31 March 2013. The Council is of the opinion that Iziko’s systems of internal control and risk management were 

effective for the period under review. 

In the opinion of the Council, based on the information available to date, the annual financial statements fairly 

present the financial position of Iziko at 31 March 2013 and the results of its operations and cash flow information 

for the year, and that the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has been adhered to.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013, set out on pages 78 to 124, were submitted for 

auditing on 31 May 2013 and approved by the Council in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance Management 

Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, and are signed on its behalf by:

      

Ms Rooksana Omar Prof. Ciraj Rassool 

Chief Executive Officer Chairman of Council 

31 July 2013 31 July 2013   

Date Date   



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE FINANCIAL yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

We are pleased to present the Audit Committee Report for Iziko Museums of South Africa for the financial year 

ended 31 March 2013.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance 
The Audit Committee met four times during the year to 31 March 2013. The attendance of the sittings of the Audit 

Committee for the period 1 April 2012–31 March 2013 was follows:

Name of member   Number of Meetings Attended 

     year to 31 March 2013

Mr AP Wakaba (Chairman)  2

Mr MR Hassim    4

Ms LAK Robinson   3

In addition, the Audit Committee was represented in discussions with the Auditor-General in the planning and 

review of the 2012/13 audit.

Representatives of the Auditor-General attended the Audit Committee meetings, as required.

Audit Committee Responsibility 
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from sections 51(1) (a) (ii) and 

76(4) (d) of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.

The Audit Committee further reports that it reviewed and reaffirmed the Audit Committee Charter during the year, 

has regulated its affairs in compliance with this Charter, and has discharged its responsibilities as contained therein.

Internal Audit 
The Internal Audit function has substantially fulfilled its responsibilities as set out in the Internal Audit Charter. 

A risk-based three-year and one-year Internal Audit Plan was considered and adopted by the Audit Committee, 

as required by Treasury Regulation 27.2.7.

Internal Control 
Internal control is the system of controls and directives that is designed to provide cost-effective assurance that 

assets are safeguarded, that liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed, and that the organisation fulfils 

its mandate, in compliance with all relevant statutory and governance duties and requirements.

From the review undertaken by Internal Audit, the Audit Committee is able to report that the system of internal 

control for the year under review was effective.

Reporting on Predetermined Objectives 
The Audit Committee has reviewed Iziko’s reported performance information against selected predetermined 

objectives, reviewing the manner in which the outcomes and achievements relating to performance are measured 

and reported. There were no material findings.
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Evaluation of Financial Statements 
The Audit Committee has:  

• Reviewed and discussed the Annual Financial Statements included in the annual report with the Auditor- 

 General and with the Chief Executive Officer on behalf of Council, which is Iziko’s accounting authority;

• Reviewed the Auditor-General’s Management Report and management responses;

• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices, where applicable; and

• Reviewed and endorsed adjustment that resulted from the audit.

The Audit Committee accordingly concurs with and supports the Auditor-General’s conclusion on the Annual 

Financial Statements, and is of the opinion that the audited Annual Financial Statements should be accepted 

and read together with the Auditor-General’s report.

Stakeholders 
The Committee, on behalf of the Iziko Council, extends its gratitude to the management team, the Auditor-

General and the Internal Audit unit for the manner in which they have discharged their duties to safeguard 

good governance. The Committee thanks the Council for the support and confidence it has placed on it.

 

Mr AP Wakaba 

Audit Committee Chairman

31 July 2013

Date



REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-gENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON IzIkO MUSEUMS OF SOUTH AFRICA

Report on the financial statements
Introduction
1. I have audited the financial statements of the Iziko Museums of South Africa set out on pages 74 to 124, which  

 comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013, the statement of financial performance,  

 statement of changes in net assets, the cash flow statement and the statement of comparison of budget and  

 actual amounts for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies  

 and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements  

 in accordance with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of  

 GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999)  

 (PFMA), and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the  

 preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my  

 audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the general  

 notice issued in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply  

 with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the  

 financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the  

 financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment  

 of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

 risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

 of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

 but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit  

 also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, and the reasonableness of accounting  

 estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Iziko

 Museums of South Africa as at 31 March 2013, and its financial performance, cash flows and comparison  

 of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the  

 requirements of the PMFA.

Emphasis of matters
7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.
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Restatement of corresponding figures
8. As disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2012 have been  

 restated as a result of errors discovered during the 2012-13 financial year in the financial statements of Iziko  

 Museums of South Africa at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2012.

Financial reporting framework
9. As disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements, the entity has made use of the transitional provision per  

 Directive 2 for the initial adoption of GRAP 103, Heritage assets, whereby entities are not required to measure  

 heritage assets for reporting periods beginning on or after a date within three years following the date of  

 initial adoption.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
10. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings  

 relevant to performance against predetermined objectives, compliance with laws and regulations and internal  

 control, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives 

11. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information in the annual  

 performance report as set out on pages 27 to 39 of the annual report. 

12. The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of  

 usefulness and reliability for the programmes selected for auditing. The usefulness of information in the annual 

 performance report relates to whether it is presented in accordance with the National Treasury’s annual  

 reporting principles, and whether the reported performance is consistent with the planned objectives. The  

 usefulness of information further relates to whether indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. well defined,  

 verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) and relevant as required by the National Treasury Framework  

 for managing programme performance information.

13. The reliability of the information in respect of the selected programmes is assessed to determine whether it  

 adequately reflects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, accurate and complete).

14. There were no material findings on the annual performance report concerning the usefulness and reliability of  

 the information.

Compliance with laws and regulations
15. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity had complied with applicable laws and regulations  

 regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. My findings on material 

 non-compliance with specific matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the general notice  

 issued in terms of the PAA are as follows:



Financial statements
16. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed financial  

 reporting framework as required by section 55(1)(b) of the PFMA. Material misstatements of revenue,   

 expenditure, the disclosure of the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts, as well as disclosure  

 required of the treatment of heritage assets identified by the auditors in the submitted financial statement were  

 subsequently corrected, resulting in the financial statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Internal control
17. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, performance report and   

 compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported below under the fundamentals of internal control  

 are limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the finding on compliance with laws and regulations  

 included in this report. 

Financial and performance management
18. Management was not fully aware of the requirements and disclosure requirements brought about by the  

 changes to the prescribed accounting framework specifically relating to GRAP 24, Presentation of budget  

 information in financial statements and the disclosure requirements of Directive 2 in relation to heritage assets.

Other reports
Donor funding
19. As requested by the public entity, a donor funding engagement was conducted on the current and previous  

 year on specific procedures relating to the National Research Fund (NRF). The reports covered the period  

 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012, respectively. The report for the  

 year ended 31 December 2011 was issued on 29 June 2012, while the report for 31 December 2012 was issued 

 on 10 July 2013.

Cape Town

31 July 2013
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ACCOUNTINg AUTHORITy’S REPORT 
Report by the Council to the Executive Authority, Minister of Arts and Culture, and Parliament of the Republic of 

South Africa.

1. General Review of the State of Financial Affairs
Iziko’s results for the year show satisfactory progress despite the adverse economic climate. Cash and cash 

equivalents have increased by 30% from R43,444,964 to R56,383,451. This increase is due mainly to the fact that 

funds were received from the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) for major capital works projects to develop the 

courtyard at the Iziko South African Museum and to improve Iziko’s infrastructure and communication capability in 

line with its Strategic Plan. 

Iziko received most of its funding through a subsidy allocation from the government, i.e. the national Department 

of Arts and Culture. During the year under review, Iziko’s total revenue increased by 6% from R70,887,130 to 

R74,887,541.

The subsidy allocation from DAC increased by 7% from R53,920,000 to R57,672,000 for the year. The subsidy 

represents 77% of total income, while 4% was received from Government for Capital Works Projects, 5% of income 

was derived from donor funding and 14% of the total income was own income generated through entrance fees, 

venue hire, rental of premises and professional museums services. 

Iziko’s operating expenditure was increased by 1% from R71,314,302 to R71,941,890. This is due to external funding 

received from the DAC, national government agencies, research foundations, corporate business, and private 

individual donors to fund major core function activities and capital works projects during the year. Furthermore, the 

cleaning services previously outsourced have now become part of Iziko’s day-to-day running expenditure, and staff 

have been appointed for this purpose. 

The surplus of R2,945,651 is as a result of Iziko’s utilisation of accumulated reserve project funding to fund current 

projects which had a lifespan of more than one year. In addition, there has been a decrease of 26% in administrative 

expenses, and an increase in own income generation.   

 

Iziko’s financial circumstances remain stable. While Iziko has received limited funding for its operations over the last 

few years, it has practiced good governance with regard to management of its funds; observing the requirements 

of its donors; as well as compliance with the Public Finance Management Act and National Treasury Regulations, 

where applicable.

While a great deal of work still lies ahead to improve the bottom line and meet the targets set in the Strategic Plan, 

the results for the year show progress, and management remains committed to achieving its strategic objectives.

2. Services Rendered by Iziko
2.1 List of Services Rendered 
Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote its unique combination of South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and 

services for the benefit of present and future generations. The services rendered by Iziko, in these areas, among others 

are: Exhibitions; Education and Public Programmes; Collections Management (including loans to other institutions); 

Development of Collections; Conservation; Research; Curatorial Services; and Publication (both popular and scientific).
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The three Collections departments offer, in collaboration with the Education & Public Programmes department, 

exhibitions that meet the diverse needs of education and life-long learning. The selection of exhibitions gives 

priority to correcting the imbalances of the past in the representation of art and social history, thus contributing to 

nation building, social cohesion and transformation.   

In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as venue hire, outsourcing of coffee shops, museum retail shops 

and professional museum services are rendered.  

2.2 Tariff Policy
Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of premises, venue hire, photographic services and professional 

museum services. Tariffs are negotiated at the outset of entering into a service agreement. Iziko reviews tariffs on 

an annual basis.

3. Capacity Constraints  
During the year under review, Executive Management continued the implementation of the re-aligned 

organisational structure to effectively and efficiently deliver the objectives of the Strategic Plan. Due to insufficient 

funding, Iziko is not able to grow its human capital to its full potential, and is unable to employ the necessary 

staff required to fulfil its core function activities to the maximum potential. An increase in the number of younger 

staff in key areas would allow for the transfer of skills, capacity development and succession planning. Executive 

Management continued to evaluate the efficiency of the re-aligned structure and to maximise opportunities to 

diversify our demographic profile. 

4. Utilisation of Donor Funds
Donor funds, amounting to R7,000,906 during the year under review, were received from DAC, national government 

agencies, research foundations, corporate business, and private individual donors. The funds are earmarked and 

utilised for specific projects, such as acquisitions, exhibitions, conservation, collection management, research, 

education, and capital works projects that have a lifespan of more than one year. These projects form an integral 

part of the museum’s core function activities, and contributed significantly to Iziko’s success. 

5.  Public Entity
Iziko is listed as a schedule 3A national public entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 

No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999) and is governed by the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 

of 1998). Iziko operates under the jurisdiction of the Council.  The national Department of Arts and Culture is the 

controlling entity.  

Business address:  Postal address:

25 Queen Victoria Street  PO Box 61

Cape Town   Cape Town

8000     8001

6. Jurisdiction
Iziko resides and is effectively managed in South Africa. The controlling entity is the national Department of Arts 

and Culture.



7. New/ proposed Activities
The professional staff in the Art, Natural History and Social History Collections departments are skilled in museum 

practice and in specialised areas of historical and scientific knowledge. They are well placed to transfer their skills, 

but Iziko needs funding to support trainee positions from previously disadvantaged communities, in line with its 

Employment Equity strategy.

Major projects for the next three to five years include: the upgrade of security systems at all Iziko museums; a 

capital works project to develop the courtyard at the Iziko South African Museum; the continued development of 

the Iziko Slave Lodge as a museum that focuses on both slavery and human rights; and the proposed development 

of a Centre for Contemporary Art in Cape Town, the proposed development of the Iziko Maritime Museum; and the 

upgrade and maintenance of the IT infrastructure, and Iziko sites.

Other projects that will continue in 2013/2014 are the implementation of the accounting standard, GRAP 103 on 

Heritage Assets in compliance with Treasury Regulations; the digitisation of the heritage assets; and the completion 

of the network infrastructure and server consolidation project that will enhance the efficiency and speed of Iziko’s 

network, as well as addressing business continuity in terms of our Disaster Management Plan.

8. Approval
The annual financial statements set out on pages 78 to 124 have been approved by the Council.

    

Ms Rooksana Omar Prof. Ciraj Rassool 

Chief Executive Officer Chairman of Council 

31 July 2013 31 July 2013   

Date Date   
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CORPORATE gOVERNANCE
Governance of the institution was streamlined through the operation of a system of committees of Council 

corresponding to three main functional areas: Core Functions, Institutional Advancement and Operations. 

In addition, an independent Audit Committee continued to offer professional advice on financial matters.  

During the year under review, the internal audit unit, under the direction of an Internal Auditor, continued with the 

mandate of carrying out an effective internal audit of Iziko’s internal controls, as informed by the relevant policies, 

systems and operating procedures. 

The Council recognises that good governance and compliance practices are crucial for the sustained development of 

Iziko, and is committed to instilling good governance and compliance processes into all its operations going forward.

Risk Management 
The Risk Management Committee comprises the Senior Management Team, with the Executive Director: Operations 

as the Chief Risk Officer.

Risk Management is included in the performance objectives of the members of the Risk Management 

Committee. The Risk Register has been revised, and measures to mitigate the revised risks have been included in 

the performance objectives of Senior Managers.

In previous reporting periods, a Disaster Management Policy and Plan were developed, and in this reporting period 

the Plan was implemented by installing evacuation chairs at emergency staircases of the larger museums, and 

linking all 12 sites to the central control room by two-way radios.

In the reporting period, Disaster Management Procedures were implemented and tested.  

Materiality and Significance Framework for 2012/2013 Financial Year
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2013 

Restated

Notes 2013 2012

R R

ASSETS

Non-current Assets 13,938,621 11,508,722

Property, plant and equipment 2 13,174,595 11,171,065

Intangible assets 3 764,026 337,657

  

Current Assets 58,163,165 44,365,208

Inventories 4 164,773 149,409

Trade and other receivables 5 1,614,941 770,836

Cash and cash equivalents 6 56,383,451 43,444,963

  

TOTAL ASSETS 72,101,786 55,873,930

  

LIABILITIES   

Non-current Liabilities 42,533,834 39,256,500

Deferred income 9 304,962  - 

Provision: Post-employee medical benefit 8.2 42,228,872 39,256,500

  

Current Liabilities 24,614,825 14,609,954

Trade and other payables 7 7,598,989 6,981,497

Deferred income 9 516,156 499,979

Deferred Government Grant 9.1 16,499,680 7,128,478

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 67,148,659 53,866,454

NET ASSETS  4,953,127  2,007,476 

Accumulated (deficit)/surplus  (3,619,271)  (7,872,906)

Accumulated reserve - projects  8,572,398  9,880,382 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 72,101,786 55,873,930
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Restated

Notes 2013 2012

R R

Revenue 74,887,541 70,887,130

Government Grant: Department of Arts & Culture 57,672,000 53,920,000

Government Grant: Capital Works Projects 3,013,798 865,522

Sponsorship 3,917,848 6,823,529

Cash donations 69,260 61,900

Interest received 2,500,948 2,120,302

Admission fees 4,867,877 4,826,852

Rental income 1,300,518 1,075,880

Other income 1,545,292 1,193,145

Expenses   71,941,890 71,314,302

 

Personnel 55,320,637 51,697,454

Administrative 2,288,035 3,110,186

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 2,150,208 1,981,352

Other operating expenses 12,183,010 14,525,310

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE yEAR 10  2,945,651  (427,172)



STATEMENT OF CHANgES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Notes

Accumulated 
reserve: 
Projects

Accumulated 
deficit

Trust fund
Total net assets 

and reserves

R R R R

Balance at 1 April 2011 restated  4,676,850  (2,242,202) 2,196  2,436,844 

Less: Transfer to Project Income    (2,196)  (2,196)

Prior year adjustment 18  (22,860)  22,860   -   

Deficit for the year  5,226,392  (5,653,564)   (427,172)

Balance at 31 March 2012 restated  9,880,382  (7,872,906)  -    2,007,476 

    

Balance at 1 April 2012  9,880,382  (7,872,906)  -    2,007,476 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  (1,307,984)  4,253,635   2,945,651 

Balance at 31 March 2013  8,572,398  (3,619,271)  -    4,953,127 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Restated

Notes 2013 2012

R R

Cash flows from operating activities

     

Cash generated/ (utilised) in operations 11   15,000,874    10,995,442 

Cash receipts from customers and donors  71,846,852   68,963,326

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (56,845,978)    (57,967,884)

     

Interest received  2,500,948   2,120,302

     

  

Net cash outflow from operating activities  17,501,822  13,115,744 

  

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (4,068,400)  (1,681,510)

Purchase of intangible assets  (512,434)  (86,962)

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets  17,500  15,000 

  

  

Net cash flows from investing activities  (4,563,334)  (1,753,472)

 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 12,938,488 11,362,272

  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 43,444,963 32,082,691

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 56,383,451  43,444,963



STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDgET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS 
FOR THE yEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

  Notes
Approved 

budget
 Adjustments  Final budget

 Actual amounts 
on comparable 

basis 

Difference 
between final 

approved budget 
and actual

 R R R R R 

INCOME      

Government grant   57,672,000  -  57,672,000  57,672,000 -

Own income   8,079,624  808,145  8,887,769  10,214,635  (1,326,866)

Donations/ Sponsorship   5,832,557  5,769,205  11,601,762  7,000,906  4,600,856 

Reserves to be employed   1,243,100  (1,243,100)  -  -  - 

       

TOTAL INCOME   72,827,281  5,334,250  78,161,531  74,887,541  3,273,990 

       

EXPENDITURE      

Access and audience 
development 

  1,059,788  2,981,144  4,040,932  2,553,346  1,487,586 

Collections and research   3,783,374  2,129,370  5,912,744  2,255,152  3,657,592 

Corporate advancement   523,289  230,812  754,101  653,120  100,981 

Governance and 
corporate services

  67,460,830  (7,076)  67,453,754  66,480,272  973,482 

       

TOTAL EXPENDITURE   72,827,281  5,334,250  78,161,531  71,941,890  6,219,641 

       

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 
FOR THE yEAR

20  -  -  - 2,945,651  (2,945,651)

 
Approved 

budget
 Adjustments  Final budget

 Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis 

Difference 
between 

final approved 
budget 

and actual

  R  R  R  R  R

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE      

Computers  409,400  258,897  668,297  711,181  (42,884)

Computer Software  130,000  365,507  495,507  512,434  (16,927)

Equipment   251,200  (24,907)  226,293  715,279  (488,986)

Furniture   16,500  92,742  109,242  99,450  9,792 

Improvement to leased property   2,542,490  2,542,490  2,542,490  -   

TOTAL  807,100  3,234,729  4,041,829  4,580,834  (539,005)

CAPITAL BUDgET
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Accounting Policies
The following are the principle accounting policies of Iziko Museums of South Africa, which are consistent, in all 

material respects, with those applied in previous years. 

1.1 Basis of Preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP), including any interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting 

Standards Board. 

The following standards and pronouncements were applied in the preparation of the annual financial statements:

REFERENCE TOPIC

GRAP Framework Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements

GRAP 1 Presentation of financial statements

GRAP 2 Cash flow statements

GRAP 3 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

GRAP 5 Borrowing costs

GRAP 12 Inventories

GRAP 13 Leases

GRAP 14 Events after the reporting date

GRAP 16 Investment property

GRAP 17 Property, plant and equipment

GRAP 19 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

GRAP 21 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets 

GRAP 23 Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

GRAP 24 Presentation of budget information in financial statements 

GRAP 25 Employee benefits

GRAP 26 Impairment of cash-generating assets 

GRAP 102 Intangible assets

GRAP 104 Financial instruments

IPSAS 20 Related party disclosures

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards of GRAP are effective. However, 

in terms of Directive 2 “Transitional Provision for the Adoption of Standards of GRAP by Public Entities, Municipal 

Entities and Constitutional Institutions” and Directive 5 ”Determining the GRAP Reporting Framework” issued by 

the Accounting Standards Board, the entity has adopted the transitional provisions for GRAP 20 and GRAP 103.

REFERENCE TOPIC

GRAP 103 Heritage assets (effective 1 April 2012)

GRAP 20 Related party disclosures



At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards of GRAP are approved but not 

yet effective: 

REFERENCE TOPIC

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting

GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between entities under common control

GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between entities not under common control

GRAP 107 Mergers

1.2 Significant Judgements and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the amounts presented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available 

information and the application of judgements are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 

future could differ from these estimates, which may be material to the annual financial statements.  

Significant judgements include:

Trade Receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining 

whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as to whether 

there is observation indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Fair Value Estimation

The carrying value, less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables, is assumed to approximate their 

fair value.

Post-retirement Benefits

The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 

actuarial value using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) include 

the discount rate. Changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post-retirement obligations.

Allowance for Doubtful Debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is 

impaired. Such impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present 

values of estimated future flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.3 Going Concern Assumption
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2013. On the basis of the 

review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko will be a going 

concern in the year ahead, and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including leasehold improvement and infrastructure 

assets) that are held for use in production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative 

purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one period.
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The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bringing 

the asset to its location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management. Trade discount rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment, and costs 

incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 

amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which it is 

located is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such 

expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for the purposes other 

than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 

the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any impairment losses, except 

for land and buildings which are carried at revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less 

any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. 

The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same 

asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the 

current year. The decrease is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in 

the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly 

to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to the 

estimated residual value. The depreciation rates are based on the following estimated useful lives:



ITEM AVERAgE USEFUL LIFE

Furniture 1–10 years

Vehicles 1–12 years

Equipment 1–10 years

Computers 1–10 years

Fibre optic network 20 years

Leasehold improvement 5–15 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, and where the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a 

change in accounting estimates.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 

the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit, unless it is included in the carrying 

amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of, or when there are no 

further benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 

deficit when the item is derecognised. The gains or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 

and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 

of the item.

1.5 Heritage Assets
Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or 

artistic significance, and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations. In line with similar 

organisations, the value of collections (heritage assets) has not been recognised in the statement of financial position.

When heritage assets are recognised as assets in terms of GRAP 103:

• they shall be measured at cost; or

• where a heritage asset is acquired at no or nominal consideration, its cost shall be measured at its fair value as at  

 the date of acquisition.

Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 

from that which would be determined using fair value at the reporting date.

A heritage asset shall not be depreciated, but the entity shall assess at each reporting date whether there is an 

indication that it may be impaired.
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Heritage assets shall be derecognised when the asset is retired or disposed of, or when there are no further 

economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal 

of a heritage asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value, and 

recognised in the statement of financial performance.

Although Iziko adopted the accounting standard on 1 April 2012, the entity has taken advantage of the transitional 

period of three (3) years to fully implement GRAP 103 in terms of Directive 2.

Entities are not required to measure heritage assets for reporting periods beginning on or after a date within 

three years following the date of initial adoption of the Standard of GRAP on Heritage Assets. The exemption from 

applying the measurement requirements of the standards implies that any associated presentation and disclosure 

requirements need not be complied with for heritage assets not measured in accordance with the requirements of 

GRAP 103. 

The classes of heritage assets that have been identified for measurement are as follows:

• Natural History Collections

• Social History Collections

• Art Collections

• Education Collections; and

• Reference books

Despite the challenges faced by Iziko in terms of financial and resource constraints with the implementation of 

the standard, the entity has made the following progress towards measuring the assets in accordance with the 

requirements of the standard:

• An assessment of Iziko’s readiness to implement the standard has been conducted

• The current status of the collections and existing processes that are in place have been documented

• Collection accession registers and databases of the heritage assets are being updated

• A heritage asset register in the accounting system is being developed

• A Steering Committee has been established

• Presentation has been made to the Department of Arts and Culture regarding the challenges faced by Iziko to  

 implement GRAP 103

The entity expects to comply with GRAP 103 by the end of the transitional period.

1.6 Intangible Assets
An asset is identified as an intangible asset when:

• it is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged  

 either individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or

• it arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or  

 separated from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset  

 flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.



Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Where an intangible asset is acquired at no nominal cost, the 

cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are carried at cost, less any accumulated 

amortisation and any impairment losses.

Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to the estimated residual 

value. The amortisation rates are based on the following estimated useful lives:

ITEM AVERAgE USEFUL LIFE

Intangible assets 1–10 years

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

1.7 Financial Instruments
Classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables; and

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 

asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument, in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 

determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments that are not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the 

initial measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent Measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 

accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Impairment of Financial Assets

At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 

surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets have been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtors will enter 

bankruptcy and default of payments, are all considered indicators of impairment. Where financial assets are 

impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or deficit with the 

operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.
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Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost under the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 

recognised in surplus or when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties 

of the debtor, probability that the debtors will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 

delinquency in payments, are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised 

is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit 

is recognised in surplus or deficit with operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off 

against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 

credited against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.8 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers, substantially, all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer, substantially, all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership.

Finance Leases – Lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the 

fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 

liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 

The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on 

the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating Leases – Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 

between the amounts is recognised as an expense, and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating 

lease asset or liability.



1.9 Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost, and except where inventories are acquired at no cost or for nominal 

consideration, their costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent inventories are measured at 

the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories consisting of consumable stores and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost realisable value on 

the first-in, first-out basis. Redundant and slow moving inventories are identified and written down through the 

statement of financial performance.

1.10 Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 

paid leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in 

which services are rendered, and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense, as the employees render services that 

increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 

contractual obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined Contribution Plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to state plan retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as a defined contribution benefit where the 

entity’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Defined Benefit Plans

For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing the benefits is determined using the projected credit method.

Actuarial valuations are conducted every three (3) years for the museums pension fund, and on an annual basis for 

the medical aid benefit fund, by independent actuaries, separately for each plan.

Consideration is given to any event that could impact the funds up to the end of the reporting period where the 

interim valuation is performed at an earlier date.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and are otherwise 

amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the amended benefits become vested.

To the extent that, at the beginning of the financial period, any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or loss 

exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of the 

plan assets (the corridor), that portion is recognised as a surplus or deficit over the expected average remaining 

service lives of the participating employees. Actuarial gains or losses within the corridor are not recognised.
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Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the entity is 

demonstrably committed to curtailment or settlement.

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 

defined benefit obligation, the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured at 

fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets. In surplus or deficit, the expense 

relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net of the amount recognised for a reimbursement.

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service costs, and reduces by 

the fair value of the plan assets.

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs, plus the present value of available 

refunds and reduction in future contributions to plan.

Post-retirement Medical Benefit

The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefits is based on the employee remaining a contributing member 

of the medical aid schemes and remaining in the service up to retirement age.

Post-retirement healthcare benefits are based on the following subsidy policy:

•  An employee who joined the medical aid scheme before 1 October 2004 contributed one third (1/3) of the total 

healthcare contribution, and Iziko the balance.

•  An employee who joined Iziko from 1 October 2004 would, after retirement, pay 100% of the total healthcare 

contribution.

The assets are generally held in separate trustee-administered medical aid funds.

Valuation of these obligations is carried out by independent, qualified actuaries. Key assumptions concerning the 

future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial position date are used for the 

post-retirement benefits liability, as per the actuarial valuation disclosed in note 15. The amount accrued for post-

retirement medical benefits is included within the non-current provisions.

The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using the projected unit credit 

method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience, adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

charged to the statement of financial performance in full in the current period.

1.11  Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to  

 settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date.



Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 

the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 

the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. That amount recognised for the 

reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 16.

1.12  Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those 

inflows represent an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liability extinguished, and 

gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party 

in exchange.

Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 

parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue that accrued to the entity directly in return for services 

rendered and goods sold, the value of which approximates the consideration received or receivable. The full amount 

of the revenue is recognised and any impairment losses are subsequently recognised.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts.

Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership and  

 effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

• the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of Services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue 

associated with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the 

reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are 

satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.
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Interest and Rental Income

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest and rental income is recognised when:

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

• the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

Revenue from rental of facilities and equipment is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance 

of the agreements.

1.13  Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, 

which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 

embodied in the asset are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or 

service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives 

and can regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, 

an entity receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives 

value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset 

may be used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the 

transferor if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws and regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the 

use of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 

the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation, recognised as a liability, in respect of an inflow of resources from a 

non-exchange transaction, recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised, and 

recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by 

the entity.



When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 

equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also 

required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised, it will be measured as the best 

estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in 

net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced because the taxable event occurs 

or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.14  Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.15  Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
Irregular expenditure is expenditure other that unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or that is 

not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable legislation, including the Public Finance Management Act 

No. 1 of 1999 (as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999), or any regulations made in terms of this Act.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 

been exercised. All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the 

statement of financial performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in 

accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 

statement of financial performance.

1.16  Budget Information 
Entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), 

which are given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entities shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and 

used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The budget is approved on a cash basis by functional classification. The approved budget covers the period from 

1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013. The budget is approved by functional or programme classification in line with Iziko’s 

strategic objectives. The financial statements and budget documents are prepared for the same period. 

The budget and accounting bases differ. The financial statements differ from the budget, which is approved on the 

cash basis. The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis using a classification on the nature of expenses 

in the statement of financial performance. The amounts in the financial statements were recast from the accrual basis 

to the cash basis and reclassified by functional classification to be on the same basis as the final approved budget.

The annual financial statement and the budget are not on the same basis of accounting, therefore, a reconciliation 

between the statement of financial performance and the budget have been included in the annual financial 

statements. Refer to note 20.

1.17  Taxation
Iziko is exempt from taxation in terms of the provision of Section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 

of 1962), as amended.
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2.  Property, Plant and Equipment

          
2013

 Furniture  Vehicles  Equipment  Computers 
Fibre optic 

network 

Improvement 
to leased 
property 

Total  

R R R R R R R

Gross carrying amount 
at beginning of year 2,144,662 232,555    7,881,822 6,170,508 4,990,321 576,009 21,995,877 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
beginning of year (1,381,059) (135,619)

 
(4,565,639) (4,283,433) (436,653)

           
(22,409) (10,824,812)

Net carrying amount 
at beginning of year - 
restated 763,603 

        
96,936 

      
3,316,183 1,887,075

       
4,553,668 

            
553,600 11,171,065

Movement during 
the year                                       

Acquisitions 99,450 -
         

715,279 711,181 -
         

2,542,490    4,068,400 

Disposals (4,246) -
        

(52,107) (49,833) - -
                  

(106,186)

Accumulated 
depreciation on 
disposals 4,246 -

          
51,476 49,737 - -         105,459 

Depreciation expense 
for the year (198,339) (14,535)

    
(832,043) (591,341) (249,516)

          
(178,369)   (2,064,143)

Net carrying amount 
at end of year 664,714 82,401 

      
3,198,788 2,006,819 4,304,152 2,917,721 

     
13,174,595 

Gross carrying amount 
at end of year 2,239,866 232,555 8,544,994         6,831,856 4,990,321 3,118,499 25,958,091           

Accumulated 
depreciation at end 
of year (1,575,152) (150,154) (5,346,206)       (4,825,037) (686,169) (200,778)              (12,783,496)             

Property, Plant and Equipment includes historical assets acquired prior to 1999 to the amount of R3,274 with nil and 

R1 take-on values, which are fully depreciated but still in use. 

Included in the amount at the end of the year is assets identified to be written off which have a historical cost value 

of R2,074,519 with a current book value of R39,495. A major part of this amount is old IT infrastructure equipment 

that have been replaced, with a historical cost of R1,055,634, and is fully depreciated. At the time of reporting, 

Council had not yet approved the disposal of this equipment. 



Restated

2012

 
Furniture  Vehicles  Equipment  Computers 

Fibre optic 
network 

Improvement 
to leased 
property

Total  

R R R R R R R

Gross carrying 
amount at beginning 
of year 1,933,561 232,555 7,341,712 6,039,577 4,990,321 -

   
20,537,726 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
beginning of year (1,172,333)

     
(226,493) (3,741,670) (3,798,898) (187,137) -

    
(9,126,531)

Net carrying amount 
at beginning of year

       
761,228 

            
6,062 3,600,042 2,240,679

       
4,803,184 -

       
11,411,195 

Movement during 
the year        

Acquisitions 212,224 - 619,598 273,679 -
         

576,009 
      

1,681,510 

Disposals (1,123) - (79,488) (142,748) - -
     

(223,359)

Accumulated 
depreciation on 
disposals 1,123 - 78,610 115,384 - -

          
195,117 

Accumulated 
depreciation on re-
estimation - 104,904 - - - -

       
104,904 

Depreciation expense 
for the year (209,849) (14,030) (902,579) (599,919) (249,516)

        
(22,409)

  
(1,998,302)

Net carrying amount 
at end of year

     
763,603 

         
96,936 3,316,183 1,887,075 4,553,668 553,600 11,171,065

Gross carrying 
amount at end of year 2,144,662 232,555 7,881,822 6,170,508 4,990,321 

         
576,009 

   
21,995,877 

Accumulated 
depreciation at end 
of year (1,381,059) (135,619) (4,565,639) (4,283,433) (436,653) (22,409) (10,824,812)

Property, plant and equipment includes historical assets at nil or R1 values, which are fully depreciated but still in use.

Included in the amount at the end of the year is computer equipment acquired at a cost of R7,155 to be written off. 

At the time of reporting, Council had not yet approved the disposal of this equipment.
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3.  Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprise of computer software purchased.

2013 2012

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year 337,657 338,649 

Cost 886,819 799,856 

Accumulated amortisation  (549,162) (461,207) 

Current year movement

Additions 512,434 86,962 

Amortisation expense for the year (86,065) (87,954) 

Carrying amount at end of year 764,026 337,657

Cost 1,399,253 886,818

Accumulated amortisation (635,227) (549,161) 

No intangible assets were internally generated during the year under review.

4.  Inventories
2013 2012

R R

Consumables 127,426 78,788

Finished Goods 37,347 70,621

164,773 149,409

5.  Trade and Other Receivables

2013 2012

R R

Other receivables 1,274,351  661,012

Trade debtors 340,590  109,824 

1,614,941  770,836

Reconciliation of the provision for impairment 

of trade and other receivables

Balance at beginning of year 13,811 38,524

Provision for impairment raised (reversed) (8,842) (24,713)

Balance at end of year 4,969 13,811 



6.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

2013 Credit ratings 2013 2012

R R

ABSA – 90-day Fixed Deposit F1 7,982,934 7,570,160

Investec – Private Money Fund F1 17,974,467 17,013,868

Standard Bank – Call Deposit F1 16,458,935 5,640,991

Stanlib – Enhanced Yield Fund (Cash Plus Fund) AA+ 13,216,046 12,507,195

Standard Bank – Current Account F1 736,719 698,099

Cash on hand 14,350 14,650

56,383,451 43,444,963 

7.  Trade and Other Payables  

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Deferred lease liability 73,077 46,596 

Rent deposits 99,660 91,525 

Leave pay 2,206,922 1,635,270 

Annual bonus 1,471,391 1,199,160

Trade creditors and accruals 3,747,939 4,008,946

7,598,989 6,981,497

8.  Provisions
Employee Benefits
8.1  Post-retirement Pension Benefit

2013 2012

R R

Balance at beginning of year - 8,139

Increase/(decrease) in provision - (8,139)

Balance at end of year - -

The provision for post-retirement pension benefit represents Iziko’s liability towards the unfunded actuarial 

liabilities for the defined pension and provident fund covering all participating employees.

According to the April 2012 valuation reports, no shortfall exists in respect of accrued liabilities, and a funding level 

of 100% certifies that the Museums Pension Fund is currently in a financially sound position. The registration of the 

Museums Provident Fund was cancelled in terms of section 27 (1)(a) of the Pensions Fund Act, 1956 and no liability in 

respect of the Museums Provident Fund accrued to Iziko during the year under review. The Museums Provident Fund 

has since been deregistered and its assets and liabilities transferred to the Museums Pension Fund. Any deficit advised 

by the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to ensure the ongoing soundness of the pension fund.
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8.2  Post-retirement Medical Benefit

2013 2012

R R

Balance at beginning of year  39,256,500 36,293,586 

Increase in provision  2,972,372 2,962,914

Balance at end of year  42,228,872 39,256,500

The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards future post-retirement medical benefits covering all 

participating employees and retirees.

9.  Deferred Income
Deferred income consists of funds received for specific projects on condition that any unspent funds are returned 

to the transferor. A liability is recognised for advance receipts until the event that makes the transfer arrangement 

binding occurs and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled. When that event occurs and all other 

conditions under the agreement are fulfilled, the liability is discharged and revenue is recognised. The liability is 

measured at the amount required to settle the obligation.

2013

R

Projects per department
Number of 

projects
Total deferred 

income
To be utilised 

within one year

To be utilised 
in year 2 and 

thereafter

R R R

Natural History Collections 8 212,478 187,477 25,000 

Social History Collections 4 359,191 180,395 178,797 

Art Collections 2 43,434 43,434 -   

Education and Public Programmes 2 206,015 104,850 101,165 

Total 16 821,118  516,156 304,962 

2012

R

Projects per department
Number of 

projects
Total deferred 

income
To be utilised 

within one year

To be utilised 
in year 2 and 

thereafter

R R R

 Natural History Collections 7 48,566 48,566 -

 Social History Collections 2 8,489 8,489 -

 Art Collections 3 162,494 162,494 -

 Education and Public Programmes 4 280,430 280,430 -

 Total 16 499,979 499,979 -



9.1  Deferred Government Grant    
Funding received from the Department of Arts and Culture in respect of capital works for the Courtyard Project at 

the Iziko South African Museum:

 

2013 2012

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year 7,128,478  - 

Amount received during current year  -  7,994,000 

Amount utilised during the year (448,188)  (865,522)

Carrying amount at end of year 6,680,290  7,128,478 

Funding received during the current year from the Department of Arts and Culture to be utilised for the 

maintenance and conservation of all Iziko sites:

2013 2012

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year  - - 

Amount received during current year  9,510,000 - 

Amount utilised during the year  - - 

Carrying amount at end of year  9,510,000 - 

Funding received during the current year from the Department of Arts and Culture in respect of the Climate Control 

Project at the Iziko South African Museum: 

2013 2012

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year - - 

Amount received during current year 2,875,000 - 

Amount utilised during the year (2,565,610) - 

Carrying amount at end of year 309,390 - 
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10.  Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year
Net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging:

Restated

2013 2012 

 R  R 

Personnel expenses 55,320,637 51,697,454

Salaries and benefits 52,348,265  48,742,679

Provision for post-retirement benefits 2,972,372  2,954,775 

Audit fees 1,099,049 1,060,412 

Bank and legal costs 202,190 232,501 

Consultants 557,885 708,261 

Depreciation 2,064,143 1,893,398

Amortisation: Intangible assets 86,065 87,954 

Loss on disposal of assets -   13,242 

Operating leases 1,445,912 1,443,045

Insurance 279,806 303,910 

Provision for doubtful debts 8,856 18,512 

Licenses and networking fees 201,506 170,078 

Library costs 16,381 171,578 

Museum core function activities 5,027,808 4,217,440

Other operating expenses 5,631,652 9,296,517

71,941,890 71,314,302

11.  Cash Generated/(Utilised) in Operations

 2013   2012  
  R    R  

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,945,651 (427,172)

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation on property, plant & equipment 2,064,143 1,893,398

Amortisation on intangible assets 86,065 87,954 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of assets (16,773) 13,242 

5,079,086 1,567,422

Interest received (2,500,948) (2,120,302)

Operating surplus/(deficit) before working capital changes 2,578,138 (552,880)

Working capital changes 12,422,736 11,553,264

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (844,107)  907,596

Decrease/(increase) in inventories (15,363)  45,255

(Decrease)/increase in deferred income 321,138  (724,340)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 12,961,068  11,324,753

Prior period adjustment - (4,942)

Cash generated/(utilised) in operations 15,000,874 10,995,442



12.  Financial Instruments
Financial Risk Management
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position consist of trade and other payables, provisions, 

deferred income, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables. The main risks arising from the 

financial instruments are credit and interest risks.

12.1  Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed by keeping sufficient cash available for funding through an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities and the ability to move funds from short-term financial instruments. Iziko manages 

liquidity risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and optimises its cash return on investments. The Council is 

of the opinion that the net carrying value of the financial instruments approximate their fair value and that Iziko 

has sufficient cash available to settle its financial liabilities.

Financial Liabilities

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Trade and other payables 7,598,989 6,981,497

Provisions 42,228,872 39,256,500

Deferred income 821,118 499,979

50,648,979 46,737,976

Maturity Analysis

The table below analyses Iziko’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the 

contractual maturity date.

Less than

12 months

2013

Over

12 Months

Trade payables 522,329

Accruals 761,383

Other payables 6,315,277

Deferred income 821,118

Post-retirement medical liability - 42,228,872

8,420,107 42,228,872
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The table below analyses Iziko’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the 

contractual maturity date.

Less than

12 months

2012

Over

12 Months

Trade payables 657,667

Accruals 1,291,250

Other payables 5,032,580

Deferred income 499,979

Post-retirement medical liability - 39,256,500

7,481,476 39,256,500

The deferred government grant revenue is not a financial liability as it is similar to revenue received in advance, and 

has been excluded from the maturity analysis. It will only become a financial liability if it becomes repayable.

12.2  Interest Rate Risk
The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because cash and cash equivalents consist of short-term 

investments held at registered banks with high credit ratings. Interest rate exposure is therefore low on Iziko’s bank 

accounts. These deposits attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime overdraft rate.

Sensitivity Analysis: Cash and Cash Equivalents

The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate on the statement of 

financial performance:

Financial Assets 2013 2012

R R

External investments

ABSA – 90-day Fixed Deposit 7,982,934 7,570,160

Investec – Private Money Fund 17,974,467 17,013,868

Standard Bank – Call Deposit 16,458,935 5,640,991

Stanlib – Enhanced Yield Fund (Cash Plus Fund) 13,216,046 12,507,195

Standard Bank – Current Account 736,719 698,099

Cash on hand 14,350 14,650

56,383,451 43,444,963

Interest received

Interest earned – External investments 2,500,948 2,120,302

Interest rate 4% 5%

Included in the total interest earned on external investments amount of R2,500,948 (2012: R2,120,302) in the 

current year, is a capital loss of R10,192 (2012: R15,522 capital gain) on the Enhanced Yield Fund with Stanlib.



Effect of a change in interest rate on interest earned from external investments:

Effect of change in interest rate 1 % decrease 3% 4%

Effect of change in interest rate Rand value 1,691,504 1,737,799

Effect of change in interest rate 1% increase 5% 6%

Effect of change in interest rate Rand value 2,819,173 2,606,698

12.3  Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk

Financial Assets 2013 2012

R R

Cash and cash equivalents 56,383,451 43,444,963

Trade and other receivables 1,614,941 770,836

57,998,392 44,215,799

Financial Liabilities Restated

2013 2012

R R

Deferred lease liability 73,077 46,596 

Rent deposits 99,660 91,525 

Leave pay 2,206,922 1,635,270 

Annual bonus 1,471,391 1,199,160 

Trade creditors and accruals 3,747,939 4,008,946

Deferred income 821,118 499,979 

Post–retirement medical liability 42,228,872 39,256,500 

50,648,979 46,737,976

12.4  Credit Risk
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and 

cash equivalents, as well as trade and other receivables. Iziko’s exposure to credit risk is insignificant. Credit risk is 

mitigated by the fact that Iziko only deposits and invest funds with registered banking institutions.

Accounts and Other Receivables

The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date is the fair value of trade and other receivables as 

disclosed in note 5. The amount presented in the statement of financial position is net of provision for doubtful 

debts, which is estimated based on prior experience and current economic conditions. 

Debtors arise from rental of facilities and professional services rendered. Management is of the opinion that these 

debts are fully recoverable.
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12.5  Currency and Other Price Risk
Iziko is not exposed to currency and other price risks.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At year-end, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other payables, deferred 

income, and provisions approximated their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

Financial Assets by Category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line item below:

2013 2012

R R

Trade and other receivables 1,614,941 770,836

Cash and cash equivalents 56,383,451 43,444,963 

57,998,392 44,215,799

Trade Receivables Past Due But Not Impaired

Trade receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2013,  

R151,677 (2012: R60,804) were past due but not impaired. 

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

2013 2012

R R

Current 992,668 710,031

1 month past due 151,232 53,399 

2 months past due 445 7,406 

3 months past due 470,596 -

1,614,941 770,836

At year-end, the carrying amounts of the financial assets approximate their fair values due to the short-term 

maturities of these assets.

Financial Liabilities by Category

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Trade payables  522,329 657,667

Accruals  761,383 1,291,250

Other payables  6,315,277 5,032,580

Deferred income  821,118 499,979

Post–retirement medical liability 42,228,872 39,256,500

50,648,979 46,737,976



13.  Operating Leases
Iziko as Lessor

Operating leases relate to restaurants and retail spaces in buildings occupied by Iziko Museums of South Africa 

with lease terms of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to renew. All operating lease contracts contain market 

review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The property rental income earned under 

operating leases amounted to R722,810 (2012: R691,998).

Amounts Receivable Under Operating Leases

At the reporting date, the following minimum lease payments were receivable under non-cancellable operating 

leases for property, plant and equipment, which are receivable as follows:

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Up to 1 year 642,305 668,579

2 to 5 years 1,041,157 1,683,462

1,683,462 2,352,041

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed by Iziko Museums of South Africa in terms of the lease 

agreements:

(i) The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the premises let.

(ii) The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to  

 inspect the premises let.

(iii) The lessee shall use the premises let for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rental income was recognised as revenue in the reporting period. The 2012 figures have been 

restated to reflect the actual amounts receivable under operating leases in the current year, including rentals based 

on turnover amounts received, not previously disclosed.

Iziko as Lessee

The operating leases relate to rentals charged for vehicles, berthing fees, photocopiers and the VoIP telephone 

system, with lease terms of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to extend. All operating lease contracts contain 

market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. Payments under operating leases 

amounted to R1,445,912 (2012: R1,443,045).

Amounts Payable Under Operating Leases

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments are as follows:

2013 2012

R R

Up to 1 year 1,237,794 1,415,568

2 to 5 years 1,236,165 2,440,929

2,473,959 3,856,497
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The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed in terms of the lease agreements:

(i) The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the property,  

 vehicles or equipment let.

(ii) The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to  

 inspect the property, vehicles or equipment let.

(iii) The lessee shall use the property, vehicles or equipment for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rent expenses were recognised in the reporting period.

14. Emoluments of Council and Committee Members and Senior Management

Members of Council 2013 2012

R R

Adv. MB Madumise (Chairman) 1,200 8,001

Prof. S Fikeni 1,928 7,914

Mr A Wakaba 3,856 3,787

Prof. C Rassool (Acting Chairman) 5,304 8,262

Mr O Badsha 5,784 10,098

Ms M Martin 6,748 9,180

Prof. MP Sithole 4,098 4,590

28,918 51,832

During the period under review, the Chairman, Adv. MB Madumise and Council Member, Prof. S Fikeni resigned as 

members of the Council.

Members of Audit Committee 2013 2012

R R

Mr A Wakaba (Chairman) 6,414 12,220

Ms L Robinson 5,841 5,565

Mr M Hassim 10,308 9,507

22,563 27,292



Senior Management

2013
R

JOB FUNCTION TOTAL COST TO COMPANy

Ms RH Omar Chief Executive Officer 1,090,673

Mr BC Ndhlovu Executive Director Core Functions 1,076,455

Mrs D Crous Executive Director Operations 1,033,490

Dr WD Alexander Director Education & Public Programmes 688,225

Mrs F Allie Chief Financial Officer 646,531

Ms SL Glanville-Zini Director Institutional Advancement 649,630

Mr J-P Matthews Director Human Resources 646,376

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social History Collections 654,012

Mr R Naidoo Director Art Collections 683,471

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural History Collections 861,528

Mrs MG Van der Merwe Director Customer Services Management 632,880

Total  8,663,271

Restated
2012

R

JOB FUNCTION TOTAL COST TO COMPANy

Ms RH Omar Chief Executive Officer 1,029,545

Mr BC Ndhlovu Executive Director Core Functions (from 1 April 2011) 1,012,688

Mrs D Crous Executive Director Operations 929,814

Mrs F Allie Chief Financial Officer 595,916

Dr WD Alexander Director Education & Public Programmes 627,223

Ms SL Glanville-Zini Director Institutional Advancement 610,034

Mr J-P Matthews Director Human Resources (from 1 October 2011) 291,224

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social History Collections 611,647

Mr R Naidoo Director Art Collections 641,630

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural History Collections 789,025

Mrs MG Van der Merwe Director Customer Services Management 568,353

Total  7,707,099

Remuneration is shown at cost to company package, based on basic salary, bonuses, allowances and employee 

benefit contributions, as well as other re-imbursive costs by Iziko up to the statement of financial position date. 

Employee benefit contributions consist of pension, medical aid and other regulatory contributions. Remuneration 

costs are charged to the statement of financial performance in the year to which it relates.
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15.  Employee Benefits
Pension Fund

Iziko operates pension funds that provide benefits on both defined benefit and defined contribution plans for 

all indefinite employees. The Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund (an umbrella fund now incorporating the Iziko 

Retirement Fund) and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of Iziko by pension fund administrators, 

and are governed by the Pension Funds Act No. 24 of 1956, as amended, while the Associated Institutions Pension 

Fund Act, 1963 (Act No. 41 of 1963) governs the Associated Institutions Pension Fund. An independent Board of 

Trustees manages each fund.

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. The actuarial valuation is done for the plan in its entirety and 

does not specify, as a separate entity, Iziko’s obligation, plan assets or liability in terms of the fund.

The Museums Pension Fund requires an actuarial valuation every three years. The defined benefit plan fund was 

actuarially valued, using the projected unit credit method at 1 April 2012 and it revealed that the assets of the fund 

represented a funding position of 100% for the Museums Pension Fund. The Museums Provident Fund has since 

been deregistered and its assets and liabilities transferred to the Museums Pension Fund. Any deficit advised by 

the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to ensure the ongoing soundness of the pension fund. 

At the time of the valuation, the actuary reported that he was satisfied that the results of the Museums Pension 

Fund fairly represent the current financial position of the fund. In view thereof, the result shows a funding level of 

100% and he certified that the fund is currently in a financially sound position. 

The financial position of the fund as at 1 April 2012 compared to the financial position as at the previous valuation 

dates is listed in the table below. The next valuation will be conducted at 1 April 2015.

Museums Pension Fund 1 Apr 12 1 Apr 09 1 Apr 06 1 Apr 05

R R R R

Liabilities in respect of:

Defined contribution members 37,755,000 13,805,000 3,057,000 1,737,000

Defined benefit members 180,340,000 134,139,000 107,681,000 98,959,000

Current pensioners 107,880,000 65,946,000 38,229,000 28,125,000

Risk Reserve Account - - 130,000

Employer Surplus Account 26,907,000 21,669,000 14,280,000 -

Surplus Apportionment Cost Reserve - - 39,000 36,000

Total liability 352,882,000 235,559,000 163,286,000 128,987,000

Less value placed on assets 352,882,000 235,559,000 163,286,000 122,340,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities - - - (6,647,000)

Funding level 100,0% 100,0% 100,0% 94,8%

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution category and states that 

no new members are allowed to join the defined benefit category with effect from 1 April 2003. All new employees 

appointed with effect from 1 April 2003 are required to join the defined contribution category, while the existing 

participating employees have remained members of the defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at 

the existing contribution rate.



Assumptions
The assumptions used for the valuation at 1 April 2012 have remained unchanged from those used in the previous 

valuation, with one exception. Members who were in service prior to 1 January 1995 can retire from age 60 without 

an early reduction penalty applying.

Mortality

The published SA 56-62 (ultimate) mortality rates have been used in respect of the period before retirement. In 

the case of female lives, their age has been reduced by 3 years to allow for their higher life expectancy. In respect 

of the period after retirement, the published PA90 tables, rated down 1 year, have been used. Provision for future 

improvement in mortality is also provided for at a rate of 1% per annum from 1 April 2004.

Valuation Rate of Interest and General Inflation

A valuation rate of interest of 8,5% per annum (8,5% per annum at the previous actuarial valuation of the Fund) 

has been used in respect of the period before retirement, and 6,5% per annum in respect of the period after 

retirement of each member. The expected long-term general rate of inflation was assumed to be 5,5% (2009 

valuation: 4,5%) per annum.

Contribution Rates

The following rates of contribution are applied:

Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual 

bonus) and the employer contributes 20,62%. In respect of all new employees appointed with effect from 1 July 

2007 who join the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund: The employer contributes 15%, while the contribution for 

existing participating employees remains the same.

Museums Pension Fund

Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 

the employer contributes 20%. The employer contribution rates can fluctuate as a result of changes to the insured 

benefit rate.

Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual 

bonus) and the employer contributes 15%. 

Associated Institutions Pension Fund

Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer 

contributes 12%.

Medical Aid

Iziko operates a post-retirement medical-benefit scheme that covers all employees that were appointed prior to  

1 October 2004.

The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko. Iziko’s contribution to the medical schemes is 

charged to the income statement in the year to which it relates.



PAGE 111

The latest full valuation of Iziko’s liability in respect of post-retirement medical benefits for the financial year-

end was performed on 31 March 2013 and it will be valued at yearly intervals thereafter. The actuary forecast the 

expense for the year following the valuation date and the forecast position at the year-end following the valuation 

date, ignoring any gains or losses arising over the period. The liability was projected based on fifty-three (53) 

retirees and fifty-seven (57) employees participating as at 31 March 2013. The liability and future increases are 

charged to income.

Amounts for the current and previous four periods as are follows:

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

R R R R R

Present value of funded obligations - - -

Fair value of plan assets - - -

Present value of unfunded obligations 42,228,872 39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318

Present value of obligations in excess of plan assets 42,228,872 39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318

Unrecognised transitional liability - - - - -

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses) - - - - -

Unrecognised past service cost - - - - -

Net liability in statement of financial position 42,228,872 39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318

Opening balance 39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345

Current service cost 832,574 737,967 702,091 594,386 598,773

Interest cost 3,210,591 3,238,565 2,939,423 2,297,416 2,345,725

Expected return on plan assets - - - - -

Liability recognised - - - - -

Actuarial (gain)/loss 442,266 343,412 1,840,447 2,917,422 323,249

Past service cost - - - - -

Expected employer benefit payments (1,513,059) (1,357,030) (1,229,741) (998,176) (859,776)

42,228,872 39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,316

During the year under review, an additional provision of R2,972,372 was raised in the financial statements to 

increase Iziko’s future liability towards the post-retirement employee medical benefit scheme to R42,228,872.

Key assumptions used

The changes from the previous valuation include: 

• A change in the discount rate used, from 8,25% to 8,6% per annum. 

• A change in the medical cost inflation assumption, from 6,65% to 7,1% per annum. 

• The two changes above result in a decrease in the net discount rate from 1,5% to 1,4% per annum. 

All other assumptions remain unchanged from those used in the previous valuation prepared by the Health 

Monitor Company.

The methodologies and assumptions used in this valuation have remained unchanged from those used in the 

previous valuation prepared by the Health Monitor Company.



A discount rate of 1,4% (2012: 1,5%) has been used to place a present value on future subsidy payments. The rate 

used is consistent with the R186 bond at the time of performing the valuation. This is consistent with IAS 19, which 

states that the discount rate used should reflect the yields on long-term government bonds.

The mortality assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities are:

Pre-retirement Male SA 85–90 (light)

Female SA 85–90 (light) rated down by 3 years

Post-retirement Male PA90 

Female PA90

All employees are assumed to continue their medical scheme membership after retirement.

Other Assumptions

The valuation was based on the current subsidy levels specified in the data provided. It is also assumed that no 

significant changes would occur in the structure of the medical arrangements. The current subsidy scales for 

members as bases for the calculations was used and it is assumed that the scales will remain unchanged (apart for 

adjustments for inflation). If this is not the case, the results of this valuation will be affected.

Sensitivity Analysis

The results above are particularly sensitive to changes in the assumption regarding future increases in medical 

scheme contributions. This is illustrated in the tables below.

Sensitivity analysis – F2012 Accounting Entries:

Base Inflation +1% % change Inflation -1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2012 39,256,500 39,256,500 0,0% 39,256,500 0,0%

Settlements (1,513,059) (1,513,059) 0,0% (1,513,059) 0,0%

Current service costs 832,574 832,574 0,0% 832,574 0,0%

Interest cost 3,210,591 3,210,591 0,0% 3,210,591 0,0%

Actuarial (gain)/loss 442,266 6,188,924 1,299,4% (4,348,238) - 1,083,2%

Liability as at 31 March 2013 42,228,872 47,975,530 13,6% 37,438,368 -11,3%

Sensitivity analysis – F2013 Accounting Entries (projected):

Base Inflation +1% % change Inflation -1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2013 42,228,872 47,975,530 13,6% 37,438,368 -11,3% 

Settlements (1,982,733) (1,982,733) 0,0% (1,982,733) 0,0% 

Current service costs 998,919 1,186,298 18,8% 847,383 -15,2% 

Interest cost 3,589,379 4,091,649 14,0% 3,170,880 -11,7% 

Actuarial (gain)/loss - 0,0% - 0%

Liability as at 31 March 2014 44,834,437 51,270,744 14,4% 39,473,898 -12,0% 
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16.  Contingent Liabilities
Workmen’s Compensation Assurance

In July 2009, the Workmen’s Compensation Assurance (WCA) issued an assessment against the SA National Gallery 

amounting to R35,888. This amount is in respect of levies relating to the period December 2000 to February 2002 

for the SA National Gallery prior to the amalgamation of Iziko. The outcome of this assessment is still uncertain and 

there is no obligation to pay WCA.

Post-retirement Medical Benefits

Thirteen (13) staff members who joined the institution before 1 October 2004 qualify for the post-retirement 

medical aid benefits but have not yet elected to utilise this benefit. The estimated contingent liability is 

R4,804,698.

17.  Related Parties
The controlling entity of Iziko is the Department of Arts and Culture, which provided a subsidy grant for its 

operations. All public entities under the control of the Department of Arts and Culture are a related party to Iziko. 

During the year under review, Iziko did not enter into any transaction with any of the entities.

Department of Arts and Culture

The entity also entered into transactions related to expense recoveries during the year under review. During the 

prior year, the Department of Arts and Culture also provided funding for special projects. The amounts involved in 

the transactions are as follows:

2013 2012

R R

Grant received - subsidy 57,672,000 53,920,000

Expenses recovered 5,891 -

Income received - professional services rendered - 70,000

Income received - professional services rendered 5,985 -

Grant received - Maintenance of Sites Project 9,510,000 -

Grant received - Courtyard Move Project - -

Grant received - Climate Control Project 2,875,000 7,994,000

Balance due to Iziko at year end 5,892 -

The subsidy grant will continue during the next three financial years.

Castle of Good Hope

The Iziko William Fehr Collections are housed at the Castle of Good Hope and there is an agreement that Iziko will 

receive one third (1/3) of the admission fees.

2013 2012

R R

Admission fees 919,221  871,051

Income from venue hire -  5,107

Department of Public Works

All buildings occupied by Iziko are owned by the Department of Public Works and have been occupied at no cost 

during the year. The lease of the buildings is open-ended with no lease term. 



18.  Prior Period Adjustments
Museum Core Function Activities

During the financial year ended 31 March 2011, over-expenditure on a project has been recovered from the general 

reserve funds. The 2012 year’s figures have been restated to reflect the adjustment as follows:

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in net assets

General reserve - projects - 5,979

Increase in net assets

Accumulated funds - 5,979

Salaries and Benefits   

In a prior financial year, an expense in respect of salaries and benefits due to the deceased estate of an employee 

was not accrued for. The 2012 year’s figures have been restated to reflect the adjustment as follows:

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit

Salaries and benefits - 4,942

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Increase in trade and other payables

Other payables - 4,942

Decrease in net assets

Accumulated funds - 4,942

Adjustment to Bank and Legal Costs

During the current year, an invoice was received from a supplier for legal costs incurred during the 2012 financial 

year, resulting in an understatement of accounts payable and legal costs in the prior financial year. The prior year 

figures have been restated as follows:
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Restated

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit

Bank and legal costs - 19,836

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Increase in trade and other payables

Other payables - 19,836

Decrease in net assets

Accumulated funds - 19,836

Adjustment to Other Operating Expenses   

In the previous financial year, an amount invoiced for air transport costs was in dispute with a supplier, but was 

accrued for in the interest of prudence. In the current year, the supplier issued a credit note for the expense. 

The prior year figures have been restated as follows:

Restated

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Decrease in other operating deficit

Travel expenses - 2,208

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in trade and other payables

Other payables - 2,208

Increase in net assets

Accumulated funds - 2,208



Improvement to Leased Property

In the previous financial year, a signage and wayfinding project was implemented. Signage was manufactured and

installed at the museum. These signs were not recognised as assets, resulting in property, plant and equipment

being understated. The prior year’s figures have been restated to reflect the adjustment, as well as the 

corresponding depreciation expenses and accumulated depreciation as follows:

2013

Restated

2012

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit

Depreciation expense – Leasehold improvements - 22,409

Net effect on statement of financial position

Decrease in property, plant and equipment

Accumulated depreciation – Leasehold improvements - 22,409

Increase in property, plant and equipment 

Leasehold improvements 576,009

Increase in net assets 

Accumulated funds - 576,009

Property, Plant and Equipment

In the previous financial year, the rate of depreciation was not determined over the useful life of the asset, resulting 

in property, plant and equipment being overstated. The effect of this adjustment on the prior year balances is as 

follows:

2013

Restated

2012

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit

Depreciation expense - Computers - 4,024

Net effect on statement of financial position

Decrease in property, plant and equipment

Accumulated depreciation - Computers - 4,024

Decrease in net assets 

Accumulated funds - 4,024
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Operating Expenditure

During prior years, certain revenue received from donors for asset purchases were classified as both operating 

expenditure and revenue, resulting in an overstatement of revenue and operating expenses. The prior year’s 

figures have been restated to reflect the adjustment as follows:

2013

Restated

2012

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Decrease in other operating expenses

Museum core function activities - 215,525

Decrease in revenue

Sponsorship - 215,525

19.  Change in Accounting Estimates
Adjustment to Depreciation on Motor Vehicles

At the end of the previous financial year, Iziko re-estimated the remaining useful lives of motor vehicles to a further 

two years. This resulted in a depreciation surplus amounting to R96,935 written back to accumulated depreciation.

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Decrease in operating expenses

Depreciation - 96,935

Net effect on statement of financial position

Increase in assets

Property, plant and equipment - 96,935

Increase in equity 

Accumulated funds - 96,935

Adjustment to Depreciation on Intangible Assets

During the current year, Iziko re-estimated the useful lives of certain assets by a further two years.

This resulted in a depreciation surplus amounting to R22,174 written back to accumulated depreciation.

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Decrease  in operating expenses

Amortisation 22,174 -

Net effect on statement of financial position

Increase in assets -

Intangible assets 22,174

Increase in equity 

Accumulated funds 22,174 -



Adjustment to Depreciation on Property Plant and Equipment

During the current year, Iziko re-estimated the useful lives of certain assets by a further two years.

This resulted in a depreciation surplus amounting to R249,760 written back to accumulated depreciation.

2013 2012

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Decrease in operating expenses

Depreciation: Computer equipment 58,333 -

Depreciation: Equipment 154,789 -

Depreciation: Furniture 36,638 -

Net effect on statement of financial position

Increase in assets

Property, plant and equipment: Computer equipment 58,333 -

Property, plant and equipment: Equipment 154,789 -

Property, plant and equipment: Furniture 36,638 -

Increase in equity 

Accumulated funds 249,760

20. Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 
Iziko presents its approved budget on a cash basis, and the financial statements on the accrual basis.

The approved budget covers the period from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013. The budget is approved by functional or 

programme classification in line with Iziko’s strategic objectives and the Annual Performance Plan approved by its 

Council. The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis using a classification on the nature of expenses 

in the statement of financial performance. The amounts in the financial statements were reclassified by functional 

classification to be on the same basis as the final approved budget.  

Budget Adjustments

The approved budget is the anticipated revenues and expenditure expected to occur in the period under review, 

based on the current plans, as approved by the Council of Iziko.

The final budget is the approved budget adjusted for reallocation of funds, unavoidable expenditures, increases 

in revenue collected and revenue recognised matching the expense for externally funded museum core function 

projects, as well as external funding received earmarked for specific projects which was not yet known at the time 

of the initial budgeting process.  

The approved budget was revised based on the actual income and expenditure up to 30 August 2012, and 

projections were made for the period September 2012 to March 2013. The final budget adjustments were approved 

by the Council of Iziko.
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Approved budget  Adjustments  Final budget

R R R

INCOME    

Government grant 57,672,000 - 57,672,000 

Own income 8,079,624 808,145 8,887,769 

Donations/ sponsorship 5,832,557 5,769,205 11,601,762 

Reserves to be employed 1,243,100 (1,243,100) - 

TOTAL INCOME 72,827,281 5,334,250 78,161,531 

    

EXPENDITURE    

Access and audience development 1,059,788 2,981,144 4,040,932 

Collections and research 3,783,374 2,129,370 5,912,744 

Corporate advancement 523,289 230,812 754,101 

Governance and corporate services 67,460,830 (7,076) 67,453,754 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 72,827,281 5,334,250 78,161,531 

Own income: The approved budget was reviewed and increased by 10% to include anticipated increase in revenue 

from admission fees, professional services rendered and venue hire.

 

Donations/ sponsorship: Projection for grants received from Department of Arts and Culture, National Research 

Foundation, National Lottery funds and other private sponsors was increased by 99% as it became known to Iziko. 

These funds are earmarked for specific projects, in some cases to be completed during the current year, whereas 

other projects have a life cycle of at least two years and more.  

Employment of reserves: Employment of reserves is for special projects which are once off expenses.                 

For budgeting and cash flow purposes, the estimated costs for such expenditure are reflected in the budget to 

indicate the outflow of income from the government grant and own income generated. Due to the additional own 

income generated, savings and revision of budgets, employment of reserves was not utilised as anticipated at the 

beginning of the year. 

Access and audience development: The budget was increased by 281% for the museum core function activities due 

to notification from external funding agencies on sponsorship/ donations earmarked for specific projects such as 

exhibitions, education and public programmes.

Collections and research: The budget was increased by 56% for the museum core function activities due to 

notification from external funding agencies on sponsorship/ donations earmarked for specific projects, such as 

collections management and research.

Corporate advancement: The budget was increased by 44% to accommodate for the review of Iziko’s marketing, 

promotion of programmes, facilities and communications for specific projects that were funded externally.



Capital Budget Approved budget  Adjustments  Final budget

R R R

Computers 409,400 258,897        668,297 

Computer software 130,000 365,507        495,507 

Equipment 251,200 (24,907)       226,293 

Furniture 16,500 92,742        109,242 

Improvement to leased property - 2,542,490 2,542,490 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 807,100 3,234,729      4,041,829 

The approved budget was reviewed and increased by 401%, mainly due to improvement to leased property, IT 

infrastructure, and research projects. Funding was received from the Department of Arts and Culture, funding 

agencies and private donors, earmarked specifically for these projects.  

As a result of an exhibition for which external funding was received, the need arose for the installation of a climate 

control system costing R2,542,490. Capital funding was obtained from the Department of Arts and Culture for the 

installation of the Climate Control System. 

A major IT server consolidation project was implemented, and with the roll-out of the project, additional hardware 

and upgrade of the Microsoft Office software had to be acquired as well.

The furniture budget was reviewed and adjusted to include the completion of the specially designed and 

manufactured insect cabinets and office furniture, and the installation thereof.

Differences between current year budget and actual expenses

Final budget Actual
Difference between final 

budget and actual

R R R

INCOME    

Government grant 57,672,000 57,672,000 -

Own income 8,887,769 10,214,635 (1,326,866)

Donations/ sponsorship 11,601,762 7,000,906 4,600,856 

Reserves to be employed -                    - - 

TOTAL INCOME 78,161,531 74,887,541 3,273,990 

    

EXPENDITURE    

Access and audience development 4,040,932 2,553,346 1,487,586 

Collections and research 5,912,744 2,255,152 3,657,592 

Corporate advancement 754,101 653,120 100,981 

Governance and corporate services 67,453,754 66,480,272 973,482 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 78,161,531 71,941,890 6,219,641 

NET SURPLUS FOR THE yEAR - 2,945,651 (2,945,651)
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Own income is 15% more than that budgeted for the year. This is due to additional own income generation from 

gate revenue (24%), sales (204%), professional services fees (14%) and rental of facilities/ venue hire (15%) in 

comparison to the budget for the period under review.

 

Donations/ sponsorship: Only 60% of projected income was received. Sponsorship from funding agencies 

earmarked for specific projects was not yet received as anticipated during the year. Furthermore, not all income 

earmarked for specific projects included in the budget was utilised during this period. Some projects have a lifespan 

of more than one (1) year and deferred until the completion of the project.

Access and audience development: This function covers expenditure for exhibitions, education and public 

programmes. The actual expenditure was 63% of the projected budget as a result of funding not yet received from 

funding agencies during the year. Projects had to be scaled down and deferred until the funds awarded are paid to 

Iziko. Less expenditure was incurred than the budget due to outstanding funds raised for exhibition programmes 

and projects from external sources but not yet received during this period under review. It is anticipated that 

the funding will be received during the next year when the projects will be completed. However, projects have 

progressed with the available resources during the year under review. 

Collections and research: This function includes the development and preservation of collections. The actual 

expenditure is 38% of budget allocation. Most of the research and collection management projects are special 

projects that are funded externally and expenses are incurred as and when required. These special projects have 

a lifespan of at least two (2) years and more, and activities will continue during the next year. Less expenditure 

was incurred than the budget due to the packing and transfer of collections and staff to temporary premises being 

placed on hold as a result of the delays experienced by the Department of Public Works with the sourcing of a 

location/ building for Natural History Collections.

Corporate advancement: This function includes marketing and promotions, communications and partnerships. 

The actual expenditure for this programme is 87% of the budget allocation. Underspending is due to certain 

marketing and communication projects such as the website development and maintenance being implemented and 

not yet completed as planned during the period under review. The project has progressed considerably and will be 

completed during the next financial year.

governance and corporate services includes personnel, administration and operational costs. The actual 

expenditure is 99% of the budget allocation.

Capital Budget

Final budget Actual 
Difference between final 

budget and actual 

EXPENDITURE R R R

Computers 668,297 7 1 1 ,18 1 (42,884)

Computer software 495,507 512,434 (16,927)

Equipment  226,293 715,279 (488,986)

Furniture  109,242 99,450 9,792 

Improvement to leased property 2,542,490 2,542,490 -

TOTAL 4,041,829 4,580,834 (539,005)



Computers and computer software: Expenditure on Computers (6%) and Computer Software (3%) was more 

than budget. This is due to externally generated funding received, which were earmarked for specific projects that 

required computer hardware and software to be purchased. The income and expenditure for these projects were 

included in the operational budget. The capital expenditure was determined after the budget had been approved. 

Equipment: Expenditure on equipment is 216% more than budget. This is due to externally generated funding 

received, which was earmarked for specific projects that required equipment to be purchased for research, 

education and marketing purposes, as well as a disaster management project. The income and expenditure for 

these projects were included in the operational budget. The capital expenditure was determined after the budget 

had been approved. 

Furniture: The under-spending is due to furniture no longer required as anticipated. 

Reconciliation of budget to cash flow statement

 Operating Financing Investing Total

Actual amount on comparable basis as presented in the 
budget and actual comparative statement

2,945,651 - - 2,945,651

Basis differences 14,556,171 - (4,563,334) 9,992,837

Timing differences - - - -

Entity differences - - - -

Actual amount in the cash flow statement 17,501,822 - (4,563,334) 12,938,488

Reconciliation of budget and statement of financial performance

2013 2012

R R

Net surplus/(deficit) per the statement of financial performance 2,945,651 (427,172)

Adjusted for:

Fair value adjustments  -  -

Impairments recognised/ reversed  -  -

Surplus/ deficit on the sale of assets  -  -

Increases/ decreases in provisions  

Increase in government grant  -  -

Decrease in own income generated 3,273,989 2,508,952

Decrease in reserves employed - 1,321,983

Decrease in expenditure (6,219,640) (3,403,763)

Net surplus/deficit per approved budget - -
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21.  Irregular Expenditure
2013 2012

R R

Opening balance 3,851,080 3,329,958

Add: Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation – current year - 498,653

Other irregular expenditure – current year - 22,469

3,851,080 3,851,080

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year - 521,122

Prior year 3,851,080 3,329,958

3,851,080 3,851,080

Expenditure incurred without applying the preference point system  
to all procurement of goods and services above R30,000 as required 
by section 2(a) of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 
2000 (Act No. 5 of 2000) - 498,653

- 498,653

Representations have been made to National Treasury for condonation of expenditure incurred without applying 

the preference point system to all procurement of goods and services above R30,000 as required by section 2(a) 

of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000 (Act No. 5 of 2000) amounting to R3,329,958 in prior 

years and R498,653 during the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

22.  Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

2013 2012

R R

13,716 5,986

During the year under review, expenditure amounting to R13,716 (2012: R5,986) could have been avoided had 

sufficient care been taken, and is therefore regarded as fruitless and wasteful expenditure as defined by the Public 

Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).



23.  Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA)
Section 55 (2)

No material losses through criminal conduct were incurred during the year. Irregular, fruitless or wasteful 

expenditure has been disclosed in notes 21 and 22.

Section 53 (3)

The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval of the National Treasury has been 

obtained. Application was made to the National Treasury, via the Department of Arts and Culture, to be exempted 

from investing Iziko’s surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 

31. In terms of guidelines from the Treasury, the surplus arrears to be related to accumulated surplus as per the 

statement of financial position at the time of application. Iziko had an accumulated deficit, and approval was 

therefore not required.

Section 54 (2)

In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulations 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.
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Installation view. Some of the award-winning photographs on display during the 
Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2012 exhibition, Iziko South African Museum.

6.  APPENDICES
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6.1  Facilities Management
The strategic objective for 2012/13 related to facilities management was, “to implement strategies to improve and 

maintain Iziko facilities to ensure that collections are housed in African museums of excellence”.

6.1.1 Repairs and Maintenance
Iziko is responsible for all maintenance work below a threshold which is set by the Department of Public Works 

(DPW) from time to time. Calls are logged with DPW for maintenance work that is estimated to be higher than 

the threshold, and monthly meetings are held with DPW to discuss progress. In order for Site Managers to more 

effectively track progress, the Programmes Manager, in consultation with Customer Services Management (CSM) 

management, developed an electronic tracking tool to more effectively manage progress.

6.1.2  Major Repair & Renovation (R&R) Projects
Large repair and renovation projects are funded by DPW, based on the requirements listed in the User Asset 

Management Plan (UAMP). However, the last time that funding was received for a major R&R project was in 2005, 

for the Iziko South African Museum.

As a result, many of the historic buildings in the care of Iziko have been neglected and where, for example, windows 

could have been repaired, these now have to be replaced at a much higher cost.

A request was therefore submitted to the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) to fund the development of a five-

year Maintenance and Conservation Plan. Although DAC is not responsible for major R&R projects, R9,51 million was 

allocated to appoint an Architect Consultant familiar with historic buildings in the Western Cape, as well as a Project 

Manager to implement the Maintenance and Conservation Plan, as Iziko does not have the technical experience to 

manage a major R&R project. Tender processes will commence in the next reporting period.

6.1.3  Capital Projects
The Department of Arts and Culture has funded the following capital projects:

6.1.3.1  Climate Control for the King’s Map (working title, Le Vaillant) Exhibition

President Sarkozy of France and President Zuma signed an agreement, aimed to foster a closer people-to-people 

relationship between France and South Africa during the French Seasons in 2012 and 2013.

As part of the 2012 French Season in South Africa, the French Consulate approached Iziko to host a travelling 

exhibition, entitled The King’s Map: François Le Vaillant in Southern Africa: 1781–1784, to showcase François Le 

Vaillant (1753–1874). Le Vaillant is not only recognised as the first significant modern ornithologist, he was a 

dedicated traveller who created a window on southern Africa through his writings, watercolours and maps that 

vividly depict both nature and human interaction at that time. 

The plan was to exhibit original maps and drawings made by Le Vaillant, held in the National Library of France in 

Paris, including one of his most outstanding contributions, a multi-media map for King Louis XVI of France, which 

is a record of biodiversity and animal distribution in South Africa, captured during his travels. However, the area 

identified for the exhibition did not have the necessary climate control, so a funding proposal was submitted to DAC, 

and R2,85 million was allocated to install climate control.
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DPW also assisted in renovating an area which was previously not utilised as an exhibition area. Through the 

dedication of partners and staff, the area was upgraded to an exhibition area and the climate control was installed 

in time for the launch in November 2012.

6.1.3.2  Courtyard Project

DAC approved capital funding to build five storeys within the courtyard at ISAM to house collections, offices and 

laboratories, as well as give access to the public to view collections in storage, and Specimen Preparators working 

on fossils and other specimen.

Block C needed to be vacated before the project commenced, however, a delay caused by DPW in the procurement 

of offsite storage resulted in construction taking place amidst staff and collections. 

6.1.3.3  Signage and Wayfinding Project (Phase 2)

In the first phase of the Signage and Wayfinding Project, an audit of signage and wayfinding of all Iziko sites was 

done, and internal and external signage was manufactured and installed at ISAM and ISHC.

The next phase of the Signage and Wayfinding Project aims to provide all Iziko sites with new signage, in line with 

what already exists at the ISAM and ISHC. The tender date will be set in the new reporting period.

6.1.3.4  Installation of Integrated Security System (Phase 2) 

In Phase 1, CCTV cameras and equipment racks were installed at major sites. In the next phase, CCTV cameras were 

installed at all other sites, except IGC, as the fibre optic network does not extend to the greater Cape Town area.

As part of the project, the control room at ISAM, from where all cameras are monitored, must be enlarged to 

accommodate the additional screens. The enlargement of the control room and installation of the equipment for 

linking up with the remote sites will fall within the scope of the Courtyard Project. Installations at the remote sites 

have been completed and signed off, and the extension of the control room will be completed in the next 

reporting period.

6.1.3.5  Chillers at ISANG

It is critical for the preservation of artworks that temperature is controlled at the ISANG. The old chiller was 

therefore replaced and a second chiller installed.

6.1.3.6  Fire Suppressant System: IR&V 

A new fire suppressant system was installed at IR&V, as the old system no longer complied with health and 

safety regulations.

6.1.3.7 Paraplegic Access and Ablutions 

This project has been completed at 10 of the 12 Iziko sites. The IWFC is housed at the Castle of Good Hope, which is 

managed by the South African National Defence Force, so Iziko is not responsible for the upgrade of the facility. 



The architect’s cross-section impression of the Iziko South African Museum 
following the completion of the Courtyard Project, with entrance on the far 
left, and courtyard in C-Block.

6.2 Donors
Iziko Museums of South Africa gratefully acknowledges the generous contributions over the past year of 

various donors who have assisted to supplement our subsidy from DAC and to make key exhibitions, educational 

programmes, research and training possible. 

A total of R7,000,906 in donor funding was received in 2012/13.

Donors included:

• Abe Bailey Trust

• Cape Town Fashion Council

• City of Cape Town

• Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector Education and Training Authority (CATHSSETA) 

• Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) 

• Department of Cultural Affairs and Sport: Western Cape Government

• German Consulate Cape Town

• Goethe Institut

• Institut Français Afrique du Sud (IFAS)

• International Committee for Museums and Collections of Archaeology and History/ International Committee  

 for Collecting (ICMAH/COMCOL)

• Lexshell Pty Ltd

• Lidderdale Trust (annual bequest)

• Month of Photography

• MTN Foundation

• Naspers

• National Arts Council (NAC)

• National Heritage Council (NHC)

• National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF)

• National Research Foundation (NRF)

A B
C
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• Palaeontological Scientific Trust (PAST)

• Peninsula Beverages 

• South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA)

• South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB) 

• South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI)

• University of the Western Cape

6.3  Partners 
Various existing ongoing partnerships continue to contribute in diverse ways to the successful delivery of our 

strategic objectives. These include:

• Abe Bailey Trust

• Apartheid Museum

• British Council

• Business Art South Africa (BASA)

• Cape Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT) 

• Cape Town Tourism

• Castle Control Board

• Creative Cape Town

• Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector Education and Training Authority (CATHSSETA) 

• Department of Public Works (DPW)

• Dutch Consulate

• Freedom Park

• French Consulate

• Friends of the Iziko Michaelis Collection

• Friends of the Iziko South African Museum

• Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery

• George Washington University

• German Consulate

Current façade of Iziko’s flagship social and natural history museum, 
the Iziko South African Museum.



• Golden Arrow Bus Company

• Groot Constantia Trust

• International Council of Museums (ICOM)

• Italian Consulate

• MTN New Contemporaries Award and Exhibition

• National Heritage Council (NHC)

• National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF)

• National Research Foundation (NRF)

• South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA)

• South African Museums Association (SAMA)

• University of Cape Town (UCT)

• University of the Western Cape (UWC)

• Western Cape Education Department (WCED)

The Friends of the Iziko South African National gallery

The Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery played a momentous role in contributing to the purchase of 

the sculpture by Mary Sibande entitled The Reign (2010). The Friends contributed R140,000 towards the acquisition 

– as did Iziko Art Collections – towards the total amount of R280,000. This was the most expensive purchase of an 

artwork to the Iziko South African National Gallery permanent collection. An acquisition ceremony was held on 

29 November 2012, followed by an illustrated lecture by the artist and a cocktail party. The long-standing and 

mutually beneficial partnership was cemented via this purchase. Other contributions and sponsorships from the 

Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery have been two contemporary artworks in glass beads and textile 

by artist Tamlin Blake entitled 1st Airmail Issue 3d ultramarine blue stamp 1925 (2004) and Standard Mail traditional 

Xhosa design (2004). The Friends also contributed to purchases of two collectors’ books by Barbara Tyrrell to the 

South African National Gallery library entitled, Suspicion is My Name and Tribal Peoples of Southern Africa. This was 

linked to an exhibition of Tyrrell’s work entitled Iqholo le Afrika (Her African Pride) held at the Iziko South African 

National Gallery.

The Friends of the Iziko South African Museum

The Friends of the Iziko South African Museum continued to have an active programme of events for its members. 

These included a lecture on the last Tuesday of each month; the usual fossil-finding fieldtrip to the Karoo with Iziko 

palaeontologist, Dr Roger Smith; a fieldtrip to Anysberg Nature Reserve with palaeontologist, Dr John Almond; a 

fieldtrip to Bosch Luys Kloof Private Nature Reserve; and a number of outings, including Kirstenbosch and exploring 

the tunnels under Cape Town.

The Friends of the Iziko Michaelis Collection

The Friends of the Iziko Michaelis Collection continued to support educational initiatives over the past financial year, 

contributing R5,000 to the Ibhabhathane Project towards transport and materials for children who visited the Iziko 

Old Town House last year. A further R2,500 was awarded for the conservation of Caterina van Hemmessen’s Self-

Portrait (Flemish, 16th century) in the Collection.

In addition, key partnerships forged by Iziko in 2012/2013 supported strategic delivery of exhibitions, education 

and research programmes. Over and above donor income actually banked, the Rand value equivalent of these 

partnerships is estimated to exceed R9,086,748 during the reporting period.
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• Anglo American Farms (Vergelegen). Loan of Iziko South African National Gallery (ISANG) collection to the  

 Homestead Museum.

• Apartheid Museum/ Tambo Foundation/ National Heritage Council (NHC). The exhibition, Oliver Reginald Tambo:  

 The modest revolutionary was made possible via this partnership with Iziko. The Apartheid Museum produced  

 this exhibition. 

• Birdlife South Africa. An annual collaborative project with Iziko to present the Save Our Seabird Festival (SOS),  

 intended to raise awareness nationally of the role of seabirds in marine ecosystems, and highlight the importance  

 of managing marine ecosystems sustainably.

• The Cape Lace Guild exhibition celebrated the 30th anniversary of the guild, and showcased exquisite pieces made  

 by members over the years at the Cloete Office at Groot Constantia.

• Cape Town Tourism. A joint marketing, communication and PR agreement with Iziko’s department of Institutional  

 Advancement (IA), with particular focus on Iziko’s Heritage Week and Celebrate Summer campaigns.

• City of Cape Town/ Cyan Development/ Art for Social Development, a visual arts and performing arts programme  

 with two exhibitions (Cyan & HIVAids). 

• Department of Science and Technology (DST). Funded Nausheena Parker’s internship in Marine Biology.

• Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), Fisheries Branch. A partnership to contribute   

 specimens to the Iziko Marine Biology collections, arising from DAFF fieldtrips; assist Marine Biology staff in  

 the identification and organisation of specimens in the collections; undertake collaborative research with Marine  

 Biology curators; and provide input to the formulation of marine-related exhibitions at the Iziko South African  

 Museum (ISAM).

• DAFF, Fisheries Branch. Working with Dr Kevin Christison, this is a partnership intended to contribute specimens to  

 the Marine Invertebrates collection, arising from DAFF fieldtrips; assist Marine Biology staff in the organisation of  

 the Platyhelminthes collection; and provide input to the formulation of marine-related exhibitions at the ISAM.

• Dr Graham Avery. Research on archaeozoology and mentorship in Cenozoic Palaeontology, as well as assistance  

 with exhibitions at Iziko.

• French Consulate Cape Town/ Association Rendez-Vous/ Musée d’art contemporain de Lyon/ the Institut d’art  

 contemporain, Villeurbanne/ Rhône-Alpes/ École nationale supérieure des beaux arts de Lyon/ French–South  

 Africa Seasons Sponsors (list). Collaborated with Iziko’s Art Collections department to support the realisation of  

 Rendez-Vous 12, a contemporary art exhibition of 20 young artists from 10 different countries at the ISANG. This  

 exhibition formed part of the French-South Africa Season 2012.

• The French Consulate/ French–South Africa Seasons Sponsors/ National Arts Council (NAC)/ Department of  

 Arts and Culture (DAC)/ Department of Public Works (DPW)/ Bibliotechque Nationale, Paris, France/ University  

 of Cape Town (UCT) Centre for Film and Media Studies. These partners worked in collaboration, lead by   

 curator, Ian Glenn, Professor of Media Studies and Director of the Centre for Film and Media Studies at UCT to  

 present the groundbreaking exhibition, The Kings Map: François Le Vaillant at the ISAM, based on this research  

 spanning more than 20 years. This exhibition was curated as a partnership between all Iziko’s core function  

 departments as represented in the curatorial teams, integrating the genres of art, social and natural history. The  

 exhibition was presented in an area in the ISAM which had been used for storage for many years, but was in fact  

 the original site of the South African National Gallery prior to the construction of the purpose-built gallery in 1930.  

 DAC and DPW made the upgrade of this space possible, creating the second climate controlled space at Iziko that  

 complies with international standards.

• George Washington University. An ongoing partnership intended to both fund and assist with the implementation  

 of the South African Slave Wrecks research project.

• German Consulate. Covered the costs of the opening of the exhibition Candice Breitz: Extra! 



Visitors at the opening of the Rendez-Vous 12 exhibition at the 
Iziko South African National Gallery.

On 29 November 2012, the Friends of the South African National 
Gallery and Iziko presented a talk with artist Mary Sibande, following 
the joint purchase for the Gallery of the work The Reign (pictured).

• Goethe Institut. Covered transport and exhibition-related costs for the exhibition Candice Breitz: Extra!

• Goodman Gallery/ Siemon Allen. Collaborated with Iziko’s Social History Collections department to present  

 “Labels”, an installation of record covers, disc and other images that reflect South African music and musicians.

• Institute of International Visual Arts (INIVA). Following the 2011 retrospective of the work of Peter Clarke at ISANG  

 and the inclusion of his work on the Dak’art Biennale, INIVA sponsored an exhibition at Rivington Place London  

 showcasing the work of Peter Clarke and curated by Director Art Collections, Riason Naidoo.

• Juliette Leeb-du Toit. The donation of her collection of shweshwe cloth assimilated over a period of more than 20  

 years, linked research, and her expertise in this area, made the exhibition The isishweshwe story: material women?,  

 at the Iziko Slave Lodge (ISL) possible.

• Killie Campbell Museum. Collaborated with Iziko to present the exhibition Iqholo le Afrika: A centenary celebration  

 of the life and work of Barbara Tyrrell, opened on the artist’s 100th birthday at ISANG.

• Lee Botti & Associates. A collaboration with EPP to present a learners’ development programme at the Iziko  

 Maritime Centre.

• Les Anneaux de la Memoire, Nantes, France. Presented Shackles of Memory a travelling exhibition looking at  

 the Atlantic Slave Trade in relation to France, hosted at the ISL from December 2012. Coordinated by Patricia  

 Beauchamp Afade.

• Lidderdale Trust. Annual bequests for upkeep of Iziko Bertram House.

• MTN SA Foundation. Funded and presented the biennale art exhibition MTN New Contemporaries Award 2012 in  

 collaboration with the Iziko Social History Collections department in the B Block at the Castle of Good Hope.

• National Heritage Council (NHC). Funded the marine archaeology project to retrieve the Sao Jose, a slave ship  

 wrecked off Clifton Beach in Cape Town.

• National Research Foundation (NRF). Funding for ‘Archaeologies of Antarctica: An investigation into human  

 physical and psychological responses to extreme environmental conditions via an archaeological investigation  

 of the early 20th century shipwrecked sealer and associated survivor’s camp at Ship’s Cove, Marion Island’.  

 A three-year partnership 2012–2014.

• Natural History Unit (NHU) Africa. Co-funded with Iziko, the annual natural history photography exhibition Wildlife  

 Photographer of the Year 2012 at the ISAM.
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• Odendaal Esterhuyse. Created a web-based virtual exhibition of the William Fehr Collection as a volunteer/  

 pilot project.

• Rhodes University. Funded post-graduate research by Abraham Izak Pretorius, MSc student in Entomology,  

 supervised by Simon van Noort, Iziko Natural History Collections department. (Funds administered by Rhodes  

 University.)

• Rhodes University. Funded post-graduate research by Candice Owen, MSc student in Entomology, supervised by  

 Simon van Noort, Iziko Natural History Collections department. (Funds administered by Rhodes University.)

• South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI)/ University of Cape Town, Dr Mariette Brand. NRF SANBI  

 post-graduate research in Entomology, supervised by Simon van Noort and person at SANBI. (Funds administered  

 by UCT.)

• St George’s Cathedral Crypt & Memory Centre. An African Tale of the Mother City. A celebration of the courage  

 and vigour of women and men who, during the late 1970s and the 1980s, asserted the right of African families to  

 live and work in Cape Town presented at the ISL.

• Standard Bank Gallery. This annual and longstanding partnership presents the work of the winner of the Standard  

 Bank Young Artist, making the exhibition of this year’s winner Mikhael Subotzky’s exhibition Retinal Shift possible.

• Stellenbosch University. Funded Dr Pascal Rousse, NRF SABI Postdoc in Entomology, supervised by Simon van  

 Noort, Iziko Natural History Collections department. (Funds administered by Stellenbosch University.)

• Taj Cape Town & Moja Heritage Collection. A marketing collaboration linked to the publication of the Moja Heritage  

 Tourism Guide Book and the Tourism Indaba 2013.

• University of Cape Town (UCT), Michaelis School of Fine Art, in collaboration with Iziko’s Art Collections   

 department, will present an Honours in Curatorship programme 2013–2016, which will include an annual exhibition,  

 workshops, internships and bursaries of up to R50,000 per student. Made possible via a 3-year grant via the  

 Mellon Foundation.

• UCT. The Centre for Curating the Archive at the UCT Michaelis School of Fine Art designed and conceptualised  

 the Spring Queen exhibition presented at Iziko Bertram House. Cape Town’s Spring Queen pageant is one of the  

 largest and longest running fashion pageants in history, a unique event in which female factory workers from the  

 textile and clothing industry in the Western Cape take to the ramp and model to showcase not only beauty, but  

 also personality and style. This exhibition engaged with various public and private collections of images of the  

Ms Rooksana Omar, former Minister Dr Pallo Jordan and 
Mr Bongani Ndhlovu at the opening of Oliver Reginald Tambo: 
The  modest revolutionary, on 20 March 2013, at the Iziko Slave Lodge. 

Cape Town-based artists Unathi Sigenu and Khanyisile 
Mbongwa’s installation Die Kat (2012), part of the MTN New 
Contemporaries Award 2012, at the Castle of Good Hope.



Members of the Handspring Puppet Company put on a 
performance for guests at the Uncontained: opening the 
Community Arts Project archive opening on 10 October 2012.

 Spring Queen pageant, and imagines a possible future achive as a space for connectivity, creativity, storytelling  

 and the re-imagining of history.

• UCT, New Media Department. The exhibition Community Punching Bags was the outcome of a series of workshops  

 with educators and learners, in collaboration with Johann van der Schijff, artist and New Media lecturer at UCT,  

 and EPP. The project aimed to raise awareness around issues often not spoken about in the school environment,  

 such as violence, stereotyping, discrimination, racism, and xenophobia. 

• UCT. (UCT funded Dr Natasha Muna, NRF SABI Postdoc in Entomology, supervised by Simon van Noort, Iziko  

 Natural History Collections department.

• UCT, Michaelis School of Fine Art doctoral student, Carine Zaayman presented an installation in the Lady Anne  

 Barnard Banqueting Hall as part of her PhD exhibition.

• University of Poiters, France, funded Pierre-Olivier Maquart’s internship in Entomology, working on wasp   

 systematics under Simon van Noort, Iziko Natural History Collections department.

• University of the Western Cape (UWC) covered the costs related to the opening of the Community Arts Project  

 (CAP) and exhibition of the CAP archive of woodcut and linocut prints, Uncontained at the ISANG.

• UWC Department of Sociology and Social Anthropology/ the Institute for Poverty, Land and Agrarian Studies  

 (PLAAS)/ University of Stellenbosch/ the Centre for Law and Society/ the Research Office and the Libraries of the  

 University of Cape Town/ the Rosa Luxemburg Foundation. Collaborated with Iziko’s Art Collections department  

 to present Umhlaba 100 Years: Commemorating the 1913 Land Act, a photographic exhibition focusing on the 1913  

 Native Land Act, curated by David Goldblatt, Paul Weinberg, Pam Warne and Bongi Dhlomo-Mautloa.

In addition, our Education & Public Programmes department and Planetarium benefit from the following, often 

ongoing, relationships that enhance our sustained delivery in this high priority focus area: 

African Tales; ANEXCD; ASTRO SOC; Big Fish; Boundless; British Council; Cape Argus; Cape Guild of Weavers; 

Cape Town Festival; Children’s Art Center; CHUMA Org; Community Punching Bags; CPUT; Cyan Development; 

D6 Museum; Department of Cultural Affairs Western Cape; EPP Advisory Committee; Equal Education; Harold Porter 

Botanical Gardens; Heart Foundation; Ibhabhathane; Ithemba Labantu Ceramics; Johannesburg Planetarium (part 

of Wits University); Khayelitsha Museum; Lalela Project; MAP (special needs); Metrorail; Ort Tech; Over the Rainbow; 

Visitors enjoy a walkabout of the Uncontained exhibition 
at the Iziko South African National Gallery.
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Peace Ambassadors; PHOTOG SOC; PUMA; Rubitex; South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO); 

Teaching Biology Project; Theatre in the Park; Tiervlei Community Development Group; University of Cape Town; 

University of Cape Town (Astronomy Dept.); UNAWE; Vangate Mall; Western Cape Archive; Western Cape Education 

Department; Western Cape Museum Education Forum; Word Press Photo

6.4  Exhibitions
Social History Collections

• Spring Queen: the staging of the glittering proletariat, 28 July to 24 August 2012 at the Iziko Bertram House  

 Annexe.

• Month of Photography exhibitions, 27 September to 21 October 2012 at the Castle – soft opening at the ISL.

• MTN New Contemporaries Award, 12 December to 25 January 2013 in Castle B Block.

• Cape Lace: Celebrating 30 years of the Cape Lace Guild, 3 November to 2 December 2012, Cloete Office, Groot Constantia.

•  An African Tale of the Mother City, 1 November 2012 until early 2013, ISL. (Participation in Le Vaillant exhibition 

and hosted small art intervention in the Banqueting Hall.)

• “Labels”, Siemon Allen’s artwork on record labels, 14 January to 31 December 2013, ISL.

• Words of Slaves, Places of Memory, photographs by Philippe Monges depicting areas in Africa, the Caribbean and  

 France, which provide a glimpse of places pregnant with the history of slavery, 14 January to 30 June 2013, ISL.

• The isishweshwe story: material women? Opened 22 February 2013, for 3 years, ISL.

• Dinner for 101, 25 February to 17 March 2013, Banqueting Hall, Castle of Good Hope. 

• Oliver Reginald Tambo: The modest revolutionary, opened 20 March 2013, for 1 to 2 years, ISL.

Natural History Collections

• Wonderful World of Wasps, 5 April to 30 September 2012, ISAM.

• Month of Photography exhibitions, 28 September to 31 October 2012, ISAM.

• Oceans of Life (Birdlife SA Seabird Festival) 8 October to 20 November 2012, ISAM.

• Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2012, 4 December 2012 to 3 March 2013, ISAM.

• R-A-T: An Associative Ordering, 8 December 2012 to 8 December 2013, ISAM.

The opening of Standard Bank Young Artist 2012: Mikhael 
Subotzky’s Retinal Shift on 28 November 2012, at the Iziko 
South African National Gallery.

Community Punching Bags originated from a series of workshops with 
educators and learners, in collaboration with Johann van der Schijff 
and Iziko Education and Public Programmes.



Installation view of Unathi Sigenu 
and Khanyisile Mbongwa’s Space Ship 
(2012) at the Castle of Good Hope.

A visitor to the Rendez-Vous 12 exhibition interacts 
with Sandra Lorenzi’s Cabinet de reflexion (2012), 
at the Iziko South African National Gallery.

Art Collections

• Candice Breitz: EXTRA!, 25 April to 22 July 2012, ISANG.

•  Rendez-Vous 12, an exhibition from the Lyon Biennale, organised as part of the France-South Africa Seasons 2012 

& 2013. 11 July 2012 to 24 March 2013, ISANG.

• Uncontained: Opening the Community Arts Project Archive, 15 August 2012 to 12 April 2013, ISANG.

• Dialogues: Conversations between ‘old’ and ‘new’, permanent collection, 15 August 2012 to 12 April 2013, ISANG.

• New Additions, new acquisitions from the permanent collection, 17 September to 11 November 2012, ISANG.

• The 8th Definitive Stamp Series: The luminous beauty of South African beadwork, 8 September to 11 November  

 2012, ISAM.

• Standard Bank Young Artist 2012: Mikhael Subotzky Retinal Shift, 29 November 2012 to 9 January 2013, ISANG.

• Umhlaba 100 Years: Commemorating the 1913 Land Act, 25 March to 28 July 2013, ISANG.

Education

 The Education & Public Programmes department (EPP) installed 7 exhibitions in collaboration with other partners. 6 

exhibitions were shown at the Annexe; and the Spoken–Unspoken, HIV/Aids exhibition at the ISAM. 

• Community Punching Bags, in collaboration with Johann van der Schijff, 23 April to 23 June 2012.

• Mandela our Icon, in conjunction with College of Cape Town, 24 July 2012.

• Ernest Mancoba Education Poster Project, in collaboration with UBUNTU trust, 27 August 2012.

• Cyan Youth Exhibition, 1 October 2012.

• Black Folk, in collaboration with UCT, 5 November 2012.

• Spoken–Unspoken, HIV/Aids exhibition, 30 November 2012.

• Voices of the Youth, 9 to 29 March 2013.

• The King’s Map: François Le Vaillant in Southern Africa 1781–1784, inter-departmental exhibition, 29 November 2012  

 to 30 May 2013, ISAM: Joint EPP, Social History, Natural History and Art Collections exhibition. Part of the France- 

 South Africa Seasons 2012 & 2013.

Installation view, Month of Photography 
exhibition, Iziko South African Museum.
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6.5  Workshops and Conferences
Social History Collections

• ‘Southern African ceramics: Yesterday, today and tomorrow’, 14 July 2012, Castle of Good Hope Gallery.

• Shanaaz Galant attended the Federation of International Human Rights Museums (FIHRM) conference at Liverpool  

 Museum and presented on the transformation of the Slave Lodge in terms of exhibitions and public programmes,  

 9 to 10 October 2012.

• Paul Tichmann presented a paper at the SAMA National Conference in Paarl, entitled ‘The Bo-Kaap Museum:  

 Challenges of Community, Identity and Representation in a changing society’, 30 October 2012.

• Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum hosted ‘Debating Space, History and Heritage: the Bo-Kaap Sites’ with panelists including  

 Mr Osman Shabodien of the Bo-Kaap Civic Association, Dr Noëleen Murray of UWC and Prof. Stephen Townsend of  

 UCT, 20 November 2012.

• Lalou Meltzer, Paul Tichmann and Shanaaz Galant, in partnership with EPP, organised a panel discussion on  

 ‘Slavery, Human Trafficking and Migration’ in observation of the International Day for the Abolition of Slavery  

 at the ISL, 3 December 2012. Participation of the International Organization on Migration in the person of Marija  

 Nikolovska is acknowledged, as well as Patriq Tariq Mellet from the Department of Home Affairs. 

• Sven Ouzman gave a paper ‘Fracturing time and place: an archaeology of the Karoo’ (16 October) at the 2nd  

 Claiming our Futures Karoo conference, Beaufort West, 14 to 17 October 2012. He was also asked to sit as panel  

 member on a ‘Mining and Ecology’ working group, 17 October 2012.

•  Sven Ouzman gave the opening paper ‘Artefacts rights: what it means to be human in a networked world’ at 

ICMAH/COMCOL conference at Iziko South African Museum, 6 to 10 November 2012. 

• The Green Point Project, arranged by Sven Ouzman, 7 March 2013.

• Sven Ouzman, talk on water for Friends of the Iziko SA Museum, 26 February 2013.

• Jaco Boshoff arranged a presentation by the New National Museum of African American History and Culture,  

 19 February 2013.

•  Panelists Gerald Klinghardt and Sven Ouzman participated in a discussion on François Le Vaillant and the 

exhibition at the ISAM, 12 February 2013.

• Discussion and walkabout of Dinner for 101 and visit to Helsinki World Design Capital, Esther Esmyol, 9 March 2013.

A participant at the 
Community Punching 
Bags workshop.

Kent Lingeveldt (right) shapes a skateboard during the International Museum Day 2012 
programme at the Iziko South African Museum.



Natural History Collections

• Dylan Clarke presented a talk on the large pelagic fishery at ISAM, 17 April 2012.

• Erika Mias presented a talk at ISAM on the Ether/Spectrum collection management conference, 17 April 2012.

• Eugene Bergh presented a seminar to UCT Geology on Kogelberg sandstone mountain fynbos ecosystem   

 geochemical cycling, 18 April 2012.

• Eugene Bergh presented a talk on a post-fire geochemical cycling regime in a fynbos ecosystem at the European  

 Geosciences Union General Assembly 2012, Vienna, Austria, 22–27 April 2012.

• Simon van Noort hosted and ran a 3-week workshop on collaborative development of identification keys to  

 Afrotropical Cynipoidea genera with Matt Buffington (USDA) and Mattias Forshage (Swedish Museum of Natural  

 History), funded by SABI for Electronic Identification Key Development, 4–25 May 2012.

• Simon van Noort presented public lectures on wasps to WESSA Somerset West Branch, 16 May 2012; and Friends of  

 the Iziko SA Museum, 29 May 2012.

• Contributions to the CTCC Museum Youth Training Programme 2012: Simon van Noort gave a lecture on wasps,  

 16 May; Dawn Larsen and Aisha Mayekiso provided practical training on insect pinning methods, 17 May; Denise  

 Hamerton presented a lecture on basic museology for natural history collections, 17 May; Erika Mias presented  

 a lecture on digital collections management, 17 May; Eugene Bergh gave a lecture on research in Invertebrate  

 Palaeontology, 16 May, and did an exercise with them on collections management in Invertebrate Palaeontology,  

 17 May; Derek Ohland presented a talk on exhibitions and the curation of marine mammals, 17 May; and George  

 Esau, Vincent Bartnick and Eddy Mutambayi gave a two-day workshop in taxidermy skills, 24 and 28 May.

• Roger Smith conducted a fossil excursion for Friends of the Iziko SA Museum to Beaufort West (Lemoensfontein),  

 20–27 May 2012.

• Eugene Bergh presented a seminar on his research at ISAM, 30 May 2012.

• Wayne Florence, Simon van Noort and Hamish Robertson gave talks on digitisation of collections at Biodiversity  

 Information Management Forum (BIMF), Kirstenbosch, 12–13 June 2012.

• Roger Smith presented 10 lectures and 2 practicals on ‘Fossils as Geological Tools’ to UCT first-year Geology  

 students, 23 July to 3 August 2012.

• Simon van Noort presented a public lecture on wasps to third-year BSc Conservation Biology students from  

 University of Stellenbosch, 2 August 2012.

• Romala Govender, Thalassa Mathews, Eugene Bergh and Roger Smith presented talks at the Palaeontological  

 Society of Southern Africa Biennial Conference 2012 at UCT, 5–8 September 2012.

• Graham Avery (Honorary Associate) gave a talk, and co-presented another, at the Southern African Quaternary  

 Association (SASQUA) conference at the Gobabeb Research Centre, Namibia, 13–17 September 2012.

• Dawn Larsen, Aisha Mayekiso and Norman Larsen (Associate) presented a public display of entomology specimens  

 and live spiders at Vangate Mall, Athlone, as part of an Iziko brand promotion initiative, 15 September 2012.

• Margaret Avery (Emeritus Associate) participated and represented the International Quaternary Association  

 (INQUA) at the Western African Quaternary Research Association biennial meeting in Accra, Ghana, 8 October 2012.

• Roger Smith presented a research seminar to the UCT Archaeology Department on the Sedimentology and  

 Taphonomy of the Early Pliocene Sivathere Bonebed at Langebaanweg, 20 October 2012.

• Roger Smith presented a lecture to the Friends of the Iziko SA Museum entitled ‘In search of dinosaur breeding  

 grounds in Patagonia’, 28 August 2012; and to Iziko staff on 31 October 2012.

• Roger Smith presented a lecture on continental drift and evolution, and conducted a tour of the Stone Bones  

 exhibition to Bishops Grade 10 learners, 19 October 2012; and Swellendam High Grade 10 learners, 31 October 2012.
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• Roger Smith gave a lecture to Rotary Gardens on ‘Reading the Rocks of the Cape Peninsula’, 6 November 2012.

• Denise Hamerton was a panel member for the Iziko Summer School 2013 discussion on The King’s Map,   

 12 February 2013.

• Dawn Larsen and Norman Larsen (Associate) presented a public display of Entomology specimens and live spiders  

 at the SANBI Biodiversity Careers Day at Kirstenbosch, 15 March 2013.

• Shallin Abraham presented a seminar to Iziko staff entitled, ‘Data Loggers at the front line: The endless battle to  

 preserve heritage objects’, 27 March 2013.

Art Collections

• Hayden Proud gave a lecture on the art of Johannes Vermeer at Rondebosch Boys’ High School, 25 April 2012; and  

 a tour of the Iziko Michaelis Collection, 12 May 2012.

• Hayden Proud attended a teachers’ workshop on the theme of the representation of children and childhood  

 in 17th-century Dutch art, with special reference to the Iziko Michaelis Collection at the Iziko Old Town House,  

 12 April 2012. The workshop was a part of an educational focus on this theme, supported by the Friends of the  

 Michaelis Collection, the Frank Joubert Art Centre and the Ibhabhathane Project.

• Hayden Proud conducted a two-day training session for 31 attendees on curatorship in the art museum as part  

 of a 10-day Iziko programme on museology for unemployed youth, funded by the Cape Town City Council,   

 22–23 May 2012.

• Andrea Lewis presented a talk on ’Prints and Drawings’, as part of the Youth Museum Training Programme,  

 22 May 2012.

• Hayden Proud presented a lecture on representations of domestic interiors in 17th-century Dutch paintings as  

 a promotional initiative for the Iziko Michaelis Collection to the Somerset West Decorative Arts Society (DARTS),  

 25 June 2012.

• Caribbean-American Professor Tony Bogues and Haitian artist Edouard Duval Carrie gave a public talk entitled ’Art  

 from Haiti’ at the ISANG Annexe, 31 July 2012.

• Riason Naidoo, Andrea Lewis, Robyn-Leigh Cedras and Hayden Proud attended the FNB Johannesburg Art Fair  

 at the Sandton Convention Centre and advised the Friends of SANG in terms of their booth at the Fair, which was  

 based on a selection of artworks purchased by the Friends, 6–9 September 2012.

• Riason Naidoo participated in a public conversation with Peter Clarke at the Dak’art biennale (Dakar, Senegal)  

 symposium, May 2012.

• Riason Naidoo gave a presentation on the 1910–2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective exhibition at the Dak’art  

 biennale symposium, May 2012.

• Uncontained: Opening the CAP archive Iziko Summer School 2013 panel discussion, featuring among others, Vuyile  

 Voyiya, Emile Maurice and Heidi Grunebaum, ISANG, 16 February 2013.

•  Conversation with Thierry Raspail and Gunnar B Kvaran from the Lyon Biennale, in conjunction with the   

Rendez-Vous 12 exhibition from Lyon, held at ISANG, 19 March 2013 .

Education

EPP staff presented and participated in 20 workshops and conferences, ranging in art, history, science, sport and 

memories, heritage, astronomy, cultural astronomy, technology, education and museums. These were attended as 

part of EPP’s professional development, to share and learn from a community of museum practitioners. 

• Lisa Combrink participated in a seminar, “Eish is it English?”, UCT 16 April 2012.

• Wayne Alexander and EPP staff participated in a seminar focusing on ‘Latest Research in Museums and Heritage’,  

 MTN Science Centre, 23 April 2012.



• Annette Loubser presented at the Museums Youth Training: ‘Introduction to Museums’ and ‘What is Museum  

 Education?’, at Iziko, 8 May 2012.

• Wayne Alexander presented at the Museums Youth Training: ‘Museum Outcomes’, 8 May 2012.

• Theo Ferreira and Elsabe Uys (Planetarium) participated in a World Wide Telescope Course at the South African  

 Astronomical Observatory, 18–19 May 2012.

• Lisa Combrink presented at the Museums Youth Training: ‘Engaging teachers at Iziko’, 25 May 2012.

• Lindinxiwa Mahlasela presented at the Museums Youth Training: ‘Museums: Heritage and History’, 25 May 2012.

• Wayne Alexander presented to CATHSSETA graduates: ‘An overview of Museums’, 2 July 2012.

• Annette Loubser presented to CATHSSETA graduates: ‘What is Museum Education?’, 3 July 2012.

•  Wayne Alexander presented at the Physical Science Teachers Programme, South District: ‘Museums and   

Education’, 6 July 2012.

• Theo Ferreira participated in the ‘Astronomy Town Planning’ and SAASTA Conference in Pretoria, 8–9 July 2012.

• Sthembele Harmans presented at the Tsomo Heritage Conference in the Eastern Cape: ‘What is Heritage?’,  

 22 September 2012.

• Wayne Alexander presented at the School Sport event, Sport and Memories, 26 October 2012.

• Wayne Alexander participated in the SETA Skills Symposium at the CTICC, 5 November 2012.

• Wayne Alexander presented at the ICMAH/COMCOL Conference at Iziko, 7 November 2012.

• Wayne Alexander participated in the National Skills Consultative Workshop at the River Club, Observatory,  

 21 November 2012.

• Lindinxiwa Mahlasela participated in the ’Slavery, Words of Slaves and African Tale of the Mother City’ workshop,  

 Cape Town, 23 February 2013.

• Annette Loubser, Wandile Kasibe, Lindinxiwa Mahlasela and Wayne Alexander participated in a Collections Policy  

 Workshop, Iziko, 5 March 2012.

• Annette Loubser participated in a Social Media Workshop, Iziko, 19 March 2013.

• Lindinxiwa Mahlasela participated in a Disability Workshop, Cape Town, 26 March 2013.

Iziko Entomology’s Aisha Mayekiso on outreach with entomology specimens 
at the Vangate Mall shopping centre, Athlone, on 15 September 2012.

Iziko’s Associate Arachnologist, Norman 
Larsen’s live spiders had onlookers at 
Vangate Mall enthralled.
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Director Social History Collections, Lalou Meltzer, shows off 
some of Iziko’s numismatics collection to a young Heritage 
Day 2012 visitor at the Iziko Slave Lodge.

Samples of Da Gama Textiles shweshwe fabric for the 2012 
season, from the The isishweshwe story: material women? 
exhibition, Iziko Slave Lodge.

6.6 Acquisitions (key presentations/ bequests and donations to collections)
Social History

Donations

• Shweshwe acquisitions, first phase (107 items). A fascinating research collection put together over several years  

 by Dr Juliette Leeb-du Toit, with the aid of NRF funding. Dr Leeb-du Toit has presented (donated) the bulk of  

 her collection to Iziko Social History Collections. We have received 107 shweshwe costume items to date. The  

 donation will continue in further phases. The collection tells the story of the historical development and use of  

 isishweshwe in South Africa. Most of the clothing consists of isishweshwe women’s clothing, such as traditional  

 dresses and skirts, aprons, accessories, trousers and couture costume. These are supplemented by German  

 women’s clothing, revealing the German origins of isishweshwe, two SA isishweshwe quilts, and sales swatches  

 from various companies depicting various isishweshwe designs. The collection will become a valuable display and  

 research resource and is accompanied by an extensive collection of images that depict the use of isishweshwe in  

 many different settings in South and southern Africa.

•  Photographs of Bo-Kaap/ Cape Town, 1950s (5). Photographer: Albert William Watson known as an artist   

under the name of Yates Wilson. Depicting a wedding in Bo-Kaap (3); fruit and vegetable vendor in Cape Town; and  

a woman stepping off a wagon, probably Cape Town.

• Snakebite kit (South African Institute for Medical Research) dated 1940, complete with tourniquet, syringe and  

 information leaflet. 

•  Soup plate made of Woodstock glass. Although part of the edge is broken, it can be repaired and it is deemed 

worthy of accession because of its scarcity and local manufacture.

• Blue glass bowl by Shirley Cloete (1921-2010), Somerset West. Signed ‘Shirley Cloete’. Studio art glass. Date  

  unknown. Two other works by the artist are in the collection. Cloete was the pioneer of the South African Studio 

Glass Movement. This piece assists in documenting the stylistic variety of her work.

• Two small pots, ovoid with short necks, pit-fired and burnished. Contemporary production by Genadendal Pottery,  

  in the style of Khoekhoen pots. Received as a gift for conservation advice provided by Fatima February   

and Janene van Wyk during the 2011/2012 National Audit project.



• Stockholm Water Prize awarded to Professor Kader Asmal (1934–2011), Minister of Water Affairs and Forestry  

 in the post-apartheid SA government (1994–1998). Awarded in 2000, in recognition of his Working For Water and  

 other water conservation programmes. This is the most prestigious of world water awards and presented by the  

 Stockholm International Water Institute. Made of Orrefors glass and silver. Louise Asmal, his widow, August 2012. 

• Bowl papier-mâché covered in blue and white isishweshwe, made by Wola Nani.

• Apron, orange shweshwe; mens shirt red shweshwe; tote bag Three Cats isishweshwe. Da Gama Textiles.

• Shweshwe donation: 29 items of dress, accessories, cloth fragments, and dolls made of amajamane/ amajerimane/  

 isishweshwe, as well as items of modern blueprint/ blaudruck which derive from the countries of origin of   

 blueprint. Dr Juliette Leeb-du Toit.

• Embroidered ‘chapter’ by Outa Lappies, 1990s. Marilyn Martin.

•  Items made by Outa Lappies: 3 patchwork quilts; a coat; a wire karretjie; and two tin metal cut-outs of hands,  

c. 1990s. Iain Campbell, Cape Town. 

• Tibetan hand-woven apron, 20th century. Dr Patricia Davison.

• Large framed oil painting on board, depicting ceramics by Darling artist Nicolaas Maritz. Mediator: Dr Patricia  

 Davison. Donation: Artist.

• Collection assembled over many years mainly in Java, Indonesia, probably first part of 20th century, 27 items:  

 Indonesian carved tables; sideboard; carved Indonesian bust; mask; figurines including of Garuda, porcelain, silver  

 Dutch/Indonesian items; Javanese puppet. Dr R de Kruyff, now 92 years old, who came to SA in 1953.

•  Drostdy Ware vase and beer mug with depictions, probably from a George Stow drawing, of San rock art in the 

Free State. Dr Patricia Davison.

• Water on Table Mountain collection, 8 items: Measuring bucket used to measure the flow of water from the springs  

 into the collecting chamber in Oranjezicht; photograph of Terence Timoney with the bucket at the intake chamber;  

 the collecting point of all the springs in Oranjezicht (original returned, scan made); clay pipes used for water  

 reticulation in early Cape Town, possibly found on the Foreshore/ Grand Parade area, quite brittle; wooden pipe,  

 possibly unearthed on the old Foreshore near to the Castle; possibly a portion of an example of an early reservoir  

 water level height recorder; early copper rain gauge measuring containers; nails in use in early Cape Town; cast  

 iron cover for a valve control point for salt water. Donor: Paul Timoney. Timoney’s late father, Terence, worked for  

 the Waterworks Department of the city of Cape Town, and was involved in setting up the museum near the dams  

 on top of Table Mountain.

• 3 small Lucky Bean Farm Pottery relief tiles. Made at the Lucky Bean Farm Pottery (1974– c. 1983), KwaZulu- 

 Natal. Dr Patricia Davison.

• 3 ceramic vessels made by Biddy Lees in the 1990s. Mediator: Kalk Bay Modern. Donor: V Cohen.

• Whaling equipment, early 20th century and whale product containers, 1990s. Dr Peter Best.

Purchases

• Outfit (skirt and top) of brown isishweswhe cloth made by a Malian dressmaker in Cape Town. 

• Outfit from Touba Broidery, a Malawian group. 

• Pair of Amanda Laird Cherry shoes covered with isishweshwe. 

• Mens isishweshwe necktie. 

• 5 papier-mâché bowls covered in isishweshwe. 

• Pair of plates in Arita style. Artist: Ellalou O’Meara. 

• Earthenware vessel by contemporary ceramisist, Laura du Toit. A word-wrapped pot. 

• Early 20th century Mangbetu woven hood, DRC.  

• 5 Hamburger pottery items (1950–1970), in two lots.  

•  A set of 3 dishes by Madoda Fani; 3 sushi-shaped stoneware dishes of various sizes. From Banqueting Hall exhibition. 
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• Boat-shaped vessel or sauce boat by John Newdigate. Oval-shaped vessel on a moulded stand. The top of the  

 vessel is hand-painted in cobalt blue. The stand is made up of moulded putti. The work is an acknowledgement of  

 the contribution made by slaves at the Cape. From Banqueting Hall exhibition. 

• Teapot by Theo Ndoda Ntuntwana. Slip-cast lidded teapot painted in bright underglaze colours. From Banqueting  

 Hall exhibition. 

• Table setting by Andile Dyalvane. Wheel-thrown table setting comprising dinner plate, side plate and dessert bowl.  

 Titled ‘Misty City Skyline’. From Banqueting Hall exhibition.

• Vase and bowl by Christo Giles. Wheel-thrown facetted vase with bluish glaze (Chinese Song dynasty qingbai type  

 glaze); and bowl with oxblood red glaze. From Banqueting Hall exhibition. 

•  2 hand-built earthenware jugs with beak-shaped spouts and handles, decorated in vertical blue stripe. By   

Hennie Meyer. From Banqueting Hall exhibition. 

• 3 vessels: cream bowl, fluted glazed bowl, crackled ware by Thelma Marcusson. From Rudd’s. 

• Beadwork set (consisting necklet with love letters and beaded bandolier) worn as part of the costume of a member  

 of the Swazi amabutho (king’s regiment). Made by Stephen Long in the style of the above. 

Presentations/ Sponsorships

• Octagonal porcelain plaque, painted in gold lustre by Esias Bosch, 1970s. Purchased with generous funding from  

 the Rowland and Leta Hill Trust. Rudds Auction, 7 November 2012.

• Bequest of the estate of MRl Roddy: 2 watercolours by Thomas Bowler (1812–1869). View of the Salt River and  

 the other probably of False Bay from Simon’s Town.

Natural History Collections

Donations

• Cartilaginous fish collection, Leonard Compagno. A large collection of 51 shelves of ethanol-preserved bottled  

 smaller specimens (each shelf 1.15 x 0.61 m), 66 drums of ethanol-preserved larger specimens, and one tank of  

 very large material. This material has been housed in ISAM since 1989 and is now officially donated to Iziko.

• Peter Flack trophy collection. The collection consists of over 130 full mounts, and over 70 shoulder, pedestal, floor  

 and skull mounts mainly of African mammals, and a few exotic specimens. Received 21–22 September 2012. 

Research-driven Acquisitions

Other than the major donations above, almost all Natural History acquisitions are derived from research, either 

undertaken by our curators, or from donated voucher specimens from external research projects. During this past year, 

growth of collections through research has been particularly significant for Entomology and Karoo Palaeontology. 

Art Collections

Donations

• Andrew Putter. Native Lives. (2010) Diptych 390 mm x 564 mm; each work of diptych is 390 mm x 282 mm,  

 archival pigment ink on cotton rag paper. Edition of 5 + 2 AP, photo by Tony Meintjes. Donated by Mark Coetzee.

• Nandipha Mntambo. Green Hump. (2012) Etching (42 cm x 35 cm). Edition of 8. Donated by Mark Coetzee.

• Nandipha Mntambo. Red Hump. (2012) Etching (35 cm x 42 cm). Edition of 7 + 1AP. Donated by Mark Coetzee.

• Nandipha Mntambo. Study I. (2012) Etching (39 cm x 43 cm). Edition of 12 + 2AP. Donated by Mark Coetzee.

• Nandipha Mntambo. Study II. (2012) Etching (42 cm x 33.5 cm). Edition of 12 + 2AP. Donated by Mark Coetzee.

• Jean Brundrit. Making History (Voortrekkernooientjies): Dit is slegs deur hul onwrikbare geloof dat hulle sal  

 oorwin. (AP 2003).

• Jean Brundrit. Making History (Voortrekkernooientjies): Hulle moet saamwerk om die daaglikse take uit te voer. (AP 2003).



Purchases

None

Significant Presentations/ Donations  

• Rowland and Leta Hill Trust. Octagonal porcelain plaque, painted in gold lustre by Esias Bosch, 1970s. November 2012.

• Juliette Leeb-du Toit: Donation of isishweshwe cloth collection, accumulated over a 20-year period. May and  

 November 2012. 

• Peter Hamilton Flack. Donation of a substantial collection of mainly mounted mammal specimens. These   

 specimens were collected by him over a period of about 30 years. The collection, consisting of over 130 full  

 mounts and over 70 shoulder, pedestal, floor and skull mounts, mainly of African mammals and a few exotic  

 specimens, was delivered to the Iziko South African Museum in September 2012. 

6.7 Peer-reviewed Publications
Social History Collections

• Sharfman J, Boshoff J & Parthesius R. ‘Maritime and Underwater Cultural Heritage in South Africa: The   

 development of relevant management strategies in the historical maritime context of the southern tip of Africa’,  

 Journal of Maritime Archaeology, 2012 (online).

•  Boshoff J, 2013. Maritime archaeology in South Africa. Encyclopedia of Global Archaeology, Springer.  

http://refworks.springer.com/mrw/index.php?id=2499

• Davison P. ’Limitations of Labels: interpreting Rock Art at the South African Museum’, Journal of Museum  

 Ethnography, no. 25 (2012).

•  Davison P and Mahashe G, ‘Visualizing the Realm of the Rain-Queen: The production and circulation of   

Eileen and Jack Krige’s Lobedu Fieldwork Photographs from the 1930s’, Kronos 38, November 2012, pp. 47-81.

Natural History Collections

• Avery g. 2011. Holocene avian remains, human behaviour and seasonality on the South African coast. In: Jousse H  

 and Lesur J. (eds). People and Animals in Holocene Africa. Recent Advances in Archaeozoology. Reports in African  

 Archaeology 2: 110-122.

Friends of the South African National Gallery sponsorship. Two contemporary artworks in 
glass beads and textile by artist Tamlin Blake, entitled Standard Mail traditional Xhosa design 
(2004) (left) and 1st Airmail Issue 3d ultramarine blue stamp 1925 (2004) (right).
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•  Buffington ML, Van Noort S. 2012. A revision of Afrotropical Oberthuerellinae (Hymenoptera: Liopteridae). 

Zookeys 202: 1–154.

• Cruaud A, Rønsted N, Chantarasuwan B, Chou LS, Clement WL, Couloux A, Cousins B, Genson G, Harrison RD,  

  Hanson PE, Hossaert-Mckey M, Jabbour-Zahab R, Jousselin E, Kerdelhué C, Kjellberg F, Lopez-Vaamonde C, 

Peebles J, Peng YQ, Augusto R, Pereira S, Schramm T, Ubaidillah R, Van Noort S, Weiblen GD, Yang DR,   

Yodpinyanee A, Libeskind-Hadas R, Cook JM, Rasplus JY, Savolainen V. 2012. An extreme case of plant-insect co- 

diversification: figs and fig-pollinating wasps. Systematic Biology 6: 1029-1047. doi: 101093/sysbio/sys068.

• Fosse P, Avery g, Selva N, Smietana W, Okarma H, Wajrak A, Fourvel J, Madelaine S. 2011. Taphonomie comparée  

 des os longs d’ongulés dévorés par les grands prédateurs modernes d’Europe et d’Afrique (C. lupus, P. brunnea).  

  In: Brugal J-P, Gardeisen A and Zucker A. (Eds). Prédateurs dans tous leurs états évolution, biodiversité,   

interactions, mythes, symboles. Rencontres internationales d’archéologie et d’histoire d’Antibes XXXI: 127-156.

• Gaigher R, Samways MJ, Van Noort S. 2013. Saving a tropical ecosystem from a destructive ant-scale (Pheidole  

 megacephala, Pulvinaria urbicola) mutualism with support from a diverse natural enemy complex. Biological  

 Invasions http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10530-013-0437-8.

• govender R, Chinsamy A, Ackermann RR. 2012. Anatomical and landmark morphometric analysis of fossil phocid  

 seal remains from Langebaanweg, West Coast of South Africa. Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa,  

 67(3): 135-149.

• Heraty JM, Burks RD, Cruaud A, Gibson GAP, Liljeblad J, Munro J, Rasplus J-Y, Delvare G, Janšta P, Gumovsky  

 A, Huber J, Woolley JB, Krogmann L, Heydon S, Polaszek A, Schmidt S, Darling DC, Gates M, Mottern J, Murray E,  

 Dal Molin A, Triapitsyn S, Baur H, Pinto JD, Van Noort S, George J, Yoder MA. 2013. A phylogenetic analysis of the  

 megadiverse Chalcidoidea (Hymenoptera). Cladistics doi: 10.1111/cla.12006

• Jauharlina J, Lindquist EE, Quinnell RJ, Robertson Hg, Compton SG. 2012. Fig wasps as vectors of mites and  

 nematodes. African Entomology 20(1): 101-110.

• Kennedy WJ, klinger HC. 2012. Cretaceous faunas from Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The ammonite genera  

 Mojsisovicsia Steinmann, 1881, Dipoloceroides Breistroffer, 1947, and Falloticeras Parona & Bonarelli, 1897. African  

 Natural History 8: 1–15.

• Kennedy WJ, klinger HC. 2012. Cretaceous faunas from Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The Santonian-  

 Campanian ammonite genus Eulophoceras Hyatt, 1903. African Natural History 8: 30–54.

Octagonal porcelain plaque, painted in gold lustre by Esias Bosch, 
1970s. Purchased with generous funding from the Rowland and Leta 
Hill Trust, and donated to the Iziko Social History Collections.

Blue glass bowl by Shirley Cloete (1921-2010) donated to the 
Iziko Social History Collections.



• Kennedy WJ, klinger HC. 2012. Cretaceous faunas from Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The desmoceratoid  

 ammonite genera Moretella Collignon, 1963, Beudanticeras Hitzel, 1902, and Aioloceras Whitehouse, 1926. African  

 Natural History 8: 55–75.

• McLeish MJ, Beukman G, Van Noort S, Wossler TC. 2012. Host-plant species conservatism and ecology of a  

 parasitoid fig wasp genus (Chalcidoidea; Sycoryctinae; Arachonia) in a forest patch of Uganda. PLoS ONE 7(9):  

 e44804doi:101371/journalpone0044804

• Van Noort S, Buffington ML. 2013. Revision of the Afrotropical Mayrellinae (Hymenoptera: Cynipoidea:   

 Liopteridae), with the first record of Paramblynotus from Madagascar. Journal of Hymenoptera Research 31: 1-64.  

 http://dx.doi.org/10.3897/JHR.31.4072.

Art Collections

• R Naidoo, ‘Conversation between Riason Naidoo and Tessa Jackson’ in Peter Clarke – Wind Blowing on the Cape  

 Flats, Institute of International Visual Arts (INIVA), London, January 2013.  

6.8 Other Research Publications, Brochures
Social History Collections

• Esmyol E, ‘Fired: an exhibition of South African ceramics’, National Ceramics, no. 101, Spring 2012. 

• Meltzer L, leader article in Cape Times, 19 September 2012,’Remembrance of things past’.

• Meltzer L, ‘Contemporary art and the Castle’s B Block’ in MTN New Contemporaries Award 2012 [catalogue] and  

 Meltzer L, ‘Contemporary art and Castle’s B Block’ in ‘Art Talk, vol 13 Issue 1, December 2012.

• Boshoff J, ‘Mystery objects from the Cape Town (South Africa) Waterfront’, AIMA (Australasian Institute for  

 Maritime Archaeology) Newsletter, vol 31, issue 2, June 2012.

• Esmyol E, ‘South African Ceramics: African Roots and Global Links’, HandEye magazine, January 2013.

Natural History Collections

None

Catalogues produced by Iziko Museums of South Africa: Umhlaba exhibition brochure and the Iqholo le Afrika: 
A centenary celebration of the life and work of Barbara Tyrrell catalogue; Rendez-Vous 12; and MTN New 
Contemporaries Award 2012 catalogues.
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Art Collections

• Hayden Proud wrote and assisted with the design and publication of a brochure on the Wings of the Shechinah:  

 The Sculptural Art of Herman Wald exhibition at the SA Jewish Museum.

• Educational component of Imagining Beauty exhibition, produced by Carol Kauffman. 

• Rendez-Vous 12 catalogue published by Iziko for the exhibition at ISANG. 

• Hayden Proud. 2012. “Intensities of emptiness in Gina Heyer’s ‘Order and Division’ series”, Order and Division,  

 Brundyn + Gonsalves catalogue no. 16, pp 4-7, August.

• Riason Naidoo. 2012. “Not by coincidence” in Dak’art 2012 – 10th biennale d’art africain contemporain, Dak’art no  

 10, pp 20-23, May 2012.

• Riason Naidoo. 2012. “Peter Clarke – ‘That is our artist, That is our poet’” in Dak’art 2012 – 10th biennale d’art  

 africain contemporain, Dak’art no 10, pp 122-127, May 2012.

• Hayden Proud collaborated with Nina Liebenberg, coordinator of the Honours programme in the drafting and   

 illustrating of the prospectus for BA Honours in Curatorship to be run in collaboration with Iziko Museums of South Africa.  

• Umhlaba exhibition brochure produced by Iziko Museums of South Africa, March 2013.  

6.9 Education and Public Programmes
EPP Brochures/ Worksheets/ Resource Packs

EPP produced 51 resources in the form of worksheets, lesson plans, activity sheets, and awareness material for 

schools and the public. Museums as sites of learning add value to classroom practice and offer the general public 

heritage awareness through its art, history, science, astronomy, and technology programmes; commemorative 

day celebrations; and Summer School programmes. All our school materials are aligned to the Department of 

Education’s curriculum, and address various topics and themes. 

• The 2013 Education Booklet

• Youth Museum training worksheets

• Freedom Day worksheet; June 16th worksheet



Art

• Searching for an African identity – visual art themes linked to the Barbara Tyrrell exhibition: Grade 10–12

• New Media worksheet – Linked to Community Punching Bags: Grade 10–12

• Candice Breitz worksheet: Grade 10–12

• Worksheets: Uncontained (FP); Uncontained (SP); Uncontained (FET)

• New Media worksheet on Rendez-Vous 12; Le Vaillant; Ernest Mancoba

• Heraldry-making, using Dialogues: Conversations between ’old’ and ’new’ exhibition. Grade 6; About Learning. FET;  

 Gallery Activity Sheet: How animals depicted in sculptures express ideas. Grade 6; The Kings’ Map, Exploring the  

  Company’s Garden; The King’s Map, Education Resource; MTN, Education Resource; Education, Education   

Learning Resource

• Sculpture and the Language of Art; Animals and People; Art Elements and Design

Natural History

• Rocks and Minerals: Grade 5–9; Geology of Table Mountain: Grade 6–9

• Fig Wasps, worksheets

• Natural History: People of SA – transcript of the Ethnographic Gallery; ISAM worksheet (Xhosa version); Evolution  

 worksheet, Grade 10; Classification of mammals, reptiles and birds – resource

• Natural History: Blombos Palette Worksheet; General Worksheet, Foundation Phase

Social History

• Rock Art (1): Grade 5; Rock Art (2): Grade 5; What is History?: Grade 5; What is Heritage?: Grade 10

• Slavery: Presenting Slavery; Crossword

• Social History Guide: Qe/ The Power of Rock Art; Evolution Tour; ISAM Anthropology Gallery

• Indigenous People at the Castle: A Lesson Plan and Worksheet; Frontier Wars: A Lesson Plan; Rock Art: The  

 Blombos Cave Objects; Le Vaillant, educational activity sheet; A review of African Tale exhibition

• An African Tale of the Mother City (1–4); Frontier War Worksheets updated

• Human Rights Worksheet

Fossils collected during Dr Roger Smith’s 
2012/2013 fieldtrip to southern Zambia 
and southeastern Tanzania.

A collaborative Mandela Day 2012 programme with Iziko Education and Public Programmes 
at Blikkiesdorp in Delft.
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Planetarium Posters/ Worksheets/ Booklets/ Resource Material/ Shows

The planetarium staff produced 73 resources in the form of Sky Maps, lesson plans, holiday activity sheets, 

worksheets and  posters. These resources are linked to the planetarium shows, science curriculum – dealing with the 

theme, earth and beyond – and the monthly positions of constellations of planets.

 

• Sky Map: April 2012–March 2013 (monthly)

• Lesson Plans: Davy Dragon and the Planets; Guinea Minnie and the Piece of Sky; Michael Lion and the Star  

 Pictures; Morris Mouse; Tick Tock the Mouse and the Clock; Starbike; Journey to the Stars; 15 Billion BC

• Holiday Fun Sheet: Davy and the Dinosaur

• School Fact Sheet: Xhosa translation of 15 Billion BC

• Holiday Programme: Star Wheel worksheet and material

• Public Show Information Brochures: August 2012–March 2013; April 2013–September 2013 

• Worksheets, reprints: Davy Dragon and the Planets; Dawie Draak en die Planete; Davy Dragon and the Planets –  

 Xhosa; Guinea Minnie & the Piece of Sky; Guinea Minnie & the Piece of Sky – Xhosa; Tobie Tarentaal & die Stukkie  

 Lug; Starbike – Xhosa; Journey to the Stars; Reis na die Sterre; 15 Billion BC; 15 Miljard VC; Davy Dragon’s Guide to  

 the Night Sky; Davy and the Dinosaur; Davy Dragon goes to the Moon; Silly Solly and the Shooting Stars; Sunshine  

 Simon and the dark day

• Worksheet: Morris and the MeerKAT

• Children’s Sky Map reprints: Summer; Winter; Spring; Autumn

• Posters: Silly Solly; Davy and the Dinosaur; Morris Mouse; Sunshine Simon; Davy Dragon goes to the Moon; Cape  

 of Stars; Hubble Vision; Endless Horizon; Cosmic Egg; Oceans in Space; Do the Stars Influence your Life?; 2012: the  

 end or the beginning?; 15 Billion BC; Star Wheel Children’s Workshop; Starfinder Course; Davy Dragon’s Guide to  

 the Night Sky

• Inserts in Jelly Bean Journal (42): Davy Dragon’s Guide to the Night Sky

• Script: Morris and the MeerKAT Children’s Show 

• Fun sheet: Morris and the MeerKAT

• School handout worksheets: Morris Mouse; Tick Tock the Mouse & the Clock; Michael Lion & the Star Pictures

• School fact sheet: What happened to Pluto?; Wat het met Pluto gebeur?; Kwenzeka ntoni ku Pluto?

Storyteller, Jose M de Prada-Samper, on a 
storytelling walkabout of the Iziko South African 
Museum on Heritage Day 2012.

The Iziko Mobile Museum on outreach at the community 
of Blikkiesdorp in Delft on Mandela Day 2012.



6.10  Materiality and Significance Framework for the 2012/2013 Financial Year
Definitions and standards

• Audited financial statements: 2010/2011 (AFS)

• Approved annual budget: 2011/2012 (AAB)

• Approved strategic plan: 2012/2013 to 2016/2017 (ASP)

• Event: An activity that has the elements of income and expenditure

• Trading venture: An activity that has the elements of buying and selling of products and/or services

• Total income: Total income excluding the income from events and trading ventures

• Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding events and trading venture expenditure

1. Applicable sections of the PFMA

• Section 50(1)

• Section 54(2)

• Section 55(2)

• Section 66(1)

2. Treasury regulation 

• 28.1.5

3. Framework       

4.1 SECTION 50: FIDUCIARy DUTIES 
OF ACCOUNTINg AUTHORITy

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(1) Accounting authority must-
 
(c) on request, disclose to the Executive Authority 
responsible, all material facts which in any way may 
influence the decisions or actions of the Executive 
Authority

 
 
(a) Any unbudgeted 
transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the 
total value of assets per AFS

(b) Any budgeted event 
where income is a legitimate 
expectation where the actual 
income is less than 5% of 
the total expenditure

(c) Any trading venture 
where income is exceeded 
by expenditure by more than 
0,5% of income

(d) Total actual income is less 
than budgeted income by 
more than 0,5% of budgeted 
income

(e) Total actual expenditure 
is more than budgeted 
income by more than 0,2% 
of budgeted expenditure

 
 
(a) Any unplanned event that affects the 
core purpose or mandate of the entity 
per the ASP

(b) Any activity that is outside the 
parameters of each public entity’s 
enabling legislation
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4.2 SECTION 54: INFORMATION 
TO BE SUBMITTED By THE 
ACCOUNTINg AUTHORITy

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(2) before a public entity concludes any of the 
following transactions, the Accounting Authority 
for the entity must promptly and in writing inform 
the relevant Treasury of the transaction and 
submit relevant particulars of the transaction to its 
Executive Authority for approval of the transaction:

(b) participation in a significant partnership, 
trust, unincorporated joint venture or similar 
arrangement

(c) acquisition or disposal of a significant 
shareholding in a company

(d) acquisition or disposal of a significant asset

(e) commencement or cessation of a
significant business activity

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A

N/A

Any transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the 
total value of assets per AFS

Any transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the 
total value of assets per AFS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Any unplanned event per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or mandate 
of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or mandate 
of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or mandate 
of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP that 
may affect the core purpose or mandate 
of the entity

 4.3 SECTION 55: ANNUAL REPORT AND 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

(2) the annual report and financial statements must:

(b) include particulars of:

(i) any material losses through criminal conduct and,

any irregular expenditure and fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure that occurred during the year

(iii) any losses recovered or written off

 
 
 
(a) Any loss of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the 
total value of assets per AFS

(b) Any loss of a National 
Estate as defined in section 
3 of the National Heritage 
Resources Act, 1999 (Act No. 
25 of 1999)

All

All

 
 
 
 
Any unplanned loss per the ASP that may 
affect the core purpose or mandate of 
the entity

All

All

4.4 SECTION 66: RESTRICTIONS 
ON BORROWINg, gUARANTEES 

AND OTHER COMMITMENTS
VALUE (QUANTITATIVE) NATURE OF EVENT (QUALITATIVE)

Iziko Museums may not enter into any financial 
commitment beyond its approved budgets and its 
accumulated reserves

N/A N/A
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For the full list of Iziko’s valued partners, please see Appendices 6.2 Donors and 6.3 Partners on pages 130–137.



Abbreviations/ Acronyms
ABET Adult Basic Education and Training 

AC Art Collections (department) 

AFS Annual Financial Statements 

A-G Auditor-General 

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa 

ASAPA Association of Southern African Professional Archaeologists 

ASP Approved Strategic plan 

AVE Advertising Value Equivalent 

CAPS Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement 

CATHSSETA Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport 

Sector Education & Training Authority 

CCMA Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and Arbitration 

CCTV Closed Circuit Television 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CFO Chief Financial Officer 

COPART Connecting our planet and re-imagining together 

CPUT Cape Peninsula University of Technology 

CRM Cultural Resource Management 

CSM Customer Services Management (department) 

DAC Department of Arts and culture 

DCAS Department of Cultural Affairs and Sport 

DoE Department of Education 

DPW Department of Public Works 

DST Department of Science and Technology 

EECF Employment Equity Consultative Forum 

EPP Education and Public Programmes (department) 

Exco Executive Management Committee 

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

GIPCA Gordon Institute for Performing & Creative Arts 

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

HTML Hypertext Markup Language 

HR Human Resources (department) 

IA Institutional Advancement (department) 

IAS International Accounting Standard 

IBH Iziko Bertram House 

IBKM Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum 

ICOM-SA International Council of Museums, South Africa 

IKdW Iziko Koopmans-de Wet House  

IKS Indigenous Knowledge Systems 

IMC Iziko Maritime Centre

IMM Iziko Mobile Museum 

IOTH Iziko Michaelis Collection at the Old Town House 

IR&V Iziko Rust en Vreugd 

ISAM Iziko South African Museum 

ISANG Iziko South African National Gallery

ISHC Iziko Social History Centre 

ISL Iziko Slave Lodge

IT Information Technology 

IWFC Iziko William Fehr Collection 

KZN Kwa-Zulu Natal

MAP Meaningful Access Programme 

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework 

NH Natural History 

NHC National Heritage Council 

NHC Natural History Collections (department) 

NLDTF National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund 

NRF National Research Foundation 

NSF National Science Foundation 

OBIS Ocean Biogeographic Information Systems 

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety 

PAA Public Audit Act 

PFMA Public Finance Management Act 

PPPFA Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act 

POS Point of Sale 

SAAO South African Astronomical Observatory 

SAASTA South African Agency for Science and Technology 

Advancement 

SAASTEC South African Association of Science and Technology 

Centres 

SAIAB South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 

SABIF South African Biodiversity Information Facility 

SAHRA South African Heritage Resources Agency 

SAMA South African Museums Association 

SANBI South African Biodiversity Institute 

SCM Supply Chain Management 

SDA Skills Development Act 

SFI Southern Flagship Institution 

SH Social History 

SHC Social History Collections (department) 

SITA State Information Technology Agency 

SMAC Stellenbosch Modern and Contemporary Art Gallery 

SMT Senior Management Team

UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund 

UCT University of Cape Town 

UWC University of the Western Cape 

VOIP Voice Over Internet Protocol

WCA Workmen’s Compensation Assurance 

WCED Western Cape Education Department 

WILS Work Integrated Learning Student
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